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For more than 20 years, the people of LCC have helped to invent the wireless industry,
contributing countless innovations in engineering technology, deployment, operations
and business methodology to enable the wireless networks that have changed the face

of communication.

During our 20 year history, everything has changed.

The wirelass industry has become global in its scope and ambitions. LCC has grown to serve

it. Today our work force unites people from more than 50 nations, working together on

every continent worldwide except Antarctica. We are truly as diverse as the world we serve.

The wireless industry has changed the way it designs and implements its infrastructure,
looking for simpler and more effective strategies. LCC has introduced new approaches to
daing business, with turnkey solutions that deliver design, deployment and optimization
services on schedule, on budget using the highest quality (150 9001:2000), safety and risk

management standards.

The wireless industry has continually incorporated new technologies to enhance the services
it provides its customers. LCC has contributed to all of them. Today, in one way or another, our

people have helped bring to market virtually every commercially available access technology.

During our 20 vear history, hothing has changed.

The wireless industry still needs unvarnished engineering assessments and advice.
LCC remains independent of any specific vendors or technologies. Every solution

we engineer is completely dedicated to ensuring your network is delivering the greatest
possible performance at the most beneficial cost.

The wireless industry still needs creative problem solvers, grounded in experience but
aspiring to develop new solutions, well versed in all of the essential details of infrastructure
equipment from manufactures the world over. LCC offers one of the largest, deepest
teams of brilliant, committed, determined engineering, deployment, operational and

business professionals in the wireless world.

They are

of
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LCC excelsin solving
tough wireless problems.

We are passionate about even
the most remote aspect of wireless.

2 TECHNOLOGY & BUSINESS CONSULTING GROUP
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as told by Dexter Leg?

natlight InnmaIQ[s nAdion

hole LCC Senior Princple Engineer, In-Building Services  tocaton United States

- MobileAccess Networks engaged LCC to ensure their con-
verged wireless enterprise networks delivered high quality

service within buildings and campuses, and integrated

seamlessly with commercial wireless service providers, As

the manager of LCC’s Broaaband Wireless and In-Buildling
Services, Dexter Lee was responsible for meeting
MobileAccess Networks' design and optimization require-
ments, irrespective of the fact that the services

and equipment were new and relatively unproven,

"[lke the challenge of in-buikding work. 15 one of the
newest wireless frontiers and one of the fastest growing
areas that sevice providers and vendors are pursing.

* ot pictured

"With an emerging application like in-bulding, you really
have to choose your partners carefully. MobleAccess
Networks chose LCC because of our reputation for provid-
g the most technologically advenced, costeffecive.
and appropriate soluton to our customers, even for

an emerging senvice with a short history such as in-oulcing,
As with other emerqing wireless markets, we've been able
to draw Upon our past experiences with macio networs,
anply the sometime theoretical specifcations of the

new echnology and provide an effective solution. Another
unique differential for LCC' in-building offering is that
we offer increcible lexoiity and scalabity, a5 wellas

a high level of mobility through our professional saff



"o we see , there are three key pieces involvedtin provid- — probably not designed for enough antennas to provide the
ing senicesto our customers. Fist we make apointto coverage that was realyrequired. Because we'd done the
communicate with all the sake holders in order to thor- ste Survey, however, we were able to identify and measure
oughly understand the speciic requirements for the partic- -~ exactly howw the antennas would perform in the real envi
Uar site being desiqned. Next, we actually go to the faciity — ronment with althe books and shehing, and demonstrate
and do a site survey, and then sfucly the specic nuances  that the original design we had been given did not meet
and conaftions of buldings that may or may not show up  requirements. W were able to show that the Survey i

ina floor plan or ather information we've been provided.  a criical piece in demonstrating the validity of the design

- Lastly, of course, we do the actual design for the site. | | |
"That's the kind of commitment we have to meeting

"The value of doing & site survey was clarly lustrated ~ our customer's needs. It s part of our corporate culture
by one of the projects we worked on for MobileAccess 1o not only make sure our customers' projects SUcceed
Networks, the American University in-bulding project, — but to make Sure our customers” expectations are
which invalved a fairl large campus-wide design. The floor ~ surpassed. Qur professional staffis probably the best
plan of the brary Showed the walk, columns and support — in the industry: we have a very broad and diverse
structures, but the actual bookshelves were absent from — background and are able o come together collboratively
that drawing. Had we gone bindly into the RF design using a5 a team to provide the appropriate creative and

only the floor plan, we would have run into difficultes and  innovative solutions for our customess.”




Analyzing networks and putting forth

recommendations that both
increase quality and drive profitability

This is what we do best.

4 DESIGN & OPTIMIZATION GROLP




From its inception, LCC has been asked by clients to solve engineering, deployment, operational

and business chalienges that had never before been addressed. The puzzles of twenty years ago seem

almost simple today, but at the time they were unmapped terrain: How do you design a wireless

21O

C network? How do you evaluate its performance? LCC responded with the tools a nascent industry
needed, creating the first commercial propagation maodeling software, the first commercial field
measurement tools, and the first coordinated methodologies that enabled engineers to understand
and evaluate the complex interactions of a network in operation, and learn how to improve

its performance. Today, focused exclusively on providing the services wireless carriers need to create

nov

o

and operate expansive, high-quality wireless networks, we are among a few select companies able

to address virtually any wireless project irrespective of scope or size.

Blue-sky thinking serving real-world business needs.

In short, we are the people you turn to when no solution exists. Our impressive string of innovations
has continued unabated as we have faced the challenges of each new wireless generation with

the same determination to innovate and succeed. Staffed by PhDs representing a broad range of related
specialties, LCC's Technology & Business Consulting Group searches across disciplines to invent
completely new solutions with the power to fundamentally change the way our clients are able to

do business. The tools you need don't exist? LCC will create them for you. One LCC client—a provider
of satellite services—sought a new way to measure signal performance; we designed and built

the equipment and software they required. Facing an intractable challenge? LCC will bring a broader
perspective to bear, as we are currently for improving in-building wireless coverage, solutions for E911,

optimizing wireless data networks and emerging wireless broadband technologies.

Tenacity, determination, ingenuity — the face of innovation

As in the past, some of our discoveries will go on to be commercially available for others. Many
will become accepted best practices industry wide. Some will remain proprietary intellectual property
of our customers. But the fact remains that we will continue to search across disciplines to invent com-

pletely new services with the power to fundamentally change the way our clients are able to do business.

Techroicgy & Business Corsulting Services

Tecnrnology Assessment  3usiness Pianning  Business Cases ROIC Analyses  Xnowledge Transfers
License Bids Regulatory Suppor: Vendor Quaiitication Vendor Selecticn  £971  In-Building
Business Coerations Reorocessing  Network Retionalization

LCC INTERNATIONAL the face of wireless 3
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[ANCesco Petulla’
RF b

ineering Manager, Wireless Network Design  Location: aly

Shortly after Hutchison 36, now branded “3", won

its licenses in Haly, the company selected LCC to work

2 an integral member of its design and deployment |
team, despite a history of not outsourcing critical tasks
such as network design and optimization. LCC was elected
for this pn’mé role based on the success of an initial
project, as wel as the reputation it eamed while working
on the H36 network in the UK

"e been working vith H3G i aly from the vy begin
ning of the relationship with LCC, when H3G was
launching their network. The firt step was to make sue
the frequencies they were planning to use were free
from interference from other wireless providers and
would not interfere with other communications devices

* ot pictured

"The spectrum was not‘only new o H3G, but fo all
commercial wireless users. Making the project even more

challenging was the fact that H3G, as our first “third

generation” lient n taly, wes rollng out a brand new
technology—UMTS. We worked throughout the country
to find possole sources of intererence. H3G used our
documentation to prove that certain frequencies needed
to be cleared. This was the first step i building ther
wireless nefwork. 1t was critical to therr suceess,

"The success of our work on this project demonstrated
LCC5 capabiltes for producing high qualy results in
ashort perod oftime, and it was the begining of 8 long
and beneficil relationship between the two companies.
We moved on with them to plan ther network, leveraging



the fessons learned by our colleagues working on other
30 projects to assist H3G in implementing the highest
Quality voice and data network avallable in the country,

"As the network grevv; 50 i our role. Soon we were
Working on optimization—fine-{uning the pre-aunch and
-post-aunch aspects of their nationwids network, W then
became the general contractor for H3G in tay, allowing

us o handle a wider range of services. Uttimately LCC
took care of everything from RF plaing to acquistion,
 (esign and construction.

"We were recently granted a new project by H3G, one
that might be consigered out of our normal scope of
expertise n RF—Dut S an example of how we routinely
leverage our skils o provice solutions to our customers
challenges. 1t a network alarm supenvision project, o
help H30G assess al aspects of their nefwork, not just RF

We've placed seven LCC engineers in the central region
of aly to monitor the H3G network, These quys work

around the clock to ensure that any problem s spotted
Immedlately and processed through the correct channels

"You know, while LCC'is known world-wide for our RF
engineering, we are increqibly adaptable when it comes
to branching out and taking on new challenges—and
meeting them quickly and effcienty by providing the
Dest engineers and staff in the business. We consistently
prove our reliabiity and ability, and because of this H3G
knows they can count on us to Solve whatever problems
may arse. We've created a very good long-term relation-
ship buit on trust, and through it LCC employees have
Decome an integral part of the H3G organization. When
| sarted | was one of just two engineers on H3G; now

we have 321"




Considering that LCC virtually invented the discipline of celtualr RF engineering, it should be no surprise
that today we are one of the largest and most experienced sources of wireless network design

professionals in the world, LCC's network design credits read like a compilation of the industry’s mile-

ners

stones: the first AMPS network in the U.S.; the first GSM network in the world, in Germany; firsts

=4

Ol

in France, Spain, Portugal, the U.K,, Australia and Malaysia; the first IDEN network in the U.S.; the first

[

commercial CDMA network, in Korea; the first PSC-1800 network in the U.S.; and on, and on,

esl

=== andon. Allin all, LCC has provided RF engineering services for nearly 100,000 cell sites worldwide.

The INOSt 6Xp€fi€1’1€€d design source anywhere.

it's clear the people of LCC's Design& Optimization Group are heirs to the greatest body of com-
mercial RF design experience in the world. We ensure they can incorporate this experience in their daily
work with the Wireless Institute, an in-house “university” that shares our corporate learning through-

out LCC, all around the world—and with clients as well. That means our newest, youngest engineers

can benefit from the lessons we learned when they were in grade school. Combined with our
design methodologies, perfected to an unmatched degree through continuous reexamination and
revitalization, our experience means we can bring our clients an ideal combination of theoreticat
knowledge and first-hand practical mastery that extends to every access technology in use today.
And as the world's wireless networks reach new levels of maturity with third generation technologies
and beyond, we have refocused our expertise on the challenges of network optimization, ensuring
that our clients provide a consistently high quality of service despite constant interference from

changes in the built and natural environments.

Adaptability, experience, independence——the face of dQSign.

The value of LCC’s experience is the confidence it inspires, and the efficiencies it makes possible.

Whatever challenge you bring us, we’ve dealt with something similar before. We know how

to deliver high-quality solutions at the lowest possible cost.

Design & Cptimization Services

Network Design Coverage and Capacity Analysis  Quality of Service Analysis  Utilization Analysis
Voice znd Data Cptimization Services Network Audits  Benchmarking and Drive Testing
Fixed Network and Transport Optimization Change Management Microwave Relocaticn
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We are a diverse team of protessionals
who come together
to solve problems for our customers.

We have a proven track record of
being able to deliver where others have failed.

6 DEPLOYMENT & TURNKEY GROUP



P
¥

| § 1 L
it

n Adion

3 told by Mike Romesburg®

Role:LCC Program Director  Location: United States

In early 2003, one of the US." top wireless carriers recog-
nized the advantages that partnering with the right
tumkey providers could bring to their national develop-
ment program. In order to find well-reputed companes
with legitimate track ecords for wireless deployment,

the carrier established contact with over 50 firms. After
several months of rigorous review, LCC was awarded the
turnkey deployment for new sites in the second largest

region covering 13 states.

"Winning this turkey project sparked a flury of acty
and excitement at LCC that has yet to die down. Qur cus-

tomer threw down the qauntlet and challenged turnkey

*not pictured

providers o increase qualty and standarcize practices
while exceeding their own historic mefrics for cost, LCC
answered the challenge and quickly mobilized team
members n five Hub Offices, everaged local tes with pro-
fossional sevices vendors, and quicky distinguished‘ gl

a5 the team to beat. The LCC team has over-achived our
project projection and beat defivery deadlines i virtually

evey Cateqory sice we started the program.

"Our first responsiilty was to ensure that a winning
irateqy was developed to align both clent and LCC
needs, Total turnkey dovelopment of wireless ites requires

that several professional lsciplines merge together i



sequence. Exraneaus elements exit such as loce zoning sl with tower companies and constuction contractors

v

0r bulding conditons that can undermine progress  that everage volume i retun for belanced prcing

if not handled properly. These factors, together with . |
. "Sometimes it sil amazes me how much time and effort
- the scope and breadth of the project required the very

0es info Solving the relatively minor issues, let alone the
best team be deployed

Dig ones. But, in the end, LCC aways gets the job done—
"Utimatel, the vlue we deier to our customer s our bty — our track record speaks for fself. Our teams are
to navigate and solve sophisticated problems quiclyand 100 percent devoted to our project and our customer

{0 ensure deivery o  high qualty product. Qurnext chak

. . C o "Ourjobis to ensure that our customer’s network
lenge, effective communication, combines with the first two

‘ N 5 implemented and operates to the highest standards
oals and ensures that we stay in sync with our customers'

. . posslle, and that’s what we're doing, The LCC team
evolving needs. Through communication we can tackle

| | members are passionate about the work and have
unique problems as they occur-and often times suggest

. . . 3 Gesie o Impress our clients. For us, it 5 personal and
equally unigue solutons...such as our modfied design for

. . we enjoy taking up the challenge everyday.
* equipment platiorms that help combat rsing pries for e

and alow exgedited bulding permits, or our bulk pricing




In the face of unparalleled competition, wireless service providers worldwide have been reexamining

fundamental assumptions about their ways of doing business, in search of reduced costs and improved

ers

operational efficiencies. Many have concluded that the design and deployment of the physical
infrastructure is a task that can be more economically accomplished by a single trusted partner.
Look no further than LCC—the wireless world’s most experienced network designer, and increasingly
the most capable partner for construction and deployment as well. With global resources using the
most sophistocated quality and risk management standards and demonstrated success in new builds

and upgrades, LCC is helping the industry discover a new value proposition.

Diernent

rﬁ—JA Sil’lgle SOUTICE for seamlessly integrated service.

If repeated success in designing wireless networks requires a single-minded focus backed by unequaled

1Y

depth of experience, success in deploying them requires almost exactly the opposite: an unparalleled
breadth of experience. The people of LCC's Deployment & Turnkey Group bring clients exactly that,
representing more than 18 different professional disciplines ranging from the project management

to procurement to installation and commissioning to construction supervision. LCC's varied virtuosity
has been put to the test by the likes of Algeria Mobile Telecom, Sprint, U.S. Cellular, XM Satellite Radio,
T-Mobile (UK), Orascom Telecom Algeria, H3G (Italy), 02 (UK), Algeria Telecom Mobile and Vodafone.
Qur resume boasts the build out of complete countries, nation-wide integration projects to time
constrained projects where we implemented more than 1500 sites throughout North America in just
under 24 months. LCC has even created a reporting tool—the Web-Integration Network Deployment
System (WINDS) that puts virtually every detail of every cell site of the largest network deployment
project a few mouse clicks away. Of course, it’s precisely because LCC covers every detail that so many

clients have confidence in our ability to take care of the big picture as well as the minute details.

Responsibility, meticulous attention to detail—

the face of implementation.

LCCs project management expertise is available in whatever combination of specialties matches your needs,

from a turnkey design-to-delivery program to specific services that complement in-house capabilities.

Deployment & Turnkey Servicas
Turnkey Projects Program Management Vendor Management = Site Acquisition
Construction Management A&E Installation and Provisioning Purchasing and Procurement
Zoning (Municpal Coordination) Regulatory Compliance

LCC INTERNATIONAL the face of wireless 7
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We care for our customers’ networks
as if they were our own.

Our O&M team is dedicated
to exceeding our customers’ expectations
in every way possible.

8 OPERATIONS & MANAGEMENT GROUP



astoid by Johan Meijer’

Role: LCC Field Engineer/Field Specialist - tocation: The Netherlands

Since 2002, LCC has been working for Ericsson via

its Dutch subsidary Detron LCC Network Senvices,

LCC provides network rollout, ite acquisition and field
maintenance services for Ercsson’s customers through-
out the Benelux, serving as Ericsson's exclusive

~ provider for these services in this part of the world.

"Today, among other things, 'm working on a corrective
and preventative maintenance project in the Netherlands
for rcsson/Tlfor. This i a long-term project that has
been on going for several years. We basically do al the
work within the mobile section of the GSM network

for Teffort, This i a reltivel high traffic area, and it our

Job o ensure that Tetforts GSM network s operating
*not pictured

at maximum performance at all times. In addltion to the
ongoing performance issues, we work with transmission,
hardware, microwave insulation and the base station.
We take care of any problems that arie, correcting them
within the time allotted by our customer,

"We cateqorize the issues that arise info four different
severity levels. In the worst case—Severity 1—our team
has a maximurm of four hours to resolve the problem.

The Telfort network handles a lot of traffic, and because
of this we have to work very quickly to Solve problems
and keep the entire network up and runming. I as fow

a6 threg sites are down it can materially mpact the entir
nefwork, meaning 1oss of income to the customer and




Joss of calls to thei customer care roup. To ke cetai
this does not happen, we have four engineers on stand-
Dy 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

-~ "One of the issues we might typically deal with i a sector
that s down—meaning no taffc channels ae avalabl
and any customers within that service area are unable

to make o mintan a cal. When ti ind o problem

- ocaurs, Ericsson piks it up in their monitor enter and
(reates a trouble ticket for us. Our team then immediately
nuts an engineer on that ficket to solve the problem
within the time that has been set for i

“Teamwork is very important in resolving these issues.
Our Detron LCC team includes 18 engineers representing
several different disciplines. W all wark together

to solve the problems and get traffic moving again when

things go wiong. We rely on each other. We stop
at nothing o et the job done.

"Ithink the main reason Ercsson chose Detron LCC over
our compeitors s their confidence in our enginegring

and deployment capabiltes. They've seen first hand our
know-how in optimization techniques and corrective/
preventive maintenance practices based on the work we've
done for their customers in the region, incucing Telfort

"Another signficant advantage we offer s loca
resources who are familiar with the regional and even
communty isues that wireles camiers face. We bring

our customers global proven integraed wireless senvices
on a local basis.”




Once upon a time, it was enough to offer merely the promise of mobile service to bring customers
to the door. No more. With intense competition the rule in virtually every market in the world, quality
of service has become indispensable—not merely important—in attracting new customers and
maintaining current ones. Enter LCC, with the wherewithal to outsource wireless network operations

by managing and maintaining trouble-free services 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. After all, who

erators

better to squeeze every possible operating benefit from a wireless network than the company that

p

as designed more networks around the world than any other?

@J

Responsive local service backed by global expertise.

The professionals of LCC's Operations & Maintenance Group draw on LCC's incomparable
experience in project management and wireless network design and deployment. But you won't find
them in an engineering design facllity or a remote conference room. Our O&M teams are local problem-
solvers: in-market, in touch, on top of every detail. They're ferreting out the cause of dropped calls,
switching out a faulty card at a base station, even providing maintenance services for base station facili-
ties. We are taking care of our clients’ networks as if they were our own. And recognizing that every
network problem creates end-user problems, we're handling issues within hours, not days. But beyond
network failures, LCC's O&M professionals also handle routine network maintenance and upgrades,
giving our clients a single predictable, responsive point of contact for both time-critical troubleshooting

and planned maintenance. One multifaceted outsourcing resource, and a lot fewer headaches.

Responsiveness, accountability, versatility—

the face of operations
Operations & Maintenance is LCC's newest service offering. But it has already earned the trust
of major clients by providing outstandingly responsive service at highly competitive pricing.

In short, it simply brings the values LCC has always provided to a new market niche.

Operations & Maintenance Services

Work Force Management Switch and Cell Site Maintenance Preventative Maintenance Procedures
inspections . Network Maintenance Property/Lease Manzgement Vendor Management
Corrective/Reactive Maintenance Customer TroubleTicket Resolution NOC Technica! Susport

LCC INTERNATIONAL the face of wireless 9




My Fellow Shareholders:

$43.762
2003 Revenue |
(in thousands) ‘

$29.35 |

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Per Share 0.03

-0.19

10 LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN

The theme of our report this year is: “LCC. The Face of Wireless.” Accordingly, throughout
this report, you will see images of LCC employees assisting clients in a variety of functions
throughout the world. In fact, | am proud to say that during 2003, LCC worked with
clients on every continent except Antarctica. It is our employees who make the difference
and it is through their efforts that our clients succeed. They create our competitive differ-
entiation and advantage. Appropriately, this report is dedicated to the employees of LCC.

This past year, our employees played vital roles in field trials of some of the most cutting
edge wireless developments; they participated in the launch and refinement of third
generation networks, they contributed to research and development efforts on
emerging technologies, they assisted customers in improving the quality of and expand-
ing the footprint of their wireless networks, and they consulted on broadband projects
and other up and coming wireless service offerings. LCC employees, in one fashion

or another, were involved in practically every aspect of wireless communications during
2003. In essence, through our work and reach, we are the face of wireless,

In addition to further enhancing our reach and reputation within the industry,
we solidified and strengthened relationships with key customers, achieving important
operational milestones and reached the ever-important financial goal of profitability.

Important accomplishments by year-end included:

Profitability. Fourth quarter results produced a 118 percent increase in revenue com-
pared to the same period in 2002 and perhaps more importantly, the Company reported
net income of $0.6 million resulting in earnings per share of $0.03. Overall for the year,
revenue increased 61.5 percent to $108.4 million compared to fult year 2002 and

our net loss was reduced to $6.5 million compared to the $28.7 loss reparted in 2002.

Strong customer relationships. We strengthened our already solid relationships
with Sprint, Nokia, Ericsson, T-Mobile, H3G, 02 and Orascom Telecom and began
new relationships with companies such as U.S. Cellular, Algeria Telecom Mobile,
Vodafone and Telefonica.

Trusted partner. We won turnkey projects from both U.S. Cellular and Sprint where
we are responsible for all aspects of getting networks up and running. Combined, these
contracts totaled more than $110 miliion.

Expanded reach. in 2003 we enhanced our presence in The Middle East as well as
the Caribbean and Latin America (CALA). Having secured two projects in Algeria and
a recently awarded contract (March 2004) in Saudi Arabia, we are quickly becoming

a notable competitor in the wireless infrastructure services market in the Middle East
region. Largely due to our global relationships, as the CALA region recovers from



economic uncertainty, we are well positioned to take advantage of the recent
momentum coming from the region’s renewed commitment to the GSM standard.

Operational Excellence. By year-end, our North American operations achieved the
coveted 1SC 9001:2000 quality control certification. Our North American operation joins
our already certified Netherlands operation. We expect to obtain additional certifications
for our halian and United Kingdom-based operations in the not too distant future.

Enhanced Offering. In order to take advantage of promising trends, we enhanced
our fixed network service offerings and added service offerings to address the in-building
and re-emerging wireline sectors.

Financial Strength and Accountability. As a management team, we take very seri-
ously our responsibility to shareholders. In addition to improving operations and financial
performance, we pursued best practices for every aspect of our financial organization.
For a year now, we have been working to ensure that we meet and, if possible, exceed
the criteria required under the Sarbanes-Oxley regulations. We have enhanced our
corporate governance practices by ensuring that only independent Board members serve
on our three Board Committees. And two of the three Audit Committee members are
considered “financial experts” under the SEC guidelines.

Thanks to the hard work and dedication of our employees, we have weathered
18 long months of a sluggish economy and a depressed wireless sector and have
emerged profitable, focused and ready to begin our next phase of growth.

At year-end 2003 operators globally reported significant subscriber growth. Wireless
equipment vendors also reported better results. With the introduction of advanced data
capabilities, we are seeing a broad-based increase not only in wireless customers, but
also increased usage per subscriber. These developments translate to increased network
usage at a time when networks are already near capacity and wireline-like call quality
continues to be a challenge. In addition, new technologies are emerging in the broad-
band wireless space that promise to make existing solutions seem archaic.

We believe these conditions are a harbinger of good things to come for the wireless
sector in general. And, for companies like LCC, there promises to be increased
opportunities for wireless network design, deployment, optimization and operations.
We stand poised and ready to leverage our employees’ broad skill sets to benefit
significantly from opportunities arising from wireless industry growth.

As we mark the passage of another year, | would like to thank you for your
confidence in LCC and look forward to continuing to build a business that has
long-term value to you, our shareholders.

C. Thomas Faulders lii
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

20C3 Revenue
Per Employes 238

(in hundreds)

€

$182

$120 $120

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2003 Composition o
of Revenue by Region

AP & Other
2%

Americas
49%
Europe,
Middle East,
Africa
49%

2003 Composition of Revenue
oy Service Cffering

Consulting
8%

O&M

Deployment
58%
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As shown from left to right

and front to back:

Terri Feely, Peter Deliso,

Tom Faulders, KK Arora,

Trish Drennan, Mike McNelly,
Carlo Baravalle, Graham Perkins,
Vince Gwiazdowski

LCC International, Inc. is a global leader in voice and data design, deployment and management services to the wireless
_telecommunications industry. A pioneer in the industry since 1983, LCC has performed technical services for the largest
wireless operators in North and South America, Europe, The Middle East, Africa and Asia. The Company has worked with all

major access technologies and has participated in the success of some of the largest and most sophisticated wireless systems
in the world. Through an integrated set of technical business consulting, training, design, deployment, operations and main-

tenance services, LCC is unigue in its ability to provide comprehensive turnkey services to wireless operators around the world.

LCC OFFICERS

C. Thomas Faulders il
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer
& President

Graham Perkins
Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer

Carlo Baravalle
Senior Vice President, Europe,
Middle East & Africa (EMEA)

Mike McNelly
Senior Vice President, The Americas

Peter Deliso
Vice President & General Counsel

Tricia Drennan
Vice President, Corporate
Communications & Investor Relations

Terri Feely
Vice President, Human Resources

Vince Gwiazdowski
Vice President & General Manager,
Asia Pacific

12 LCC OFFICERS AND MANAGEMENT TEAM

LCC MANAGEMENT TEAWM

Frank Aghili
Vice President, Design Services,
North America

Kama! (KK) Arora
Vice President, Wireless Institute

Graham Burke
General Manager, Saudi Arabia
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This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of
Section 274 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. We intend
our forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements in
these sections. These statements can be identified by the use of forward looking terminology, such as “may,”
“will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” or “continue” or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or
comparable terminology. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-
looking statements as a result of certain factors, including those set forth elsewhere in this Form 10-K. See the
“Risk Factors” section of Item 1 "Business” for cautionary statements identifying imporiant factors with
respect to such forward-looking statements, including certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual
results to differ materially from results referred to in forward-looking statements.

PART 1
Item 1. Business
Overview

LCC International, Inc., a Delaware corporation, was formed in 1983. Unless the context indicates
otherwise, references in this Form 10-K to the “company,” “our,” “we,” or “us” are to LCC International,
Inc.

We are an independent provider of integrated end-to-end solutions for wireless voice and data
communications networks with offerings ranging from high level technical consulting, to system design and
turnkey deployment, to ongoing operations and maintenance services. We have been successful on occasion in
using initial opportunities to provide high level technical consulting services to secure later-stage system
design and deployment contracts. Long-term engagements to provide design and deployment services also
enable us to secure ongoing operations and maintenance projects. Providing ongoing operations and
maintenance services also positions us well for additional opportunities as new technologies continue to be
developed and wireless service providers must either upgrade their existing networks or deploy new networks
to utilize the latest available technologies.

Since our inception, we have delivered wireless network solution services to more than 350 customers in
over 50 countries. Customers outside of the United States accounted for 57.0% and 51.0% of our revenues for
the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

Industry Background
Wireless Telecommunications Networks

Wireless networks are telecommunications systems built using radio-based systems that allow a telephone
set or data terminal to communicate without a metallic or optical cord or wire equipment. The life cycle of a
wireless network continually evolves and consists of several phases including strategic planning, design,
deployment, expansion, and operations and maintenance. During the strategic planning phase, operators
pursue the licenses necessary to build out a wireless system and make decisions about the type of technology
and equipment to be used, where it will be located and how it will be configured. Technical planning and
preliminary engineering designs are often required to decide on a deployment strategy and determine
construction costs and the revenue generating ability of the wireless system.

Following acceptance of a wireless network design, access to land or building rooftops must be secured for
towers or telecommunications equipment, including radio base stations, antennae and supporting electronics.
Each site must be qualified in a number of areas, including zoning ordinance requirements, regulatory
compliance and suitability for construction. Detailed site location designs are prepared and radio frequency
engineers review interference to or from co-located antennae. Construction and equipment installation then
must be performed and site performance is measured after completion of construction. Finally, professional
technicians install and commission the new radio equipment, test it, integrate it with existing networks and
tune the components to optimize performance.




Once a wireless network becomes operational and the number of subscribers increases, the system must
be expanded to increase system coverage and capacity. In addition, the wireless system must be continually
updated and optimized to address changes in traffic patterns, and interference from neighboring or competing
networks or other radio sources. Operations and maintenance also involves tuning the network to enable
operators to compete more effectively in areas where there are multiple system operators.

Finally, as new technologies are continuously developed, wireless service providers must determine
whether to upgrade their existing networks or deploy new networks utilizing the latest available technologies.
Overlaying new technologies, such as 2.5 generation and third generation (or 2.5G and 3G, respectively) with
an existing network or deploying a new network requires operators to reengage in the strategic planning,
design, deployment, expansion, and operations and maintenance phases of a new cycle in the life of an existing
or new network.

Growth and Evolution of the Wireless Telecommunications Industry

Worldwide use of wireless telecommunications has grown rapidly as cellular and other emerging wireless
communications services have become more widely available and affordable for the mass business and
consumer markets. The rapid growth in wireless telecommunications is driven by the dramatic increase in
wireless telephone usage, as well as strong demand for wireless Internet and other data services.

Wireless access to the Internet is in an early stage of development and growing rapidly as web-enabled
devices become more widely accessible and affordable. Demand for wireless Internet access and other data
services is accelerating the adoption of new technologies such as those embodied in 3G to enable wireless
networks to deliver enhanced data capabilities. Examples of wireless data services include e-mail, messaging
services, music on-demand, m-banking, locations-based services and interactive games.

Key Drivers of Change in Our Business

Despite some estimates that 2003 capital expenditures by United States wireless service providers would
be lower than expenditures for 2002, we observed an increase in spending in the areas of network design,
deployment and operations and maintenance by several wireless service providers. Historically, the key drivers
of change in our business have been: (i) the issuance of new or additional licenses to wireless service
providers; (ii) the introduction of new services or technologies; (iii) the increases in the number of subscribers
served by wireless service providers, the increase in usage by those subscribers and the scarcity of wireless
spectrum; and (iv) the increasing complexity of wireless systems in operation. Each of these key drivers is
discussed below.

» The issuance of new or additional licenses to wireless service providers. After receiving new or
additional licenses necessary to build out their wireless systems, wireless service providers must make
decisions about what type of technology and equipment will be used, where it will be located and how it
will be configured. In addition, detailed site location designs must be prepared and radio frequency
engineers must review interference to or from co-located antennae. Construction and equipment
installation then must be performed and professional technicians must install and commission the new
radio equipment, test and integrate it with existing networks and tune the components to optimize
performance. Recently we have seen increased spending by wireless service providers as a result of
license swaps by providers seeking to maximize spectrum use and increase coverage. For example, after
U.S. Cellular received spectrum licenses from AT&T Wireless in August 2003, U.S. Cellular engaged
us to provide turnkey design and deployment services for its wireless networks in several cities covered
by these licenses. This project will involve the development of a design by our radio frequency, or RF,
engineers that meets U.S. Cellular’s requirements, the acquisition of rights to existing wireless sites or
the development of new sites to match the design, the preparation of these sites as necessary to receive
U.S. Cellular’s radio equipment, and the installation, powering and testing of the equipment to ensure
that it meets U.S. Cellular’s expectations.

o The introduction of new services or technologies. Although wireless service providers traditionally
have relied upon their internal engineering workforces to address a significant portion of their wireless

2




network needs, the rapid introduction of new services or technologies in the wireless market and the
need to reduce operating costs in many cases has resulted in wireless service providers and equipment
vendors focusing on their core competencies and, as a result, outsourcing an increasing portion of their
network services. Recently, several wireless service providers have upgraded or have begun upgrading
their networks to reduce the rate at which customers deactivate their wireless services and to
accommodate two recently introduced services: (i) push-to-talk, which allows wireless callers to
instantly connect directly with other wireless callers using the same network simply by pressing a
button on their handset (similar to a two-way radio); and (ii) multimedia messaging, which allows
wireless users to send and receive messages with a combination of media elements such as text, image,
sound and video. In addition, in the United States, the Federal Communications Commission, or FCC,
recently began requiring wireless service providers to provide wireless number portability to customers,
which makes it easier for consumers to switch wireless service providers by giving consumers the ability
to do so without changing their phone numbers. Wireless number portability increases the complexity
of call processing, number administration, service assurance and network operations. We believe that
nearly every U.S.-based wireless service provider is, or will be, upgrading its network in order to
mitigate the potential for customer termination or churn as a result of the implementation of number
portability. This involves providing both additional network capacity and expanded geographic
coverage to address wireless customers’ perceptions of network quality. We are currently providing
design, operations and maintenance and deployment services for a number of wireless service providers
in preparation for the implementation of number portability.

The increases in the number of wireless subscribers, the increase in usage by those subscribers, and the
scarcity of wireless spectrum. The increases in the number of subscribers served by wireless service
providers, the increase in usage by those subscribers, and the scarcity of wireless spectrum require
wireless service providers to expand and optimize system coverage and capacity to maintain network
quality. The wireless system also must be continually updated and optimized to address changes in
traffic patterns and interference from neighboring or competing networks or other radio sources.

The increasing complexity of wireless systems. As new technologies are developed, wireless service
providers must determine whether to upgrade their existing networks or deploy new networks utilizing
the latest available technologies in order to maintain their market share. For example, overlaying new
technologies such as 2.5G and 3G with an existing network or deploying a new network requires
wireless service providers to reengage in the strategic planning, design, deployment, expansion, and
operations and maintenance phases of a new cycle in the life of an existing or new network. We believe
the resurgence in spending in 2003 by several wireless service providers is the result of, among other
things, wireless service providers gradually upgrading their networks to support enhanced services
and/or 3G technologies.

The Need for Outsourcing

As a result of the drivers of change in our business described above, we believe that wireless service
providers are seeking to outsource an increasing portlon of their wireless network needs and are engaging
professional service firms that:

offer turnkey solutions through in-country presence in the markets to be served;
have expertise with all major wireless technologies;

offer speed to market and cost effective network implementation;

have experience working with all major equipment vendors; and

have sufficient numbers of highly skilled employees capable of handling large-scale domestic and
international projects.




The LCC Solution

We help wireless service providers around the world address the issues they face in developing networks
to meet subscriber demand, reduce their costs and add new services and functionality. In addressing these
issues and the need for wireless service providers, telecommunications equipment vendors and others to
outsource an increasing portion of their wireless network services, we believe that we distinguish ourselves
through several competitive advantages:

» Ability to deliver turnkey solutions. Our ability to provide the full range of design, deployment,
consulting and operations and maintenance services for wireless networks, which we refer to as end-to-
end or turnkey services, enables our wireless customers to engage us as a single responsible party
accountable for delivering and managing its wireless network under a single contract. We coordinate
our use of resources for each phase of the project from planning to design and deployment to operations
and maintenance of the wireless network, enabling us to reduce the time and cost of our services. In
order to supplement such services, we have established a presence in Algeria, Brazil, China, Greece,
Italy, Spain, The Netherlands and the United Kingdom. We provide our customers with a primary
point of accountability and reduce the inefficiencies associated with coordinating multiple subcontrac-
tors to enable projects to be transitioned from discipline to discipline in an efficient manner.

« Expertise and experience with all major wireless technologies, system protocols and equipment
vendors. We have experience working with all major wireless access technologies, including second
generation, or 2G, 2.5G and 3G digital system protocols and their respective migration paths,
including: (i) Global System for Mobile Communications (GSM); (ii) Time Division Multiple
Access (TDMA); (iii) Code Division Multiple Access (CDMA); (iv) Integrated Dispatch Enhanced
Network (iDEN); (v) broadband’s Local Multipoint Distribution System (LMDS), Multichannel
Multipoint Distribution Service (MMDS), 802.11x (Wi-Fi) and 802.16 (WiMax) technologies;
(vi) Europe’s equivalent to iDEN referred to as Tetra; and (vii) core network technologies.

We are actively engaged in supporting the development of new and emerging technologies and standards
in the wireless telecommunications industry through participation in industry panels and industry association
forums and through independent research. We have worked with the equipment made by all major equipment
manufacturers. Our Wireless Institute is an integral part of our technical development activities.

« Speed to market. Our expertise, global presence and processes enable us to respond quickly to
support our customers’ deployment objectives. Members of our technical, design and deployment
teams often work together with the customer at the initial stage of a project in order to plan an effective
and efficient solution for the customer’s needs.

s Worldwide depth of resources. Our system deployment professionals collectively have experience
deploying networks in the major markets in the United States as well as many countries throughout the
world. As of December 31, 2003, approximately 45% of our billable employees were employed outside
the United States and represented 49 different nationalities. During the past 20 years, our professionals
have designed wireless networks employing all major technologies in North America, Europe, Asia,
Latin America, the Middle East and Africa. Our professional staff is highly educated with many of our
engineering professionals holding masters degrees or doctorates.

LCC Services

We offer to our wireless customers a complete range of wireless network services, including: (i) high level
technical consulting (3.4% of revenues for fiscal 2002 and 7.8% of revenues for fiscal 2003); (ii) design
services (40.6% of revenues for fiscal 2002 and 30.0% of revenues for fiscal 2003); (iili) deployment services
(54.4% of revenues for fiscal 2002 and 59.3% of revenues for fiscal 2003); and (iv) ongoing operations and
maintenance services (1.6% of revenues for fiscal 2002 and 2.9% of revenues for fiscal 2003). In 2003, we
derived 30.4% of our revenues from projects involving 2G technology, 20.5% of our revenues from projects
involving 2.5G technology, 44.8% of our revenues from projects involving 3G technology, and 4.3% of our
revenues from projects involving other technologies.



Technical Consulting Services

Applying our extensive technical and operational expertise and experience, we may be initially engaged
by a wireless customer to analyze the engineering and technology issues related to a proposed network
deployment project. From assisting customers with evaluating their business plans, to licensing and application
support, technology assessments and defining and refining implementation strategies, our team of senior
wireless professionals focuses on providing our customers with key insights into all aspects of wireless
communications and the impact that a new technology, device or application might have on the industry. We
also provide training to our engineers and our customers through our Wireless Institute, which covers the
latest technologies developed and employed throughout the world. Over the past four vears, our Wireless
Institute has taught over 500 classes worldwide.

Design Services

Radio frequency and fixed network engineering. We provide both radio frequency engineering and fixed
network engineering services to design wireless networks for our customers. Qur engineers design each wireless
network based upon the customer’s transmission requirements, which are determined based upon the
projected level of subscriber density, estimated traffic demand and the scope of the operator’s license coverage
area and the most effective connection to the wireline backbone. Our engineers perform the calculations,
measurements and tests necessary to optimize placement of wireless equipment, to optimize use of radio
frequency and to deliver the highest possible signal quality for the greatest portion of subscriber usage within
existing constraints. Typical constraints that must be addressed include cost parameters, terrain and license
limitations, interference from other operators, site availability limitations and applicable zoning restrictions as
well as other factors.

In addition, because most wireless calls are ultimately routed through a wireline network, traffic from
wireless networks must be connected with switching centers within wireline networks. Our fixed network
engineers determine the most effective method to connect cell sites to the wireline backbone. We also provide
services to cover the core network including interconnect, switching and microwave engineering for all access
technologies, including connection into the telecommunications infrastructures of competitive local exchange
carriers, or CLECs, and incumbent local exchange carriers, or ILECs.

Competitive benchmarking. We provide system analyses to our wireless customers for the measurement
of network performance, including “benchmarking” versus competitors based upon an extensive set of
parameters such as call quality, drop call rates, signal strength and coverage.

Deployment Services

Program management. We provide project management services as part of an overall design and
deployment project, to manage site acquisition, radio frequency engineering, fixed network engineering and
construction management services. Project managers utilize our proprietary software system, Web Integrated
Network Deployment System, or WINDS, to manage all phases of an engagement. Utilizing WINDS, all
information regarding a project is stored in one location, enabling project managers to track and retrieve
information across all project phases, including site acquisition and leasing, zoning, construction, materials
management, radio frequency engineering and installation and optimization. The WINDS system generates a
visual presentation of the network in process, provides customers with access to timelines and forecasts for
cach phase of the project using remote connectivity and an Internet browser. We maintain copyright and trade
secret protection for our WINDS system.

Site acquisition and development. Our local experts in each geographic market evaluate the feasibility
and desirability of base station locations in the proposed area according to the wireless customer’s
requirements, including zoning ordinance requirements, leasing constraints and building access issues.

Regulatory compliance. We have a regulatory compliance program in the United States designed to
satisfy FCC and Occupational Safety and Health Administration requirements with respect to radio frequency
emissions. ‘




Architecture and engineering. We manage various activities associated with the design, layout and
physical assessment of existing and proposed telecommunications facilities, including base stations and
switching centers. This includes managing architecture and engineering firms with respect to site drawings,
zoning exhibits, structural analysis and making recommendations to confirm that the infrastructure has the
structural capacity to accommodate the design of the wireless network. We also provide other materials and
services as may be necessary to secure building permits and jurisdictional approvals.

Construction and procurement management. We manage various construction subcontractors to pre-
pare the rooftop or tower site and secure the proper electrical and telecommunications connections. We also
manage the procurement of materials and equipment for our wireless customers and the installation of radio
frequency equipment, including base station electronics and antennae.

Operations and Maintenance Services

We provide operations and maintenance services to wireless service providers with ongoing outsourcing
needs. Depending on customers’ needs, the scope of such arrangements varies greatly — we may assume
responsibility for all or part of the day-to-day operation and maintenance of wireless networks.

In May 2003, we formed LCC Wireline, Inc., a new subsidiary of our company, to pursue wireline-
related contracts with CLECs and ILECs. LCC Wireline provides engineering, furnishing and installation
services for transmission, switching, and DC power systems. We believe that wireline providers will continue
to require additional infrastructure services in order to address both aging wireline networks and the growing
technical demands generated by integrated voice, data and video networks.

Geographic Organization

We provide our services through a regional management organization that comprises two principal
regions and several smaller divisions. In 2003, we redefined our operating segments as “Americas” and
“EMEA” (Europe, Middle East and Africa) to reflect our regional organization. Our Americas region, which
is headquartered outside Los Angeles, California, provides the full range of service offering to wireless
operators and equipment vendors through a network of project offices in North America, Central and South
America. In 2003, Americas generated approximately 49% of our total revenue. Our EMEA region, which is
based in London, is responsible for operations in the U.K., Italy, The Netherlands, Algeria, Germany, Spain
and Greece. We have recently established a marketing office in Dubai for our EMEA region. In 2003, EMEA
also generated approximately 49% of our total revenue.

We also have an “Asia and other” region which comprises our Asia operations, our Wireless Institute and
- our new Wireline division. In 2003, these combined operations generated approximately 2% of our total
revenues. Our operations in Asia are comprised of a marketing office in Sydney and representative offices in
Beijing and Singapore. Our joint venture with Bright Oceans Inter-Telecom Corporation (BOCO) is also
based in Beijing. Through our Wireless Institute, we provide training to our engineers and customers covering
the latest technologies developed and employed throughout the world. In 2003, we formed LCC Wireline, Inc.
to pursue wireline-related contracts with CLECs and ILECs.

For financial information about our operating segments, please see note 19 to our consolidated financial
statements on page 60.

Business Strategy

The principal elements of our business strategy are to: (i) provide end-to-end services; (ii) increase our
presence in new geographic areas to capitalize on emerging opportunities; (iii) benefit from parallel market
opportunities by using our current knowledge base; and (iv) attract and retain highly qualified personnel.

s Provide end-to-end services. We provide integrated end-to-end solutions ranging from high level
technical consulting, to system design and deployment, to ongoing operations and maintenance
services. Our ability to provide end-to-end, or turnkey, services enables our wireless customers to
engage a single, responsible party who is accountable for delivering and managing its wireless network
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under a single contract. Accordingly, we leverage initial consulting opportunities to secure later-stage
system design and deployment contracts, and engagements to provide design and deployment services
enabling us to secure ongoing operations and maintenance projects. Providing ongoing operations and
maintenance services, in turn, positions us well for additional opportunities as wireless service providers
must either upgrade their existing networks or deploy new networks to benefit from the latest available
technologies. During 2003, we were engaged to perform turnkey services for U.S. Cellular and Sprint.
In U.S. Cellular’s case, we have been retained to provide network design, site acquisition, zoning,
permitting, civil engineering and construction services. In Sprint’s case, Sprint is providing network
engineering functions while we are performing the remaining turnkey activities. Many clients initially
engage us to perform specific services, such as engineering services. Once we secure a client
relationship, we work to expand our relationship to provide additional services offered by the company.
We do this by understanding the client’s needs and leveraging our reputation and demonstrated
performance on client engagements. We typically self-perform network design, site acquisition and
zoning services and hire subcontractors to perform civil engineering and construction services under
our direct management. Self-performed work generally carries higher profit margins than subcon-
tracted work.

Increase our presence in new geographic areas to capture additional growth opportunities. In order to
realize the full benefit of wireless deployment worldwide, we target areas with strong potential growth
by creating a localized presence. We pursue this effort through establishing a local presence, pursuing
strategic acquisitions and entering into partnerships to reach new markets. We currently have a
localized presence in Algeria, Brazil, China, Greece, Italy, Spain, The Netherlands and the United
Kingdom in addition to the United States, and are considering expansion into other markets. To
increase our local presence in emerging areas, we have entered into several strategic acquisitions and
investments, a strategy that we plan to continue as a means to both complement our internal growth
and position ourselves to capitalize on anticipated high growth areas. In particular: (i) in January 2002
we acquired Smith Woolley Telecom, a consulting firm in the United Kingdom specializing in site
search, acquisition, design, build, management and maintenance services; (ii) in July 2002 we acquired
51% of Detron LCC Network Services, B.V., or Detron, a newly formed consulting firm in The
Netherlands specializing in deployment, management and maintenance services; and (iii) in July 2003
we agreed through our wholly-owned subsidiary, LCC China Services, L.L.C., to a joint venture with
BOCO pursuant to which we own 49% of Beijing LCC Bright Oceans Communication Consulting Co.,
Ltd., or LCC/BOCO, a new entity offering a full range of design, implementation and operations and
maintenance services to wireless service providers throughout China. Our acquisition strategy is
focused on firms that will enable us to cost-effectively add new clients and realize the potential benefits
of new markets. We intend to continue to selectively acquire or partner with high quality companies
that accelerate our access to, and provide us with a local presence in, new markets.

Benefir from parallel market opportunities using our current knowledge base. We actively seek to
expand into new markets through the use of our comprehensive knowledge of wireless voice and data
communications networks. We also believe that the rapid growth in the worldwide use of wireless
telecommunications has created a need for our services in related fields. For example, because most
wireless calls are ultimately routed through a wireline network, traffic from wireless networks must be
connected with switching centers within wireline networks. Because our fixed network engineers
determine the most effective method to connect cell sites to the wireline backbone, and because many
of the types of engineering services provided to wireline operators are similar to the types of services we
provide in the wireless area, we have been engaged to provide wireline-related services by wireless
service providers and equipment vendors. We also have formed LCC Wireline to pursue contracts with
CLECs and ILECs, many of which are in the process of upgrading their networks. We expect that
wireline carriers will enhance their networks as a result of, among other things, the renewed interest in
digital subscriber lines, or DSL, the expansion of long distance services, and the emergence of the
surviving CLECs from bankruptcy. In addition to the wireline opportunities, we are exploring fixed and
mobile wireless opportunities in the government and enterprise sectors. The United States government
is exploring ways to provide reliable wireless connectivity for all “first-responders” and other law
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enforcement and public safety agencies using both existing and new networks and technologies. Large
enterprises also are beginning to explore how wireless technologies such as the existing cellular and
personal communication system, or PCS, services, as well as the new Wi-Fi and WiMax technologies,
may be used to enhance productivity and reduce operating expenses. We have already provided
consulting services to both government agencies and corporate customers and we intend to expand our
opportunities in these areas.

» Attract and retain highly qualified personnel. As a service business, our success depends on our
ability to attract, train and retain highly skilled professionals. As a result, we seek to recruit highly
skilled personnel, facilitate their professional development and create a business atmosphere that
encourages their continued employment. As of December 31, 2003, we had 751 employees, of which
578 were billable employees. As of that date, approximately 45% of our billable employees were
employed outside of the United States. Our professional staff is highly educated with many of our
engineering professionals holding masters degrees or doctorates, Recognizing the critical importance of
retaining highly qualified personnel for our business, we work closely with our employees to develop
and enhance the technical, professional and management skills required to be successful at our
company. Our senior management believes it is critically important to create and maintain an open
culture that encourages learning, responsibility and collaboration. For example, C. Thomas
Faulders, 111, our chief executive officer, hosts monthly teleconference meetings with all employees to
foster an open working environment. We recognize that preserving our culture requires our employees
to have a stake in the success of our business. For that reason, we have granted stock options to a
significant majority of our employees, including our clerical and administrative support staff. We also
invest in all of our professionals by expanding their professional education through our Wireless
Institute, which provides training for our engineers and our customers covering the latest technologies
developed and deployed throughout the world.

Customers and Backlog

We provide consulting, design, deployment, and operations and maintenance services to wireless service
providers, telecommunications equipment vendors, satellite service providers, systems integrators and tower
companies. In 2003, revenues from U.S, Cellular were $16.5 million, or 15.2% of our total revenues, revenues
from Nokia were $13.0 million, or 12.0% of our total revenues, and revenues from Sprint PCS were
$11.5 million, or 10.6% of our total revenues. Some of our customers include:

AT&T Wireless
Ericsson

H3G

Nextel
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Sprint
T-Mobile

U.S. Cellular

Our top ten customers accounted for 72.9% of total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003,

Our firm backlog was approximately $109 million at December 31, 2003. We define firm backlog as the
value of work-in-hand to be done with customers as of a specific date where the following conditions are met:
(i) the price of the work to be done is fixed; (ii) the scope of the work to be done is fixed, both in definition
and amount (for example, the number of sites has been determined); and (iii) there is a written contract,
purchase order, agreement or other documentary evidence which represents a firm commitment by the client
to pay us for the work to be performed. We also had implied backlog of approximately $5 million as of
December 31, 2003. We define implied backlog as the estimated revenues from master service agreements and
similar arrangements, which have met the first two conditions set forth above but for which we have not
received a firm contractual commitment. Our contracts typically include provisions that permit customers to
terminate their contracts under various circumstances, including for customer convenience. Our firm backlog
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at December 31, 2003 includes backlog arising from the recent contract awards we received from Sprint and
U.S. Cellular. Our firm backlog was approximately $29 million and our implied backlog was approximately
$21 million at December 31, 2002.

Sales and Marketing

We sell and market our consulting, design, deployment, and operations and maintenance services through
the collaborative efforts of our sales force, our senior management, our marketing group and our Wireless
Institute. Excluding our Wireless Institute staff, as of December 31, 2003, we employed 31 full-time sales and
marketing staff, based in our offices in Australia, Italy, the United Kingdom, the United States and The
Netherlands. In addition, our LCC/BOCO joint venture gives us access to LCC/BOCO’s sales staff
throughout China.

Sales

We have established sales forces in three regions of the world: (i) Americas (North, Central and South);
(ii) Europe, the Middle East and Africa; and (iii) Asia Pacific. Our sales forces in those regions work in
conjunction with our senior executives to develop new client relationships. Sales personnel and our senior
management proactively establish contact with targeted prospects to identify potential sales opportunities and
work to establish awareness and preference for our services. Because customers’ purchase decisions often
involve an extended decision making process requiring involvement of their technical personnel, our sales
personnel work collaboratively with our technical consulting and deployment personnel to develop new sales
leads and secure new contracts.

Marketing

Our marketing staff supports our business strategy through articles, publications, analyst meetings and
conferences. The marketing group conducts market and competitive analyses, defines industry-specific
business requirements and identifies potential sales opportunities. Our marketing group helps position service
offerings, creates awareness/brand recognition and manages joint marketing efforts with strategic alliance
partners.

Wireless Institute

Our Wireless Institute positions us well to generate additional sales opportunities. For over a decade,
wireless service providers, equipment vendors, and others have used our Wireless Institute to train their
personnel on the latest wireless technologies. Training customer employees and management often allows us to
identify areas where our services may be needed by such customers. Members of the Wireless Institute’s staff
often serve as an interface point between our clients and our sales professionals. Over the past four years, our
Wireless Institute has taught more than 500 classes worldwide.

Competition

The market for technical consulting, design, deployment, and operations and maintenance is highly
competitive and fragmented and includes numerous service providers. In particular, we believe that the
competition in Europe is particularly fragmented with numerous small, regional independent service providers.
Our competitors fall into six broad categories:

+ internal staffs of wireless and wireline service providers;

+ telecommunications equipment vendors, such as Ericsson and Nortel, which frequently provide design
and deployment services as part of an equipment sale;

« independent service companies, such as Wireless Facilities, Inc., which provide a full range of wireless
network services, and a large number of other companies that provide limited wireless services;
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« construction and project management companies, such as Bechtel Group Inc. and General Dynamics,
for the deployment of wireless networks;

» tower ownership and management companies, such as Crown Castle International and American
Tower Corporation, which provide tower deployment service capabilities; and

» information technology and consulting companies such as Bearing Point, Inc., Logica and others,
which have developed capabilities to deliver network consulting services to wireless service providers.

Although the services provided by many of these competitors are comparable to the services we provide,
there are areas where certain competitors may have an advantage over us. For example, telecommunications
equipment vendors presumably know the relative strengths and weaknesses of their products better than the
service providers who have no product offerings; construction companies have more hands-on capabilities with
respect to the construction aspects of a deployment project; and equipment vendors, construction companies
and tower ownership and management companies have greater financial resources that allow them to offer
financing and deferred payment arrangements. In addition, many of our competitors have significantly greater
marketing resources, larger workforces and greater name recognition than us.

We believe our ability to compete depends on a number of additional factors, which are outside of our
control, including: (i) the willingness of competitors to finance customers’ projects on favorable terms; (ii) the
ability and willingness of customers to rely on their internal staffs to perform services themselves; and (iii) the
customer’s desire to bundle equipment and services.

We believe that the principal competitive factors in our market include expertise in new and evolving
technologies, industry experience, ability to deliver end-to-end services, ability to provide hardware- and
technology-independent solutions, ability to deliver results within budget and on time, worldwide depth of
resources, reputation and competitive pricing. In particular, we believe that the breadth of our service
offerings, the efficiencies of our processes, our ability to integrate new technologies and equipment from
multiple vendors, our ability to provide training for our customers through our Wireless Institute and the high
quality of our professional staff provide us with a competitive advantage.

Employees

As of December 31, 2003, we had 751 full-time emplovees worldwide. We believe that relations with our
employees are good. None of our employees are represented by a labor union, and we have not experienced
any work stoppages.

Recent Developments

On November 28, 2003, we completed an offering of 8,050,000 shares of our class A common stock, of
which 5,000,000 were sold by certain of our stockholders. We received net proceeds of approximately
$11.5 million in the offering.

In December 2003, we received the ISO 9001:2000 quality control certification for our North American
operations. ISO 9001:2000 is an internationally recognized quality management system standard of the
International Organization for Standardization, or the ISO. This standard is designed to provide guidelines
and a basic framework for companies to establish consistent quality management. ISO 9001 is regarded as the
most rigorous of the ISO 9000 series of standards developed by the ISO.

In March 2004, we were selected by the Saudi Telecommunication Company, or STC, to provide
engineering consulting services for the expansion of STC’s GSM network in Saudi Arabia. We expect to
provide $27.2 million worth of these services to STC during the initial 12 month period of the contract. Final
terms and conditions of the contract, including terms of renewal for a second year, are subject to completion
and execution of a definitive agreement, which we expect to occur within the next one to two months.
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International Operations

During the last two years, we have entered into a number of strategic acquisitions and investments to
enhance our international wireless capabilities and establish a local presence in country. For instance, in July
2003, we agreed through our wholly-owned subsidiary, LCC China Services, to a joint venture with BOCO, a
publicly-traded Chinese systems integrator. Through this joint venture, BOCO owns 51% of the equity of a
new entity, LCC/BOCO, while we own the remaining 49%. The combined capital contributions from our
company and BOCO to LCC/BOCO was approximately $2.2 million, which the parties funded over the initial
six months of LCC/BOCQO’s operations. LCC/BOCO is based in Beijing, China, and serves as our
operational arm within China. LCC/BOCO began operations in August 2003, and currently has 36 employees
and is represented by approximately 105 sales and marketing professionals located in BOCQ’s offices in each
of China’s provinces. LCC/BOCO offers a full range of design, implementation, and operations and
maintenance services to wireless service providers throughout China, where we have seen an increased
demand for third-party independent solution providers. LCC/BOCO also has access to our RF engineering
and deployment skills and our Wireless Institute as well as to BOCO’s wireless network management,
planning and optimization systems and its research and development department with a staff of approximately
500.

The further development of our international operations requires us to research and comply with local
laws and regulations, including employment, corporate and tax laws. For example, if we enter into a longer
term contract overseas, we are often required to establish a local presence in country, either as a branch or
subsidiary, and, if hiring locally, to comply with all local employment, recruiting, hiring and benefit
requirements. When not hiring locally, we face the task of obtaining visas and work permits for our assigned
employees and must comply with local tax requirements for our expatriate employees.

For financial information about our international operations, please see note 19 to our consolidated
financial statements on page 60.

Government Regulation

Although we are not directly subject to any FCC or similar government regulations, the wireless networks
that we design, deploy and manage are subject to various FCC regulations in the United States and other
international regulations. These regulations require that these networks meet certain radio frequency emission
standards, not cause unallowable interference to other services, and in some cases accept interference from
other services. These networks are also subject to government regulations and requirements of local standards
bodies outside the United States.

Risk Factors

In any given year, we derive a significant portion of our revenues from a limited number of large projects,
and, if we are unable to replace these large projects upon completion, we could have a significant decrease in
our revenues which would negatively impact our ability to generate income.

We have derived, and believe that we will continue to derive, a significant portion of our revenues in any
given year from a limited number of large projects. As these projects wind down to completion, we face the
task of replacing such revenues with new projects. Our inability to replace such revenues would cause a
significant decrease in our revenues and negatively affect our operating results. For example, for the year
ended December 31, 2001, our largest project was for XM Satellite Radio, Inc., which comprised 43.9% of our
total revenues. This project was substantially completed during the fourth quarter of 2001 and wound down in
2002, and we were unable to generate sufficient revenues from other projects in 2002 to maintain revenue
levels.

If we are unable to replace large projects upon completion, it could cause a significant decrease in our
revenues and negatively affect our ability to generate income.
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We generate a substantial portion of our revenues from a limited number of customers, and if our
relationships with these customers were harmed our business would suffer.

For the years ended December 31, 2002 -and 2003, we derived 60.3% and 72.9%, respectively, of our total
revenues from our ten largest customers. We believe that a limited number of customers will continue to be
the source of a substantial portion of our revenues for the foreseeable future. Key factors in maintaining our
relationships with these customers include, for example, our performance on individual contracts and the
strength of our professional reputation. To the extent that our performance does not meet client expectations,
or our reputation or relationships with one or more key clients are impaired, our revenues and operating results
could be materially harmed.

Many of our customers face difficulties in obtaining financing to fund the expansion of their wireless
networks, including deployments and upgrades, which may reduce demand for our services.

Due to downturns in the financial markets in general since 2000, and specifically within the telecommuni-
cations financial markets, many of our customers or potential customers have had and may continue to have
trouble obtaining financing to fund the expansion or improvement of their wireless networks. Some customers
have also found it difficult to predict demand for their products and services. Most vulnerable are customers
that are new licensees and wireless service providers who have limited sources of funds from operations or
have business plans that are dependent on funding from the capital markets. In addition, many of our
customers have slowed or postponed deployment of new networks and development of new products, which
reduces the demand for our services.

Further delays in the adoption and deployment of next generation wireless networks could negatively affect
the demand for our services and our ability to grow our revenues.

Wireless service providers may continue to delay their development of next generation technology if,
among other things, they expect slow growth in the adoption of next generation technology, reduced
profitability due to price competition for subscribers or regulatory delays. For example, even though wireless
service providers have made substantial investments worldwide in acquiring 3G licenses, many providers have
delayed deployment of 3G networks.

Since we expect that a substantial portion of our growth will be derived from services related to new
technologies, further delays in the adoption and deployment of new technologies such as 3G would negatively
affect the demand for our services and our ability to grow our revenues.

We may experience significant fluctuations in our quarterly results as a result of uncertainties relating to our
ability to generate additional revenues, manage our expenditures and other factors, certain of which are
outside of our control.

Our quarterly and annual operating results have varied considerably in the past and are likely to vary
considerably due to a number of factors, including those factors discussed in this “Risk Factors” section.
Many of these factors are outside our control and include, among others:

« the timing of receipt of new licenses, use of existing spectrum for new services, or financing by potential
customers; )

« service and price competition;
+ the commencement, progress, completion or termination of contracts during any particular quarter;
+ the availability of equipment to deploy new technologies such as 3G and broadband;

+ the growth rate of wireless subscribers, which has a direct impact on the rate at which new cell sites are
developed and built; and

» telecommunications market conditions and economic conditions generally.

Due to these factors, our results for a particular quarter may not meet the expectations of securities
analysts and investors, which could cause the price of our class A common stock to decline significantly.
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Our contracts typically contain provisions giving customers the ability to terminate their contracts under
various circumstances and we may not be able to replace the revenues from such projects which may have an
adverse effect on our operating results due to our decreased revenues.

Our contracts typically have provisions that permit customers to terminate their contracts under various
circumstances, including termination for convenience. We also believe that intense competition and the
current trend in industry contracting toward shorter-term contracts that provide increased grounds for
customer termination may result in increased frequency of customer termination or renegotiation. If large
projects, or a number of projects that in the aggregate account for a material amount of our revenues, are
suspended for any significant length of time or terminated, we may encounter difficulty replacing such
revenues and our operating results would decline as a result of our decreased revenues.

We may not receive the full amount of our backlog, which could harm our business.

Our firm backlog was approximately $109 million at December 31, 2003. We define firm backlog as the
value of work-in-hand to be done with customers as of a specific date where the following conditions are met:

+ the price of the work to be done is fixed;

» the scope of the work to be done is fixed, both in definition and amount (for example, the number of
sites has been determined); and

- there is a written contract, purchase order, agreement or other documentary evidence which represents
a firm commitment by the client to pay us for the work to be performed.

We also had implied backlog of approximately $5 million as of December 31, 2003. We define implied
backlog as the estimated revenues from master service agreements and similar arrangements which have met
the first two conditions set forth above but for which we have not received a firm contractual commitment.

Our backlog includes orders under contracts that in some cases extend for several years. The amount of
our backlog that we may recognize as revenues during any fiscal quarter may vary significantly because the
receipt and timing of any revenues is subject to various contingencies, many of which are beyond our control.
Further, the actual realization of revenues on engagements included in our backlog may never occur or may
change because a project schedule could change or the project could be cancelled, or a contract could be
reduced, modified, or terminated early. If we fail to realize revenues from engagements included in our
backlog at December 31, 2003, our operating results for our 2004 fiscal year as well as future reporting penods
may be materially harmed due to decreased revenues.

We may not be able to promptly reduce expenses in response to any decrease in our revenues, which would
result in lower net margins.

We may not be able to reduce our expenses in order to timely correspond with any decrease in our
revenues and our failure to do so would decrease our gross profits. Efforts to reduce costs may include a
restructuring of our business, reduction in headcount, office closings and the reduction or elimination of other
administrative functions. Costs of compliance with domestic and international regulations associated with such
headcount reductions, particularly in Europe, the Middle East and Africa, where we anticipate considerable
growth, could be significant. Our efforts to reduce expenses could give rise to significant accounting charges
and the payment of certain separation or severance benefits. In 2002, we experienced difficulties reducing
general and administrative expenses at the same rate and in the same proportion as our revenues decreased in
that year. Any significant decrease in our revenues may have an immediate and material adverse effect on our
net margins.

An increasing percentage of our revenues comes from fixed price contracts, which require us to bear the risk
of cost overruns.

An increasing percentage of our revenues is derived from fixed price contracts and our reliance on fixed
price contracts may continue to grow. The portion of our revenues from fixed price contracts for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 was 44.5%, 61.1% and 79.1%, respectively. Under fixed price
contracts, we provide specific tasks for a specific price and are typically paid on a milestone basis. Such
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contracts involve greater financial risks because we bear the risk if actual project costs exceed the amounts we
are paid under the contracts.

Because we recognize revenues on fixed price contracts using the percentage-of-completion method of
accounting, increases in estimated project costs could cause fluctuations in our quarterly results and adversely
affect our operating results.

We recognize revenues on fixed price contracts using the percentage-of-completion method of account-
ing, which requires considerable judgment since this technique relies upon estimates or budgets. With the
percentage-of-completion method, in each period we recognize expenses as they are incurred and recognize
revenues based on the ratio of the current costs incurred for the project to the then estimated total costs of the
project. Accordingly, the revenues that we recognize in a given quarter depend on, among other things, costs
we have incurred for individual projects and our then current estimate of the total remaining costs to complete
individual projects. If in any period we significantly increase our estimate of the total costs to complete a
project, we may recognize very little or no additional revenues with respect to that project. If the total contract
cost estimates indicate that there is a loss, such loss is recognized in the period such determination is made. To
the extent that our cost estimates fluctuate over time or differ from actual costs, our operating results may be
materially affected. As a result of these challenges associated with fixed price contracts, our gross profit in
future periods may be significantly reduced or eliminated.

If the percentage of our revenues derived from construction related activities increases, our gross margins
and our net income may suffer.

We have historically earned lower relative gross margins on construction related activities. We typically
self-perform network design, site acquisition and zoning services and hire subcontractors to perform civil
engineering and construction services under our direct management. Subcontracted work generally carries
lower profit margins than self-performed work. If the proportion of construction related services we deliver
increases, then our gross margins and net income may suffer.

If we are unable to collect receivables from development stage customers and other telecommunications
companies, our operating results may be materially harmed.

We frequently perform services for development stage customers that carry a higher degree of financial
risk for us. Our customers, established and development stage, have been and may continue to be impacted by
the tightening of available credit and general economic slowdown. As a result of these conditions, our
customers may be unable to pay, or may delay payment, for services performed by us. If we are not able to
collect amounts owed to us by our customers, we may be required to write off significant accounts receivable
and recognize bad debt expense. For example, we recorded a provision for doubtful accounts of $5.0 million in
fiscal 2002, compared to our recording of a provision of doubtful accounts of $2.4 million in fiscal 2001. This
increase in doubtful accounts reflected increased losses from customers declaring bankruptcy or having other
financial difficulties during 2002, including $1.9 million due to one customer’s inability to procure additional
financing. Our operating results may be materially harmed if we are not able to collect amounts due from our
customers.

If more of our customers require fixed price contracts with fewer milestones than in previous years, we may
not have sufficient access to working capital to fund the operating expenses incurred in connection with such
contracts, and we may not be able to perform under our existing contracts or accept new contracts with similar
terms.

A number of our customers are requiring fixed price contracts with fewer milestones than in previous
years. We may incur significant operating expenses in connection with such contracts and may not receive
corresponding payments until the milestones have been completed. We may need to use our available cash to
cover operating expenses incurred in connection with such contracts until we complete the milestones, invoice
our customers and collect payments. This may result in increased needs for working capital, and if we do not
have access to sufficient capital to fund our working capital needs, we may not be able to perform under our
existing contracts or accept new contracts with similar terms.
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The extent of our dependence on international operations may give rise to increased management challenges
and could harm our resulls of operations.

Customers outside the United States accounted for 57.0% and 51.0% of our revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2003, respectively. The multi-jurisdictional nature of our revenues
exposes us to additional risks. Such risks include:

« the effects of terrorism;
o the general economic and political conditions in each country;

+ the effect of applicable foreign tax structures, including tax rates that may be higher than tax rates in
the United States;

« tariff and trade regulations;
+ management of a geographically diverse organization;

« difficulties and increased expenses in complying with a variety of foreign laws and regulations,
including labor, employment and immigration laws; and

+ changes in the applicable industry regulatory environments in foreign countries, including delays in
deregulation or privatization affecting the pace at which wireless licenses are awarded.

Expansion of our international operations may require significant expenditure of operating, financial and
management resources and result in increased administrative and compliance costs that could harm our results
of operations.

Providing services outside the United States carries the additional risk of currency fluctuations and foreign
exchange controls imposed by certain countries since many of our non-U.S. projects are undertaken in local
currency.

Although we generally incur project expenses in the same currency in which payments are received under
the contract, we do not currently engage in additional currency hedging activities to limit the risk of exchange
rate fluctuations. Therefore, fluctuations in the currency exchange rate could have a negative impact on the
profitability of our operations particularly if: (i) we cannot incur project expenses in the same currency in
which payments are received under the contract; and (ii) there is a negative impact when converting back to
United States dollars. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operation — Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk and Foreign Exchange Risk.”

We fuace intense competition from many competitors that have greater resources than we do, which could
result in price reductions, reduced profitability and loss of market share.

We face intense competition in the market for wireless network design and system deployment services.
Wireless service providers themselves and system equipment vendors, some of whom are our customers, have
developed and continue to develop capabilities competitive with those provided by us.

Many competitors, including equipment vendors and system integrators, have substantially greater
financial and other resources than we do and may use such greater resources to more effectively deliver a full
turnkey solution. For example, a competitor that is able to provide equipment as part of its solution or to
quickly deploy a large number of personnel for a project poses a threat to our business.

Competition can increase pressure on our pricing. For example, in a deployment project we typically
provide program management services as well as site development and construction services. We may be
pressured to reduce our pricing with respect to either our program management services or our site
development and construction services in an attempt to compete with: (i) the operator, who may be inclined
to provide program management services itself; or (ii) our own subcontractors, who may be able to provide the
services directly to the customer for the same or lower price. In addition, there is a risk that our subcontractors
may build relationships with our customers over time and compete with us for their business.
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Lastly, as a result of intense competition, we continue to encounter and may be required to agree to less
favorable contract terms, including provisions such as liquidated damages, performance guarantees and
deferred payment terms.

If we are not able to compete effectively, our ability to attract and retain customers will be adversely
affected, which will decrease our revenues and negatively affect our operating results.

If we fail 1o manage the size of our billable workforce to anticipate increases or decreases in market demand
Jor our services, it could harm our competitive position and financial results.

If we maintain or increase billable staffing levels in anticipation of one or more projects and those projects
are delayed, reduced or terminated, or otherwise do not materialize, we may underutilize these personnel,
which would increase our cost of revenues, harming our results of operations. Due to current economic
conditions and the corresponding effect on our customers or potential customers, it is extremely difficult to
project accurately the demand for our services and, correspondingly, maintain an appropriately sized billable
workforce. If we maintain a billable workforce sufficient to support a resurgence in demand and such demand
does not materialize, then our expenses will be high relative to revenues. If we reduce the size of our billable
workforce in response to any industry slowdown or decrease in the demand for services, then we may not
maintain a sufficient number of skilled personnel to be able to effectively respond to any resurgence. As a
result of these insufficient staffing levels, our competitive position in the industry could be negatively impacted
and we could incur increased recruiting costs to replace our billable workforce. To the extent that we are
unable to successfully anticipate increases or decreases in market demand for our services and manage the size
of our billable workforce accordingly, we could lose customers to our competitors or underuiilize our
personnel. In either case, our financial results will suffer.

Competitors that offer financing to wireless customers pose a threat to our ability to compete for business.

Wireless service providers, particularly new providers and new licensees, depend increasingly on wireless
telecommunications equipment vendors to supply and to finance the deployment of entire wireless networks.
Frequently, those vendors only make financing available for services or products if they are contracted to
provide the services themselves. For services the vendors do not provide directly, financing is provided only if
they have the right to select the providers of those services and products, including radio frequency
engineering and network deployment services. We face similar competition from tower ownership and
management companies that provide tower deployment services as part of their overall leasing package or as
part of a build-to-suit financing package. We do not typically provide these types of financing to our wireless
customers. To the extent that wireless companies continue to seek such financing, it would harm our ability to
compete for such business.

Our inability to anticipate or adapt to changes in technology may harm our competitive position, reputation
and opportunities for revenue growth. ‘

We operate in a highly competitive environment that is subject to rapid technological changes and the
emergence of new technologies. Our future revenues depend significantly upon the adoption and deployment
by wireless customers of new technologies. Our success will depend on our ability to timely enhance our
current service offerings to keep pace with new technologies and the changing needs of our customers. If we
are not successful in responding to technological changes or industry or marketplace developments, we may
not be able to compete effectively, which could harm our reputation and opportunities for future revenue
growth.

We may not be able to hire or retain a sufficient number of qualified engineers and other employees to meet
our contractual commitments or maintain the quality of our services.

As a service business our success depends significantly on our ability to attract, train and retain
engineering, system deployment, managerial, marketing and sales personnel who have excellent technicai
skills, particularly as technology changes, as well as the interpersonal skills crucial to fostering client
satisfaction. Competition within the wireless industry for employees with the required range of skills
fluctuates, depending on customer needs, and can be intense, particularly for radio frequency engineers. At
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times we have had difficulty recruiting and retaining qualified technical personnel to properly and quickly staff
large customer projects. In addition to recruitment difficulties, we must fully and properly train our employees
according to our customers’ technology requirements and deploy and fully integrate each employee into our
customers’ projects. Increased competition in the wireless industry is increasing the level of specific technical
experience and training required to fulfill customer-staffing requirements. This process is costly and resource
constraints may impede our ability to quickly and effectively train and deploy all of the personnel required to
staff a large project.

Because we have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, long sales cycles, we expect to incur
significant costs to generate new business and our cusiomer base may not experience growth commensurate
With such costs.

Purchases of our services by customers often entail a lengthy decision-making process for the customer.
Selecting wireless network deployment services involves substantial costs and has strategic implications.
Senior management of the customer is often involved in this process, given the importance of the decision, as
well as the risks faced by the customer if the services do not meet the customer’s particular needs. We may
expend substantial funds and effort to negotiate agreements for these services, but may ultimately be unable to
consummate agreements for services and expand our customer base. In addition, we have increasingly been
required to change both our personnel and the techniques we employ to respond to customer organizational
changes and expanded geographic reach. Customer buying habits currently seem to favor a regionalized sales
force, which can increase costs, and may prove to be ineffective. As a result of our lengthy sales cycles and
these potential increased costs, we expect to continue to incur relatively high costs to generate new business.

We may not be able to successfully achieve the expected benefits of our acquisitions.

We have made three acquisitions since December 2001 and may make additional acquisitions in the
future. The three companies acquired are small, regional operations that are highly dependent on the
relationships between the principals of such companies and our customers.

Our acquisition strategy is designed to leverage the acquired company’s relationships with our customers
in the local market in order to either: (i) build a turnkey services offering to the customer in the respective
market; or (ii) expand the customer relationship to additional markets. We may not be able to successfully
increase our services to the customer in the same market, leverage the relationship to expand outside the
market, or ultimately build customer loyalty at a company-wide level.

Future acquisitions of new companies or technologies may result in disruption to our business and expose us
to risks associated with acquisitions.

We may make future acquisitions of, or investments in, other companies or technologies. Any future
acquisitions or investments may require additional debt or equity financing, or the issuance of shares, which
could be dilutive to our existing stockholders. In addition, our operating results may suffer as a result of any
acquisition-related costs or impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets acquired in connection with an
acquisition (please see note 11 to our consolidated financial statements on page 51). In addition, acquisitions
could expose us to a number of other risks and challenges, including: S

« diversion of management’s attention and resources;

+ potential loss of key employees and customers of the acquired companies;

+ difficult and costly integration of operations;

« lack of experience operating in the geographic market or industry sector of the acquired business;
« an increase in our expenses and working capital requirements; and

» exposure 1o unanticipated contingent liabilities of acquired companies.

Any of these and other factors could disrupt our business and harm our ability to achieve the anticipated
benefits of an acquisition.
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If wireless service providers, network equipment vendors and enterprises perform more network deployment
services themselves, our business will suffer.

Our success depends upon the continued trend by wireless service providers and network equipment
vendors to outsource their network design, deployment and management needs. If this trend does not continue
or is reversed and wireless service providers and network equipment vendors elect to perform more network
deployment services themselves, our operating results may be adversely affected due to the decline in the
demand for our services.

The consolidation of equipment vendors or wireless service providers could adversely impact our business.

The wireless telecommunications industry has been characterized by significant consolidation activity.
This consolidation and the potential continuing trend towards future consolidation within the wireless
telecommunications industry may lead to a greater ability among equipment vendors and wireless service
providers to provide a comprehensive range of network services, and may simplify integration and installation,
which could lead to a reduction in demand for our services. Moreover, the consolidation of equipment vendors
or wireless service providers could reduce the number of our current or potential customers and increase the
bargaining power of our remaining customers which may put downward pressure on our prices and cause our
revenues and operating results to decline.

Government regulations may adversely affect our business.

The wireless networks that we design, deploy and manage are subject to various FCC regulations in the
United States and other international regulations. These regulations require that these networks meet certain
radio frequency emission standards, not cause unallowed interference to other services, and in some cases
accept interference from other services. Changes in the regulation of our activities, including changes in the
allocation of available spectrum by the United States government and other governments or exclusion of our
technology by a standards body, could have a harmful effect on our business, operating results, liquidity and
financial position.

If we fail to retain our key personnel and attract and retain additional qualified personnel, our ability to
operate our business may be adversely affected.

Our future success and our ability to sustain our revenue growth depend upon the continued service of our
executive officers and other key personnel. The loss of any of our key employees, in particular C. Thomas
Faulders, 111, our chairman of the board and chief executive officer, could adversely affect our ability to
generate revenues and operate our business. We do not have an employment agreement or any other
agreement that obligates Mr. Faulders to remain with us.

RF Investors, L.L.C., whose interests may not be aligned with yours, controls our company, which could
result in actions of which you or other stockholders do not approve.

RF Investors owns all of the outstanding shares of our outstanding class B common stock, which carries
10 to 1 voting rights and represents approximately 70% of the combined voting power of our class A and
class B common stock. These shares may be sold without the participation of any other stockholder in the sale;
however, when shares of class B common stock are sold, the shares automatically convert to class A common
stock and lose the 10 to 1 voting rights. RF Investors, its parent company Telcom Ventures, L.L.C., and its
equity holders (which include our directors Dr. Rajendra and Neera Singh) are able, without approval of any
other stockholder, to control our operations and maintenance and the outcome of all matters that our
stockholders vote upon, including the election of directors, amendments to our certificate of incorporation, and
mergers or other business combinations.

RF Investors may also, by converting its shares of our class B common stock into shares of our class A
common stock, obtain a sufficient number of shares of class A common stock (approximately 19% of the total
outstanding shares of class A common stock) to influence the outcome of any vote on which the holders of
class A common stock are entitled to vote together as a class.
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Dr. Rajendra and Neera Singh, who with certain Singh family trusts indirectly control Telcom Ventures,
are our directors. Telcom Ventures 1s principally engaged in making investments in wireless service providers
and emerging wireless and Internet technologies. If we desire to pursue a transaction requiring stockholder
approval that may conflict with the interests of Telcom Ventures, RF Investors may elect to vote its shares to
block such transaction and could prevent our stockholders from receiving a premium over the market price if a
change of control of our company is proposed. These individuals and entities, in their capacity as stockholders,
may choose to vote their shares in whatever manner they view to be in their best interest.

Significant sales of class A common stock in the future may depress the trading price of our class A common
stock.

Ownership of a significant portion of our class A common stock is concentrated in the hands of a few
stockholders. Assuming the conversion of all of RF Investors’ shares of class B common stock into shares of
class A common stock, RF Investors owns 4,537,577 shares of class A common stock. MCI owns 1,420,549
shares of class A common stock.

An aggregate of approximately 4,699,786 shares of our class A common stock (including shares issuable
upon conversion of class B common stock) held by RF Investors, Telcom Ventures, and our directors and
executive officers are eligible for sale pursuant to the provisions of Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended. In addition, all of the shares of our class A common stock held by MCI may be resold without
compliance with the resale restrictions of Rule 144,

Sales of a significant number of shares (whether by these stockholders or by stockholders who own, or
may accumulate in the future, a significant number of shares) in a single public transaction or over a period of
time, or the market perception that such sales may occur, could depress the trading price of our class A
common stock and may make it more difficult for us to sell our equity securities in the future at a time and
price deemed to be appropriate.

Our relationship with Telcom Ventures may result in potential conflicts of interest.

Telcom Ventures, RF Investors’ parent company, is principally engaged in making investments in
wireless service providers and emerging wireless and Internet technologies. Dr. Rajendra and Neera Singh,
who are members of our board of directors, are also directors of Telcom Ventures and its subsidiaries and have
certain fiduciary obligations to each organization. Telcom Ventures and directors of Telcom Ventures and its
subsidiaries who are also our directors may be subject to conflicts of interest in transactions concerning us. For
example, we may have an interest in pursuing acquisitions, divestitures, financings or other transactions that,
in our judgment, could be beneficial to us, even though such transactions might conflict with the interests of
Telcom Ventures. These individuals and entities, in their capacity as stockholders, may choose to vote their
shares in whatever manner they view to be in their best interest.

We currently allow the employees of Telcom Ventures to participate in our employee benefit plans in
exchange for full reimbursement of our cash costs, and we may provide other services to Telcom Ventures in
the future. If we do not receive reimbursement for our costs and expenses associated with such services, Telcom
Ventures and its affiliates would receive a benefit not shared by, and to the detriment of, our other
stockholders.

Prior to our initial public offering, both our employees and the employees of Telcom Ventures were
eligible to participate in our life, medical, dental and 401 (k) plans. In connection with our initial public
offering in 1996, we agreed to allow the employees of Telcom Ventures to continue to participate in our life,
medical, dental and 401 (k) plans in exchange for full reimbursement of our cash costs and expenses as well as
the payment (until December 2001) of an administrative fee. Telcom Ventures had ten employees in 1996
and currently has three employees. We entered into this agreement as an accommodation to Telcom Ventures.

Pursuant to our audit committee charter adopted in March 2003, our audit committee must review the
settlement of any dispute under this agreement, if one should arise, and must review in the future any
agreements of this type that we may enter into with Telcom Ventures or other related parties. If in the future
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we do not receive from Telcom Ventures full reimbursement of our costs and expenses, Telcom Ventures will
receive a benefit not shared by, and to the detriment of, our other stockholders.

During 2000, we had an understanding with Telcom Ventures pursuant to which we retained five
employees who had previously worked in our business development group while these employees pursued
business opportunities on Telcom Ventures’ behalf. Telcom Ventures reimbursed us for the costs incurred in
employing these persons. Further, we have provided engineering services to Telcom Ventures and various
other companies majority-owned or controlled by Telcom Ventures.

Our stock price and trading volume are volatile and could decline, resulting in a substantial loss on your
investment.

The stock market in general, and the market for technology-related stocks in particular, is highly volatile.
As a result, the market price of our class A common stock is likely to be similarly volatile, and investors in our
class A common stock may experience a decrease in the value of their stock, including decreases unrelated to
our operating performance or prospects. In addition, for the period from January | to December 31, 2003, the
average daily trading volume for our class A common stock as reported by The NASDAQ National Market
was approximately 62,644 shares. Accordingly, the price of our class A common stock and the trading volume
of our class A common stock could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to a number of factors,
including those listed in this “Risk Factors™ section and others such as:

» our operating performance and the performance of other similar companies or companies deemed to be
similar;

e actual or anticipated differences in our quarterly operating results;

+ changes in our revenues or earnings estimates or recommendations by securities analysts;
+ publication of research reports about us or our industry by securities analysts;

» additions and departures of key personnel;

« strategic decisions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions, consolidations, divestments, spin-offs,
joint ventures, strategic investments, or changes in business strategy;

« the passage of legislation or other regulatory developments that adversely affect us or our industry;
« speculation in the press or investment community;

» changes in accounting principles;

+ terrorist acts;

+ general market conditions, including economic factors unrelated to our performance; and

« political or military events related to international conflicts, wars, or otherwise.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods
of volatility in their stock price. This type of litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our
management’s attention and resources.

Item 2. Properties

We currently lease approximately 155,000 square feet of office space at our headquarters in McLean,
Virginia, under a ten-year lease expiring in 2007. We occupy approximately 40,000 square feet of the McLean
facility and currently sublease approximately 55,000 square feet to subtenants. Approximately 60,000 square
feet were vacant as of December 31, 2003 and we are actively pursuing additional subleasing opportunities.

We lease approximately 8,600 square feet of office space at our Europe, Middle East and Africa, or
EMEA, regional headquarters in London, England, under a 13-year lease expiring in September 2014. We
occupy approximately 2,200 square feet of the London facility. In 2003, we assigned approximately 2,200
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square feet to a third party assignee. Approximately 4,200 square feet were vacant as of December 31, 2003
and we are actively pursuing subleasing opportunities.

In addition, we lease office space in connection with our local operations in North and South America
(Mission Viejo, California and Sao Paulo, Brazil), the United Kingdom (Cambridge, Bath, Newark, Enfield
and Glasgow), Italy (Rome and Milan), The Netherlands (’s Hertogenbosch). We also lease space in
connection with our regional marketing efforts in Spain.

All of our facilities are used for current operations of all segments.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time we are party to legal proceedings. We do not believe that any of the pending
proceedings would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
However, we have no assurance that an unfavorable decision in any such legal proceeding would not have a
material adverse effect.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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. PARTII

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuers Purchases of
Equity Securities

Since completion of our initial public offering in September 1996, our class A common stock has been
quoted on the NASDAQ National Market under the trading symbol “LCCI.” As of March 22, 2004, there
were 103 stockholders of record of the class A common stock and one stockholder of record of the class B
common stock. As of March 22, 2004, we estimate there were in excess of 5,000 beneficial holders of class A
common stock. The following table summarizes the high and low sales prices of the class A common stock by
fiscal quarter for 2002 and 2003 as reported on the NASDAQ National Market:

Quarter Ended: 2002

March 31 oo $4.03 to $7.59
June 30 . $1.22 to $5.35
September 30 ... ... .. e $1.22 to $2.55
December 31 ... i $1.20 to $2.40
Quarter Ended: 2003

MarCh 31 ..ot $1.87 to $2.67
June 30 ... $2.05 to $3.15
September 30 .. ... .. . . $2.48 to $6.00
December 31 ..ot $4.15 to $6.85

We have never paid any cash dividends on Common Stock and we do not anticipate paying dividends on
the Common Stock, cash or otherwise, in the foreseeable future. Future dividends, if any, will be at the
discretion of the Board of Directors and will depend upon, among other things, our operations, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions and such other factors as the
Board of Directors may deem relevant.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table presents a summary of outstanding stock options and securities available for future
grant under our equity compensation plans.
Number of securities

Number of securities remaining available for
to be issued upon Weighted-average future issuance under equity
exercise of exercise price of compensation plans
outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))
Plan category (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by
securities holders
Employee Stock Option Plan ........ 4,142,057 $ 5.80 2,507,353
Directors Stock Option Plan (Class A
Common Stock) ................. 158,400 8.11 91,600
Directors Stock Option Plan (Class B
Common Stock)*............. P . 90,000 10.56. —
Employee Stock Purchase Plan ...... — — 440,513
Equity compensation plans not approved
by security holders . ................ — — -
Total ........ ... .. ... .. ... ... 4,390,457 $ 5.98 3,039,466

* Although the directors stock option plan authorizes the issuance of up to 250,000 shares of class B common stock, the
final grant of such options occurred in May 2000 pursuant to the terms of the directors stock option plan.

Note: We have also granted options to purchase 30,000 shares of class A common stock to
TC Group L.L.C. These options were not issued under one of our equity compensation plans and therefore are
not included in the above table.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Set forth below are selected consolidated financial data as of and for each of the years in the five-year
period ended December 31, 2003, which have been derived from our consolidated financial statements. The
selected consolidated financial data set forth below should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated financial
statements and related notes thereto included in this Form 10-K.

Years Ended December 31,
1999(1) 2000 2001 2002 2003
(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenues:
Service . $73,289  $149,385  $130,609 $ 67,069 $108,439
Tower ownership and management ......................... 2,504 1,008 — — —
Total revenues ... ..ot e 75,793 150,393 130,609 67,069 108,439
Cost of revenues:
SeIVICE e 53,080 109,952 103,535 58,429 88,998
Tower ownership and management......................... 1,176 333 — — —
Total cost of revenues........... ..., 54,256 110,285 103,535 58,429 88,998
Gross Profit .. ... e 21,537 40,108 27,074 8,640 19,441
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing . . ... e 5,464 7,833 7,068 8,095 6,624
General and administrative . ......... ... . i, 18,128 19,673 15,978 20,311 18,508
Restructuring charge. .............. ... i i — (108) — 13,522 2)
Non-cash compensation ..............oiviienniieiannnn.. (12) — — — —
Gain on sale of tower portfolio and administration, net ........ — (26,437) (2,998) (2,000) —
Depreciation and amortization. . .......... ... ... .. ... .. 3,628 2,899 3,012 2,884 3,860
Total operating expenses .............c.c.oviieeninians 27,208 3,860 23,060 42,812 28,990
Operating income (I08S) ... .vvtt i eiainns (5,671) 36,248 4,014 (34,172) (9,549)
Other income (expense)
Interest income (expense), n€t ... (1,827) 1,688 1,886 818 325
OhET L e (1,391) (787) 22,113 (3,767) 1,218
Total other income (expense) ............. ... ..ovvun. (3,218) 901 23,999 (2,949) 1,543
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes ...  (8,889) 37,149 28,013 (37,121) (8,006)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes.......................... (2,677) 16,531 11,041 (8,451) (1,483)
Income (loss) from continuing operations . .. .................. (6,212) 20,618 16,972 (28,670) (6,523)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations net of tax provision .. 803 — — — —
Net income (J0SS) . ..ottt e et $(5,409) $ 20,618 §$ 16,972 $(28,670) § (6,523)
Income (loss) per share:
Continuing operations:
BaSiC . oo $ (036) $§ 101 $ 083 $ (1.37) § (0.31)
Diluted ... .o N $(036) $ 093 $ 081 $ (1.27) $ (0.31)
Discontinued operations:
Basic. ..o $ 0.05 — — — —
Diluted .. ... $ 0.05 — — — —
Net income (loss) per share:
BasiC . i ittt $ (031) $§ 101 § 08 § (1.37) § (0.31)
Diluted .. ... e $(031) $§ 093 3% 081 $ (1.37) $ (031)
Weighted average shares outstanding:
BasiC . o e 17,302 20,360 20,571 20,902 21,292
Diluted ... e e 17,302 22,110 20,916 20,902 21,292
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data (at year-end):
Cash and short-term investments .......................... $ 2,037 $ 42335 § 53,142 § 39,329 § 31,031
Working capital . ......... (8,039) 59,460 72,134 49,959 54,980
Goodwill and intangibles, net ............ .. oo 430 57 637 11,273 11,958
Total @SSEIS ...\ttt e 82,368 110,045 112,231 96,723 118,591
Total debt .. ... i e e 4,535 —_ — —_ 1,840
Shareholders’ equity ..........cc i 42,426 68,416 85,804 61,088 69,768

(1) In March 1999, our board of directors adopted a plan to dispose of the operations comprising our hardware and
software products segments, which were sold to Ericsson Radio Systems AB in October 1999.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial
statements and the notes thereto and the other financial data appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Overview

We provide integrated end-to-end solutions for wireless voice and data communications networks with
offerings ranging from high level technical consulting, to system design and turnkey deployment, to ongoing
management and optimization services. We have been successful on occasion in using initial opportunities to
provide high level technical consulting services to secure later-stage system design and deployment contracts.
Long-term engagements to provide design and deployment services also enable us to secure ongoing
management and operations projects. Providing ongoing operations and maintenance services also positions us
well for additional opportunities as new technologies continue to be developed and wireless service providers
must either upgrade their existing networks or deploy new networks utilizing the latest available technologies.

We provide these services through a regional organization, which comprises two principal regions and
several smaller divisions. In 2003, we redefined our operating segments to be compatible with this regional
organization. Our primary operating segments are Americas and EMEA (Europe, Middle East and Africa).

Americas: Headquartered near Los Angeles, California, the Americas region provides the full range of
service offerings to wireless operators and equipment vendors through a network of project offices in North
America, Central and South America. In 2003, Americas generated approximately 49% of our total revenue.

EMEA: Based in London, the Europe, Middle East and Africa region is responsible for operations in the
UK., Italy, Netherlands, Algeria, Germany, Spain and Greece. EMEA also undertakes projects throughout
its region and we have recently established a marketing office in Dubai. In 2003, EMEA also generated
approximately 49% of our total revenue.

Asia & other: This includes our operations in Asia, the Wireless Institute and our new Wireline division.
In 2003, these combined operations generated approximately 2% of our total revenues, Our operations in Asia
comprise a marketing office in Sydney and representative offices in Beijing and Singapore. Our joint venture
with BOCO is also based in Beijing. We provide training to our engineers and customers through our Wireless
Institute, which covers the latest technologies developed and employed throughout the world. In 2003, we
formed L.CC Wireline, Inc., to pursue wireline-related contracts with CLECs and ILECs.

The key drivers of growth in our wireless services business have been:

+ the issuance of new or additional licenses to wireless service providers, which generates new network
build out;

« the introduction of new services or technologies such as wireless number portability, or WNP, satellite
digital radio, wireless broadband, and push-to-talk services;

+ the increases in the number of subscribers served by wireless service providers, the increase in usage by
those subscribers, and the scarcity of wireless spectrum, which require wireless service providers to
expand and optimize system coverage and capacity to maintain network quality; and

« the increasing complexity of wireless systems in operation, which requires wireless service providers to
upgrade their existing networks or deploy new networks to benefit from the latest available
technologies.

Our primary sources of revenues are from engineering design and system deployment services. Revenues
from services are derived both from fixed price and time and materials contracts. We recognize revenues from
fixed price service contracts using the percentage-of-completion method and therefore recognize revenues
based on the ratio of individual contract costs incurred to date on a project compared with total estimated
costs. Anticipated contract losses are recognized as they become known and estimable. We recognize revenues
on time and materials contracts as the services are performed.
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Cost of revenues includes direct compensation and benefits, living and travel expenses, payments te third-
party subcontractors and consultants, equipment rentals, expendable computer software and equipment, and
allocated, or directly attributed, facility and overhead costs identifiable to projects.

General and administrative expenses consist of compensation, benefits, office and occupancy, and other
costs required for the finance, human resources, information systems, and executive office functions. Sales and
marketing expenses consist of salaries, benefits, sales commissions, travel and other related expenses required
to implement our marketing, sales and customer support plans.

We generate cash from fixed price contracts by billings associated with contract milestones, which are
typically agreed with our customers at the time the contracts are negotiated. For our time and materials
contracts, we usually bill our customers on a monthly basis as services are performed. On large network
deployment contracts, which involve the design and construction of complex wireless networks, it is
increasingly common for our customers to require fewer contract milestones than in previous years. This
results in extending the periods during which we are obliged to fund our operating costs until a milestone can
be billed to the customer. This increases the capital that we require to operate the business, and is evidenced
by increases in unbilled receivables on our balance sheet. This is an integral part of our business and we are
constantly striving to manage our working capital requirements. We expect to experience increasing demands
for working capital in the future as we grow our revenues.

Another critical statistic that we monitor is our contract backlog, which at December 31, 2003, comprised
firm backlog of $109 million and implied backlog of $5 million. We expect that our contract backlog will vary
from time to time as we deliver contract revenues and win new awards. Given that our backlog in 2003
reached a record level for our design and deployment services, it is reasonable to expect that our backlog may
decrease over the near term.

Since 1999, we have engaged in a number of business dispositions, acquisitions and investments, some of
which have either generated significant cash proceeds or created significant requirements for cash and these
transactions significantly affect the year-to-year comparability of our financial statements. For example, in
1999 we disposed of our hardware and software products business for cash proceeds of about $22 million; in
2000, we sold our tower business for cash proceeds of about $72 million; and in 2001, we sold certain of our
interests in NextWave Telecom, Inc., or NextWave, for cash proceeds of about $21 million. Later in that year
and during 2002, we acquired operations in our EMEA region, which required cash of approximately $10
million. In 2003 we sold further interests in NextWave for another $1 million and we initiated our investment
in the joint venture in China, which has a total cash commitment of about $1 million. We expect to continue
to consider business dispositions, acquisitions and investments as a way of supporting our longer-term
strategies.

Trends That Have Affected or May Affect Results of Operations and Financial Condition
The major trends that have affected or may affect our business are as follows:

* project related revenues derived from a limited set of customers in each market where we do business;

« the difficulties that our customers often face in obtaining financing to fund the development, expansion
and upgrade of their networks;

» the acceleration or the delay associated with the introduction of new technologies and services by our
customers;

+ the management and the services composition of our fixed price contracts; and

» increased spending by wireless service providers in the areas of network design, deployment and
optimization.

Our business is characterized by a limited number of projects awarded by a limited number of customers.
This can lead to volatility in our results as projects initially ramp up and then wind down. As projects are
completed, we are faced with the task of replacing project revenues with new projects, either from the same
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customer or from new customers. For example, the completion of the XM Satellite Radio project (the
“XM Project”) in the first quarter of 2002 caused our revenues in 2002 to decline dramatically from our
revenues in 2001. The delay in replacing revenues derived from the XM Project contract and the difficult
marketplace caused gross profit as a percentage of total revenues to decline and our cost reduction measures
were not sufficient to return us to profitability. 1n addition, the wireless industry is composed of a relatively
small number of wireless service providers and equipment vendors, and this inevitably leads to issues of
customer concentration. Consequently, our business may be affected in any single market by the changing
priorities of a small group of customers.

Some of our customers have faced difficulty in obtaining the necessary financing to fund the develop-
ment, expansion and upgrade of their networks. The slowdown in the world economies since 2000 and the
volatility in the financial markets have made it increasingly difficult for our customers to predict both future
demand for their services and future levels of capital expenditure. This has resulted in the delay or
postponement of the development of new networks and expansion and the upgrade of existing networks, all of
which have had and may continue to have a negative impact on our business.

We tend to benefit from projects undertaken by our customers to introduce new technologies and services
in their networks and we tend to suffer when projects are delayed. For example, the introduction of 3G
equipment and services by several major wireless service providers in Europe has resulted in an increase in
demand for our services in certain markets. Revenues from 3G networks constituted approximately 20.0% and
44.8% of our total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively, and it is expected
to continue to be an area of business growth in the future.

We have experienced an increase in the percentage of fixed price contracts awarded by our customers,
and we expect this trend to continue. A recent trend is for the award of fixed price contracts to cover the
design and deployment of a certain geographic network area on a full turnkey basis, including planning,
engineering design, site acquisition, construction and deployment services. In 2003, approximately 21.2% of
our revenues were generated by work done by subcontractors, principally for construction related activities,
and approximately 78.8% of our revenues were generated by work that we perform through our own warkforce.
To the extent that these large turnkey projects include a relatively large proportion of construction related
activities, we expect that the composition of our revenues by delivery method will vary so as to decrease the
proportion of services that we perform ourselves through our own workforce and increase the services that we
deliver through third parties, typically subcontractors for construction. A consequence of this change in mix
may be to reduce our average gross margins because subcontracted work generally commands lower margins.

We believe our Americas region may benefit from increased spending by certain United States wireless
service providers. Despite some estimates that 2003 capital expenditures by United States wireless service
providers would be lower than expenditures for 2002, we observed an increase in spending in the areas of
network design, deployment and optimization by several of these providers. This increased spending can be
attributed to several trends: (i) the preparation for number portability which was implemented on Novem-
ber 24, 2003; (ii) license swaps as a result of wireless service providers trying to maximize spectrum utilization
and increase coverage; (iii) network quality enhancement programs to reduce churn; (iv) network expansion
and capacity programs geared toward enabling new and enhanced services; and (v) other miscellaneous
network upgrades and enhancements required for market share maintenance and competitive reasons.

For example, Sprint engaged us in July 2003 to perform project management and deployment services in
Sprint’s Northern Central region and to provide radio frequency engineering and cell site acceptance testing
throughout several of Sprint’s other regions. We estimate that the value of the Sprint contract is approximately
$66 million and the duration of the engagement to be between 15 to 20 months.

U.S. Cellular engaged us in April 2003 to perform project management and radio frequency engineering
services primarily in Midwest and Northeast markets. We estimate that the value of the U.S. Cellular contract
is approximately $39 million and the duration of the engagement to be between 12 to 18 months.

We have also observed an increase in spending on wireless networks in developing countries. For
example, in early 2003, we commenced two new projects in Algeria, building upon the presence that we
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established in that country in 2001. The projects in Algeria include consulting services, equipment supply and
turnkey deployment. Our business in Algeria contributed a significant part of our revenues in 2003 for the
EMEA region, and we anticipate that we will continue to generate significant revenues from opportunities of
this nature in the future. For example, we were selected in March 2004 by STC to provide approximately
$27.2 million worth of engineering consulting services for the expansion of STC’s GSM network in Saudi
Arabia over 12 months, with the possibility of renewal for an additional year at STC’s discretion.

Results of Operations

The discussion below provides information which management believes is relevant to an assessment and
understanding of our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. The discussion should be read
in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes thereto included elsewhere
herein.

Revenues, Cost of Revenues and Gross Margins
Years Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
(in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands)
Revenues:
Americas ......... $101,780 $29,706 $ 53,086
EMEA ........... 23,385 34,755 53,296
Asia and other. . ... 5,444 2,608 2,057
$130,609 $67,069 $108,439
(% of revenue) (% of revenue) (% of revenue)
Cost of revenues:
Americas ......... $ 77,475 76.1% $26,965 90.8% $ 45,334 85.4%
EMEA ........... 22,832 97.6 29,600 85.2 42,196 79.2
Asia and other. . ... 3,228 59.3 1,864 71.5 1,468 71.4
$103,535 79.3% $58,429 87.1% $ 88,998 82.1%
Gross margin:
Americas ......... $ 24,305 23.9% $ 2,741 9.2% $ 7,752 14.6%
EMEA ........... 553 2.4 5,155 14.8 11,100 20.3
Asia and other. .. .. 2,216 40.7 744 28.5 589 28.6
$ 27,074 20.7% $ 8,640 12.9% $ 19,441 17.9%

Americas

In 2001, the XM Project accounted for $57.3 million or 56% of total revenue for the Americas region.
Revenues for the XM Project decreased to $3.4 million or 11% in 2002 and, at the same time, there was a
general slow down in wireless infrastructure spending and deployment in the US market. Revenue from
projects other than the XM Project fell from $44.5 million in 2001 to $26.3 million in 2002. Cost of revenues
and gross margins in 2001 were dominated by the XM Project, and in 2002 we incurred a loss of $0.2 million
to complete the XM Project. In addition in 2002, the region was not able to generate sufficient volumes from
work not related to the XM Project to fully absorb our overhead costs and this led to a reduced gross margin of
approximately 9%.

In 2003, the wireless market improved and opportunities increased for both RF/wireless design work and
for network deployment. In the second half of 2003, we began to recognize revenues associated with two large
network deployment contracts awarded earlier in the year, US Cellular and Sprint. The award of these major
contracts, together with the steady growth in the region’s RF/wireless design business, enabled the region to
bring its gross margins into a more normal expected range. During the year, the region increased its use of
subcontractors for the construction of cell sites in its network deployment business, and this also contributed to

27



an increase in its cost of revenues. In 2003, subcontractors represented 17% of the total revenue delivered by
the region.

It is expected that the revenues in the immediate future will be dominated by the execution of the
existing network deployment contracts already in backlog, while the RF/wireless design business should
continue to exhibit steady growth. We will continue to use subcontractors to construct cell sites as part of
network deployment activities. It is reasonable to expect that composition of revenues by delivery method,
being the mix of self-perform and subcontract revenues, will continue to change as the existing network
deployment projects are implemented and the emphasis moves from design and acquisition to cell site
construction. Despite this anticipated change in the mix of delivery, it is expected that gross margins will not
be materially different for the immediate future.

EMEA

In 2001, the EMEA region was composed of a number of stand-alone projects, including one large
project in Egypt, which accounted for $4.3 million of the region’s total revenue. We incurred a $2.3 million
loss in the same year to complete our project in Egypt resulting in a negative impact on 2001 gross margin.
Following a change in strategy in late 2001, we acquired operations in local markets in the region, specifically
Transmast in Italy in December 2001, Smith Woolley Telecom in the United Kingdom in January 2002 and
51% of Detron in The Netherlands in July 2002. The increase in revenues in the EMEA region between 2001
and 2002 is mostly attributable to the acquisition and subsequent growth of these operations. In addition, we
won our first contract in Algeria and this contributed approximately $1.9 million of revenue in 2002 but it had
no effect on the gross margin. The absolute increase in cost of revenues from 2001 to 2002 was mostly
attributable to the operations acquired in late 2001 and 2002, as described above.

In 2003, the acquired operations continued to grow, and we won additional programs in Algeria. Total
revenue from Algeria in 2003 amounted to $12.5 million or 23% of the total revenue for the region. Total gross
margin in 2003 for the region increased to approximately 21% of revenue. This reflected improved efficiencies
as the acquired operations grew in volume, coupled with a higher proportion of self-perform services from the
Algerian projects, which typically carry lower cost of revenues. ‘

It is expected that revenues in the immediate future are likely to reflect the continued growth of the
acquired operations, together with the growth of new operations in emerging markets in the region, at gross
margins broadly consistent with those experienced in 2003. While it is expected that Algeria will contribute
less revenues going forward, we will continue to pursue large multi-year services projects in the region such as
the new Saudi Arabian project, leveraging our reputation for engineering and technical consultancy.

Asia and other

Asia and other generated revenues of $5.4 million, $2.6 million and $2.0 million in 2001, 2002 and 2003,
respectively, which consisted of revenues from our Asian operations, our Wireless Institute and LCC Wireline.
In 2003, we closed an investment for a 49% share in a joint venture in Beijing, China, with BOCO. It is
anticipated that we will pursue opportunities in China primarily through this joint venture.

In 2003, we formed LCC Wireline, which focuses on providing technical services to CLECs and ILECs.
Although revenues were minimal, these operations may be a source of meaningful revenues in the future at
gross margins broadly consistent with the gross margins generally achieved by our company on other projects.
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Operating Expenses

Years Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003
(in thousands)

Operating expenses: ‘
Net bad debt expense or (recovery)....................... $(5,368) $ 2,729 $(2,419)

General and administrative .. ......... .. .. ... 21,346 17,582 20,927

Total general and administrative .. ...................... 15,978 20,311 18,508
Sale and marketing .. ......... ... i 7,068 8,095 6,624
Restructuring . ......... ... i — 13,522 (2)
Tower gain .. ... (2,998)  (2,000) —
Depreciation. . ... it e 3,012 2,884 3,860

$23,060 842,812  $28,990

In 2001, net bad debt recoveries of $5.4 million included recoveries of $7.5 million, offset by expenses of
$2.1 million. Recoveries were primarily related to our bankruptcy claims against DCR PCS, Inc. and Pocket
Communications, Inc. of about $35.0 million and a Malaysian corporation of about $2.5 million. These
receivables had been fully reserved for in previous years. In 2002, net expense of $2.7 million included
expenses of $4.3 million, offset by a final settlement from Pocket Communications, Inc. of $1.6 million.
Included in the expenses of $4.3 million were $1.9 million attributable to a provision against the receivable
arising on a project in Algeria, and $1.4 million attributable to the final settlement of the XM Project. In 2003,
the entire amount previously provided for in 2002 for the Algerian project was subsequently recovered.

General and administrative expenses, exclusive of bad debts (recoveries), decreased by $3.7 million or
17% from $21.3 million in 2001 to $17.6 million in 2002. General and administrative expenses in the Americas
region and corporate decreased by about $5.6 million as a result of our efforts to restructure the business
following the completion of the XM Project and the general reduction in the US market’s wireless
infrastructure spending. At the same time, general and administrative expenses in EMEA increased by about
$1.9 million in 2002 as a result of acquiring the operations in the region in late 2001 and 2002. In 2003, general
and administrative expenses increased by $3.3 million or 19%, reflecting a full year’s cost of support for the
acquired operations, their subsequent growth, and support for the additional contracts in Algeria.

Sales and marketing expenses increased initially from 2001 to 2002 by approximately $1.0 million or 15%,
mostly as the result of acquiring and then building local market operations in EMEA. In 2003, we decreased
sales and marketing expenses by $1.5 million or 18% through efficiencies in the EMEA region and the
reduction of costs in Asia following the strategic decision to focus on the joint venture in China.

In 2002, following the completion of the XM Project and the general reduction in the US market’s
wireless infrastructure spending, we restructured our operations and recorded a restructuring charge of
$13.5 million. Of this total charge, approximately $12.5 million related to excess office space and $1.0 million
to severance costs for about 140 employees.

In 2000, we agreed to sell certain telecommunication towers, and, as part of that agreement, we agreed to
lease unoccupied space on those towers. Consequently, about $5 million of the gain realized on the sale of the
towers in 2000 was deferred until the unoccupied space was leased, and this resulted in us recognizing
$3 million of the gain in 2001 and the balance of $2 million in 2002.

1n 2003, we ceased using the trade name acquired at the time of the purchase of Smith Woolley Telecom
in January 2002. Therefore, depreciation and amortization expense in 2003 included the write off about
$0.5 million, which was the unamortized balance of intangible cost allocated to the trade name.
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Other Income and Expense

Years Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
(in thousands)

Other income (expense):

Interest INCOME . .. vttt e et $ 189 §$§ 840 $ 447
INterest EXPeNSE. . oottt ettt e (13) (22) (122)
Other:
Gain (loss) on investments ...............covviinneiinn.. 22,394 1,104 1,000
Impairment of assets ............ ...t —_— (5,139) —
Other .. (281) 268 218

2,113 (3,767) 1218
$23,999  $(2,949) $1,543

Interest income reduced in 2001, 2002, and 2003 as a result of lower average balances of cash deposits
combined with decreases in available yields on short-term investments.

Gain on investments in 2001 related to the sale of our interests in NextWave ($21.4 million) and
Tecnosistemi ($1.0 million). In 2002, we disposed of 82% of our interest in an Egyptian operation and
subsequently recorded a gain of $1.1 million. In 2003, we sold a prepetition bankruptcy interest in NextWave
and recorded a gain of $1.0 million.

In 2002, we recorded impairment charges for our investments in Plan + Design Netcare AG
($4.6 million) and Mobilocity, Inc. ($0.5 million).

Tax Benefit or (Expense)
Years Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
Statutory federal income taxrate .................co v, 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Effect of:
State and local income taxes, net of federal tax benefit.......... 3.5 1.3 1.4
Foreign and tax credits .. ... .. ... .o it (6.3) (11.8) 94
Non deductible expenses and permanent items................. 0.5 (1.0) (2.2)
Other .. 3.2 — 1.2
Valuation allowance of deferred tax assets..................... 335 (0.7) (26.3)
Effective income tax rate .. ... ottt 39.4% 22.8% 18.5%

The effective income tax rate is estimated on the basis of the income or loss before tax, and is subject to
change following the completion of our annual tax returns. This rate is also subject to considerable variation
quarter by quarter during the year, depending on the latest estimates of operating performance by tax
jurisdiction, assumptions regarding the treatment of foreign losses and the possible treatment of existing tax
provisions and foreign tax credits. Adjustment to this rate during the year can result in cumulative adjustments
for tax benefits or expenses already recorded during the year. See further discussion under “Critical
Accounting Policies.”

Net Income or (Loss)

In 2001, revenues of $130.6 million generated operating income of $4.0 million, which included tower
gains of $3.0 million. Gains on the sale of investments plus interest income contributed $24.0 million, resulting
in income before taxes of $28.0 million. Tax expense was $11.0 million, equivalent to an effective tax rate of
39%, resulting in a reported net income of $17.0 million.

In 2002, revenues of $67.1 million generated an operating loss of $34.2 million, which included
restructuring charges of $13.5 million offset by tower gains of $2.0 million. Impairment charges, gain on sale of
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an investment plus net interest income resulted in further losses of $2.9 million, resulting in a loss before taxes
of $37.1 million. Tax benefit was $8.5 million, equivalent to an effective tax rate of 23%, resulting in a reported
net loss of $28.7 million.

In 2003, revenues of $108.4 million generated an operating loss of $9.5 million. Gain on sale of an
investments plus net interest income contributed $1.5 million, resulting in a loss before taxes of $8.0 million.
Tax benefit was $1.5 million, equivalent to an effective tax rate of 18%, resulting in a reported net loss of
$6.5 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following discussion relates to our sources and uses of cash and cash requirements during 2001, 2002,
and 2003.

Sources and Uses of Cash
Years Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
(in thousands)
Net cash used in operating activities ...................... $(7,666) $ (2,830) $(19,584)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities .......... 37,101 (11,871) (2,791)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities .......... 952 (450) 13,811
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .. .. .. $30,387  $(15,151) $ (8,564)

In 2001, operations that generated revenues of $130.6 million and operating income of $4.0 million, used
$7.7 million of cash, before investing and financing activities are considered. Net cash used in operations
consisted of $3.3 million to fund operating losses and another $4.4 million was used to finance increases in
operating assets and liabilities. The sale of short-term investments in 2001 generated another $19.6 million and
the sale of our primary interests in NextWave generated another $21.7 million (net). After deducting the
purchase of property and equipment of $3.3 million and the acquisition of Transmast operations in Italy for
$0.8 million, total cash provided by financing activities amounted to $37.1 million. Overall, cash increased
$30.4 million primarily due to non-operational reasons.

In 2002, the level of operational activity declined and cash used in operations decreased to $2.8 million.
Net cash used in operations consisted of $5.9 million to fund operating losses, offset by $3.1 million provided
by operating assets and liabilities. We used about $9.0 million to acquire operations in the EMEA region and
used another $2.8 million for the purchase of property and equipment. Overall, cash was reduced by about
$15.2 million during 2002, primarily reflecting our strategic acquisitions in EMEA.

In 2003, the level of operational activities increased significantly, with revenues increasing to $108.4 mil-
lion and an operating loss decreasing to $9.5 million. Cash used in operations increased to $19.6 million which
consisted of $5.0 million to fund operating losses and $23.2 million to finance growth in our operating assets
and liabilities, offset by the receipt of $8.6 million of tax refunds. Cash used in investing activities was
$2.8 million, of which $1.7 million was for property and equipment purchases and $1.0 million for business
acquisitions (primarily the joint venture in China). Financing activities generated $13.8 million, of which
$11.5 million was the net proceeds from the public offering of 3,050,000 shares of our class A common stock.
Additionally, $1.8 million was provided by the drawdowns on the line of credit established for Detron in The
Netherlands. Overall, cash decreased by $8.6 million in 2003,
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Cash Requirements

Years Ended
December 31,

2002 2003
(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents .......... ..o iiiiiieiiiniineans $37,507  $28,943
Restricted cash . ... .. 1,308 1,568
Short-term INVESIMENTS . . . oot i e e e ettt 514 520
Total cash and short-term investments ........... ... ..c.covvu... $39,329  $31,031
Line of credit . ... oot $ — $ 13840
Working capital . ... $49,959  $54,980

During 2003, as described above, the principal requirements for cash were to fund operating losses and
finance the increase in working capital, driven by the growth in receivables resulting from the increase in
revenue. These requirements were partly satisfied by the sale of new shares in the public offering and the
receipt of federal and state tax refunds. However, as stated above, cash and cash equivalents was reduced by
$8.6 million during the year. Future requirements of cash are likely to be affected by the continued growth in
working capital, which is anticipated as contract revenues currently in backlog are delivered over the next
twelve to eighteen months. These increases are primarily caused by growth in unbilled receivables and work in
progress as work is performed ahead of contractual billing milestones. Working capital then reduces as those
milestones are achieved, billings are made and payments received from the customers. Over the next year, it is
expected that working capital will grow during the first half of the year and then reduce during the second half
as the implementation plans on the major network deployment contracts in the Americas region are
performed. Consequently, we expect our total cash balances to further decline in the short term, primarily due
to the implementation of these major network deployment contracts. Despite this expected decline, we believe
that for at least the next twelve months we have adequate cash and short-term investments to fund our
operations

Existing contractual obligations are primarily limited to operating leases, mostly for office facilities. Those
obligations are set out below. Fixed lease obligations are partly offset by income from sublease agreements.
Our operating lease obligations at December 31, 2003 are as follows (in thousands):

Payment Due by Period

Less than More than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years
Operating lease obligations ............. $21,396  $5,033 $9,484 $3,460 $3,417
Sublease income .. .................... $ 5055 % 263 $2,303 $ 963 $1,526

Purchases of property and equipment are primarily related to project requirements, but are relatively
insignificant compared to other requirements. From time to time, we have made acquisitions and investments
in joint ventures, and it is possible that this may be a source of cash requirements at some time in the future.
There are no immediate plans or commitments of this nature, which would result in significant cash
requirements.

Taxes are likely to be a cash requirement in the future, but no significant needs are projected in the
immediate future. We do not expect to collect significant federal or state tax refunds in the immediate future
similar to those received in 2003.

In 2003, we have established a line of credit for our subsidiary in The Netherlands, collateralized by
Detron’s outstanding accounts receivable. From time to time, we may establish other lines of credit to discount
trade receivables. Cash or outstanding accounts receivable may collateralize such accounts.

During 2003, we sold 3,050,000 shares of our class A common stock for net proceeds of approximately
$11.5 million as part of a public offering. We may consider selling additional shares in the future, either to
provide additional working capital or for specific purposes, such as acquisitions.
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In 2004, we negotiated the terms and conditions of a line of credit of $3 million for the issue of standby
letters of credit, which, when executed, will be used to support the issue of bid and performance bonds and
guarantees. Each standby letter of credit issued under such line of credit is required to be fully collateralized
by cash. In the case of any standby letter of credit denominated in a foreign currency, the cash collateral
requirement is 110% of the U.S. dollar equivalent of the foreign currency amount of the letter of credit. We
expect to finalize this line of credit in the immediate future.

We had no material cash commitments as of December 31, 2003 other than to fund the third and final
installment of $0.4 million for our joint venture in China with BOCQO, which was funded in January 2004, We
have not engaged in any off-balance sheet financing as of December 31, 2003.

Critical Accounting Policies
Our critical accounting policies are as follows:
* revenue recognition;
« allowance for doubtful accounts;
» accounting for income taxes; and

s restructuring charge.

Revenue Recognition

Our principal sources of revenues consists of design and system deployment services. We provide design
services on a contract basis, usually in a customized plan for each client, and generally charge for engineering
services on a time and materials or fixed price basis. We generally offer deployment services on a fixed price,
time-certain basis. The portion of our revenues from fixed-price contracts was 61.1% in 2002 and 79.1% in
2003. We recognize revenues on fixed-price contracts using the percentage-of-completion method. With the
percentage-of-completion method, expenses on each project are recognized as incurred, and revenues are
recognized based on the ratio of the current costs incurred for the project to the then estimated total costs of
the project. Accordingly, revenues recognized in a given period depend on, among other things, the costs
incurred on each individual project and our then current estimate of the total remaining costs to complete
individual projects. Considerable judgment on the part of our management may be required in determining
estimates to complete a project including the scope of the work to be completed, and reliance on the customer
or other vendors to fulfill some task(s). If in any period we significantly increase the estimate of the total costs
to complete a project, we may recognize very little or no additional revenues with respect to that project. If
total contract cost estimates increase, gross profit for any single project may be significantly reduced or
eliminated. If the total contract cost estimates indicate that there is a loss, the loss is recognized in the period
the determination is made. At December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively, we had $12.4 million and
$35.0 million of unbilled receivables. The increase in unbilled receivables is attributable to an increase in
fixed-price contracts and the overall growth in revenues.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires our management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, contingent assets and liabilities and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Specifically, our management must
make estimates of the probability of collection of accounts receivable. Management specifically analyzes
accounts receivable balances, customer concentrations, customer credit-worthiness, current economic trends
and changes in customer payment terms when evaluating the adequacy of the valuation allowance for doubtful
accounts. For the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, we derived 60.3% and 72.9%, respectively, of total
revenues from our ten largest customers, indicating significant customer concentration risk with our
receivables. These ten largest customers constituted 66.4% and 81.2% of our net receivable balance as of
December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively. Lastly, we frequently perform services for development stage
customers, which carry a higher degree of risk, particularly as to the collection of accounts receivable. These

33




customers may be particularly vulnerable to the current tightening of available credit and general economic
slowdown.

Accounting for Income Taxes

As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements an estimate for income taxes is
required for each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process requires estimating the actual current
tax exposure together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items, such as
deferred revenues, for tax accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities,
which are included in the consolidated balance sheet. We must then assess the likelihood that the deferred tax
assets will be recovered from future taxable income and to the extent we believe that recovery is not likely, we
must establish a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance is based on our estimates of taxable income by
jurisdiction in which we operate and the period over which the deferred tax assets will be recoverable. In the
event the actual results differ from these estimates, we may need to increase or decrease the valuation
allowance, which could materially have an impact on the financial position and results of operations.

Considerable management judgment may be required in determining our provision for income taxes, the
deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against the net deferred tax assets. We
have recorded a valuation allowance of $6.2 million and $8.3 million as of December 31, 2002 and 2003,
respectively, due to uncertainties related to our ability to utilize some of the deferred tax assets before they
expire. These deferred tax assets primarily consist of foreign net operating losses carried forward, foreign tax
credits and non-cash compensation accruals relating to stock options issued under a phantom membership
plan in effect prior to our initial public offering. The net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2002 and 2003,
were $4.4 million and $5.0 million, respectively.

Restructuring Charge

We recorded a restructuring charge during the second quarter of 2002 and an additional charge during the
fourth quarter of 2002. Included in this restructuring charge of $13.5 million was a charge for excess facilities
aggregating $12.5 million. This facility charge primarily relates to leased office space, which we no longer
occupy. The facility charge equals the existing lease obligation less anticipated rental receipts to be received
from existing and potential subleases. Anticipating such rental receipts requires significant judgments about
the length of time the space will remain vacant, anticipated cost escalators and operating costs associated with
the leases, the market rate at which the space will be subleased, and broker fees or other costs necessary to
market the space. These judgments were based upon independent market analysis and assessment from
experienced real estate brokers. The restructuring charge calculation assumes as of December 31, 2003 that
we will receive $10.7 million in sublease income, of which $5.1 million is committed.

Related Party Transactions

Prior to our initial public offering, both our employees and the employees of Telcom Ventures were
eligible to participate in our life, medical, dental and 401 (k) plans. In connection with our initial public
offering in 1996, we agreed pursuant to an Overhead and Administrative Services Agreement to allow the
employees of Telcom Ventures to continue to participate in our employee benefit plans in exchange for full
reimbursement of our cash costs and expenses. We billed Telcom Ventures $141,000 and $71,000 during the
years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively, for payments made by us pursuant to this agreement.
We received reimbursements from Telcom Ventures of $324,000 during 2002 (which included payments for
prior periods) and $65,000 during 2003. At December 31, 2002 and 2003, outstanding amounts associated
with payments made by us under this agreement were $9,000 and $6,000, respectively, and are included as due
from related parties and affiliates within the consolidated balance sheets in the accompanying financial
statements.

We also had an understanding with Telcom Ventures pursuant to which from July 1, 2000 to
December 31, 2000 we retained five employees who had worked in the business development group of our
tower subsidiary, Microcell Management, Inc., before the assets of that subsidiary were sold in March 2000.
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During the six-month period, these employees pursued international telecommunications tower business
opportunities on Telcom Ventures’ behalf. In return, we would be Telcom Ventures’ exclusive provider of
project management, radio frequency engineering and deployment services for any tower-related projects
secured by these employees during this six-month period. In addition, Telcom Ventures reimbursed us for all
costs incurred in employing these persons (including payroll and benefit costs). This arrangement has been
terminated. We received reimbursements from Telcom Ventures of $140,000 during 2002 for outstanding
amounts associated with this arrangement. At December 31, 2002, outstanding amounts associated with
payments made by us under this arrangement were $100,000 in expense reimbursements and other payments
for 2001 that were disputed by Telcom Ventures. This matter was fully resolved in April 2003 with Telcom
Ventures payment of the full $100,000 in dispute. At December 31, 2003, no amounts were outstanding under
this arrangement. The amounts outstanding as of December 31, 2002, less reserves, are included as due from
related parties and affiliates within the consolidated balance sheets in the accompanying financial statements

In July 2002, we acquired 51% of the outstanding shares of Detron, a newly formed corporation in The
Netherlands. We acquired the shares from Westminster B.V. (“Westminster”), which transferred the shares
to Detron Corporation B.V. in January 2003. Detron has certain ongoing transactions with Westminster.
Under a five-year lease agreement for office space, Detron recorded approximately $27,000 of rent expense
from the date of acquisition to December 31, 2002 and $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.
During the second half 2002 and all of 2003, Detron seconded various idle employees to Detron Telematics,
Westminster’s wholly-owned subsidiary and recorded revenue of approximately $0.2 million and $0.3 million
for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities
and Equity (“SFAS No. 150”). This statement establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and measures
certain financial instruments with both liability and equity characteristics. It requires that an issuer classify a
freestanding financial instrument that is within its scope as a liability (or as an asset in some circumstances).
Many of these freestanding financial instruments were previously classified as equity. SFAS No. 150 became
effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003. We have evaluated the impact
of SFAS No. 150 on our consolidated financial statements with respect to our right to buy out the minority
interests in several of our subsidiaries. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements. ’

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to the impact of foreign currency fluctuations. The exposure to exchange rates relates
primarily to our foreign subsidiaries. Subsidiaries with material foreign currency exposure are in Great Britain,
The Netherlands, Italy and Brazil. For our foreign subsidiaries, exchange rates can have an impact on the
United States dollar value of their reported earnings and the intercompany transactions with the subsidiaries.

Customers outside of the United States accounted for 57.0% and 51.0% of our revenues for the years
ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively, the majority of which were in Europe. In connection with
our recent acquisitions and the increased availability of 3G equipment in Europe, we anticipate continued
growth of its international operations, particularly in Europe, the Middle East and Africa, in 2004 and beyond.
As a result, fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies against the United States dollar may have a
significant impact on our reported results. Revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currencies are
translated monthly into United States dollars at the weighted average exchange rate. Consequently, as the
value of the dollar strengthens or weakens relative to other currencies in our major markets the resulting
translated revenues, expenses and operating profits become lower or higher, respectively.

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates also can have an impact on the United States dollar amount of
our shareholders’ equity. The assets and liabilities of the non-U.S. subsidiaries are translated into United
States dollars at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the balance sheet for the respective reporting period.
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The resulting translation adjustments are recorded in shareholders’ equity as accumulated other comprehen-
sive loss. The Euro was stronger relative to many of the foreign currencies at December 31, 2003, compared to
December 31, 2002. Consequently, the accumulated other comprehensive loss component of shareholders’
equity decreased $2.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2003. As of December 31, 2003, the total
amount of long-term intercompany receivable/payables in non-U.S. subsidiaries subject to this equity
adjustment, using the exchange rate as of the same date, was $11.7 million.

We are exposed to the impact of foreign currency fluctuations due to the operations of short-term
intercompany transactions between the London office and the consolidated foreign subsidiaries. While these
intercompany balances are eliminated in consolidation, exchange rate changes do affect consolidated earnings.
Foreign subsidiaries with amounts owed to or from the London operations at December 31, 2003 (denomi-
nated in Euros) include Italy in the amount of $1.1 million and The Netherlands in the amount of
$0.2 million. These balances generated a foreign exchange gain of $0.1 million included in our consolidated
results at December 31, 2003. A hypothetical appreciation of the Euro and British Pound of 10% would result
in a $0.1 million net increase to our operating losses generated outside the United States. This was estimated
using a 10% appreciation factor to the average monthly exchange rates applied to net income or loss for each
of our subsidiaries in the respective period. Foreign exchange gains and losses recognized on any transactions
are included in our consolidated statements of operations.

Although currency fluctuations can have an impact on our reported results and shareholders’ equity, such
fluctuations generally do not affect our cash flow or result in actual economic gains or losses. We currently do
not hedge any of these risks in its foreign subsidiaries because: (i) our subsidiaries generally earn revenues and
incur expenses within a single country and, consequently, do not incur currency risks in connection with the
conduct of their normal operations; (ii) other foreign operations are minimal; and (iii) we do not believe that
hedging transactions are justified by the current exposure and cost at this time.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors
LCC International, Inc. and Subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of LCC International, Inc. and its
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2002 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2003. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we have also
audited the related financial statement schedule. These consolidated financial statements and financial
statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our.
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of LCC International, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and
2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set
forth therein.

KPMG LLP

McLean, Virginia
March 19, 2004
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LCC INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003
(In thousands, except per share data)

2001 2002 2003

REVENUES . o oottt e e e e e $130,609 $ 67,069  $108,439
Cost Of TEVENUES ... ot 103,535 58,429 88,998
Gross Profit . ... o 27,074 8,640 19,441
Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing . ........ ... . . 7,068 8,095 6,624

General and administrative .......... R 15,978 20,311 18,508

Restructuring charge (note 7)....... ... i i — 13,522 (2)

Gain on sale of tower portfolio and administration, net (note 3) .. .. (2,998) (2,000) —

Depreciation and amortization. . ...........c.coueineinennen. .. 3,012 2,884 3,860
Total Operating EXpenses . ... ...vvtvern et ettt et 23,060 42,812 28,990
Operating income (l0SS) ... ..ottt i 4,014 (34,172) (9,549)
Other income (expense):

Interest inCome .. ... .. . i 1,899 840 447

Interest eXpense. .. ...t e (13) (22) (122)

OtheT L 22,113 (3,767) 1,218
Total other inCOME (EXPENSE) . ..ottt ittt 23,999 (2,949) 1,543
Income (loss) from operations before income taxes................. 28,013 (37,121) (8,006)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (note 13)..................... 11,041 (8,451) (1,483)
Net income (1085) .. ov ittt ettt iiin e aans $ 16972 $(28,670) $ (6,523)
Net income (loss) per share:

BasiC. ... $ 083 §$ (1.37) $ (0.31)

Diluted .. .o e $ 081 §$ (1.37) $ (0.31)
Weighted average shares used in calculation of net income (loss)

per share:

Basic . . e 20,571 20,902 21,292

Diluted .. ... 20,916 20,902 21,292

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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LCC INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share data)

ASSETS:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (note 4) . ... .. .. . . i e
Restricted cash .. ... . i
Short-term INVEStMENTS . ... ...ttt e e e e
Receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $3,122 and $466 at
December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively
Trade accounts receivable . ... .. .. .
Unbilled receivables . ... ... oo e
Due from related parties and affiliates (note 5) .......... ...,
Deferred income taxes, net (note 13) ......... .. ... .. .. .. ...
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . ............ooeiiiiiiiiii i
Prepaid tax receivable and prepaid taxes . ..........co i

Total current assets. ... ...t
Property and equipment, net (note 6) . ... ... ..
Investments in affiliates (note 11) . ... ... . i i
Deferred income taxes, net (note 13) . ... ...
Goodwill (note L1) ...
Other intangibles (note 11) .. ... . i e
O hET A88EES . . .

Current liabilities:
Line of credit. .. ... e
Accounts payable .. ...
ACCTUE EXPEISES .+« v et ettt e e e et e e
Accrued employee compensation and benefits. ......... ... e,
Deferred revenue. .. .. ...
Income taxes payable (note 13) ... ... . i
Accrued restruCturing CUTTEN . .. oot vttt ettt e e e n e e
Other current liabilities ... ... .. . . e

Total current liabilities . ... ..o i e
Accrued TestTucturing NONCUITENT . .. . vttt ettt et e e et
Other Habilities . . ... ..o e

Total Habilities. . ..ot e e e e

Commitments and contingencies (notes 1, 12, 16, and 17)
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock:
10,000 shares authorized; -0- shares issued and outstanding . ..................
Class A common stock; $.01 par value:
70,000 shares authorized; 14,632 shares and 19,549 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively ........ ... oo
Class B common stock; $.01 par value:
20,000 shares authorized; 6,319 shares and 4,638 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively ........... v,
Paid-in capital . ... ...
Accumulated deficit .. ... ... ..

Subtotal ..o
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) — foreign currency
translation adjustments . . .. ... ... e

Total shareholders’ equity ........ ... ittt

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

39

December 31,

2002 2003
$ 37,507 $ 28,943
1,308 1,568
514 520
13,165 27,456
12,369 35,007
61 180
3,932 3,547
1,835 1,726 .
8,285 662
78,976 99,609
5,010 3,818
— 764
504 1,407
9,340 11,115
1,933 843
960 1,035
$ 96,723  $118,591
$ — $ 1,840
7,316 11,485
10,543 21,152
6,272 5,525
41 471
882 967
3,937 2,903
26 286
29,017 44,629
5,786 3.432
832 762
35,635 48,823
146 193
63 46
94,132 106,262
(30,079)  (36,602)
(1,625) (1,557)
62,637 68,344
(1,549) 1,424
61,088 69,768
$ 96,723 $118,591




LCC INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003
(In thousands)

Notes Accumulated
Receivable Other
Comprehensive from Comprehensive
Preferred _Common Stock Stock Paid-in Income Accumulated Shareholders Income
Stock Class A Class B Capital (Loss) Deficit (note 5) (Loss) Total

Balances at December 31, 2000.... — $120 % 85 §$ 91,407 $(18,381) $(2,325) $(2,490) §$ 68,416
Exercise/issuance of stock options .. — 2 (1) 536 — — — 537
Issuance of common stock ........ — 1 — 485 — — — 486
Netincome .......ccvvvvuernnn. — — — — §$ 16,972 16,972 — — 16,972
Other comprehensive loss — foreign

currency translation adjustments — — — — (607) — — (607) (607)
Comprehensive income ........... — — — — § 16,365 — — — —_—
Balances at December 31, 2001 .... — 123 84 92,428 (1,409)  (2,325) (3,097) 85,804
Exercise/issuance of stock options .. — — — 183 — — — 183
Issuance of common stock ........ — 23 (21) 1,521 — — — 1,523
Payment from shareholder ........ — —_— — — — 700 — 700
Netloss.......ooovivieiiinan, —_ — — —  $(28,670) (28,670) — — (28,670)
Other comprehensive income —

foreign currency translation

adjustments . ... — — — — 1,548 — — 1,548 1,548
Comprehensive loss .............. — — — — $(27,122) — — — —
Balances at December 31,2002 .... — 146 63 94,132 (30,079)  (1,625) (1,549) 61,088
Exercise/issuance of stock options ..  — 2 — 588 — —_ — 590
Issuance of common stock ........ — 47 (17) 11,542 — — — 11,572
Payment from shareholder ........ — — — — — 68 — 68
Netloss.........oovviiiai... — — — — 6,523) (6,523) — — (6,523)
Other comprehensive income —

foreign currency translation

adjustments . .................. — — — — 2,973 — — 2,973 2,973
Comprehensive loss .............. — — — — $ (3,550) — — — —
Balances at December 31, 2003 . ... $195 § 46 $106,262 $(36,602) $(1,557) $ 1,424 § 69,768

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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LCC INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended December 31, 2001, 2002, and 2003
(In thousands)

2001 2002 2003
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (J0SS) . oo ot vu i $ 16972  $(28,670) § (6,523)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization. . ............. i 3,012 2,884 3,860
Provision (recovery) for doubtful accounts ............ ... ... ... ... ... 2,123 4,317 (2,419)
Realized gain on sale of investments and assets ............................ (22,395) — —
Loss from investments in joint vENtures, M€t ... .....vurvrvun e rnnnnenn. — — 126
Impairment of assets............ — 5,140 —
Restructuring charge . . .. ... e e — 13,522 (2)
Gain on sale of tower portfolio ........ ... . . (2,998) (2,000) —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade, unbilled, and other receivables ........... ... ... . ... 9,358 10,963 (34,732)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses. .. ... i (8,835) 902 13,666
Other current assets and labilities . ... ... ... . . i (5,227) (8,560) 7,129
Other noncurrent assets and labilities ................. . ... ............ 324 (1,328) (689)
Net cash used in operating activities .......... ... ... i, (7,666) (2,830)  (19,584)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales of short-term investments ........... ... ..c..ovviinn.. 42,069 — —
Purchases of short-term investments. .. ........ ..ot iiiiiiinenrnnn. (22,489) (30) (20)
Purchases of property and equipment .. ......... ... (3,377) (2,854) (1,812)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment ..................... ... .... 29 34 69
Investments in affiliates ... ...... . ... e (1,755) — —
Proceeds from sale of investments and assets .................... ... ... ... 22,624 — —
Business acquisitions and investments. .. ... ... .. i i — (9,021) (1,027)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ........................... 37,101 (11,871) (2,790)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net ............... ... . 518 49 11,572
Proceeds from exercise of options . ..... ... .. .. 434 109 590
Increase in restricted cash . ... ... . e e — (1,308) (260)
Proceeds from line of credit. .. ... ... i i e — — 10,831
Payments on line of credit ....... ... .. . ... — — (8,991)
Repayment of loan to shareholder.................... ... ... — 700 68
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ........................... 952 (450) 13,810
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ......................... 30,387 (15,151) (8,564)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period......... ... ... ... .. 22,271 52,658 37,507
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ............ ... ... .o .. $ 52,658 $ 37,507 $ 28,943
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:
8475 (] A OO $ 13§ 22 3 47
INCOmME taXES o vttt 14,103 1,545 288

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities:

In January 2002, we purchased all of the assets of Smith Woolley Telecom for a purchase price of approximately
$8.6 million. The purchase price consisted of $7,1 million in cash included above as part of business acquisitions and the
issuance of 215,000 shares of our class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share. The value of the class A common stock
was approximately $1.5 million. As a result, common stock and additional paid in capital increased, offset by an increase to

goodwill and other intangibles.

In May 2003, in satisfaction of the purchase agreement between Westminster Capital, B.V. (*Westminster”) and our
company, we paid Westminster approximately $0.3 million in cash and assigned an intercompany note receivable due from
Detron to Westminster in the amount of approximately $0.2 million. As a result of the note assignment, goodwill and other
intangible assets increased, offset by an increase in due to related parties, which is included in accounts payable on the

consolidated balance sheet.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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LCC INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003

(1) Description of Operations

LCC International Inc. a Delaware Corporation (“LCCI”), was formed in 1983. Unless the context
indicates otherwise, the terms the “Company”, “we”, “us”, and “our” refer herein to LCCIL.

We provide integrated end-to-end solutions for wireless voice and data communication networks with
service offerings ranging from high level technical consulting, to system design and deployment, to ongoing
operations and maintenance services. We operate in a highly competitive environment subject to rapid
technological change and emergence of new technologies. Historically, the key drivers of changes in our
wireless services business have been (1) the issuance of new or additional licenses to wireless operators;
(2) the introduction of new services or technologies; (3) increases in the number of subscribers served by
wireless operators; (4) the increasing complexity of wireless systems in operation and (5) changes in wireless
infrastructure spending and deployment. Although we believe that our services are transferable to emerging
technologies, rapid changes in technology and deployment could have an adverse financial impact on us.

In November 2003, we completed an underwritten public offering of 8,050,000 shares of class A common
stock, of which 5,000,000 shares were sold by certain of our stockholders. We received net proceeds for
$11.5 million from the offering.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
‘Cash Egquivalents

Cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months
or fess and include overnight repurchase agreements, short-term notes, and short-term money market funds.

Short-Term Investments

During 2002, short-term investments consisted primarily of federally sponsored short-term notes with
maturity dates of more than three months from the date of acquisition. During 2003, short-term investments
consist of a certificate of deposit with a maturity of six months from the date of acquisition. The portfolio held
by us has been classified based on management’s intentions as to future investment activity. We carry these
investments at cost plus accrued interest receivable, which approximates their market value. All short-term
investments have maturity dates of one year or less.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose us to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of trade
receivables. We sell our services globally. Generally, we do not require collateral or other security to support
customer receivables. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers’ financial condition and
maintain a provision for doubtful accounts related to potential credit losses. We had the following significant

42




—

LCC INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

concentrations of trade receivables from customers located outside the United States at December 31, 2002
and 2003:

2002 2003

(In thousands)
BUurope . .. 9,724 10,922
Middle East/Africa ... ..ot 1,308 8,186
ASIa-Pacific. ... o 1,175 —

Our existing and potential customer base is diverse and includes start-up companies and foreign
enterprises. We derived approximately 82.9%, 60.3% and 72.9% of our revenues from our ten largest customers
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. These ten largest customers constituted
66.4% and 81.2% of our net receivable balance as of December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively. Although we
believe that the diversity of our customer base has historically minimized the risk of incurring material losses
due to concentrations of credit risk, we may be exposed to a declining customer base in periods of market
downturns, severe competition, exchange rate fluctuations or other international developments.

In 2003, revenues from one customer were approximately $16.5 million or 15.2% of total revenues,
revenues from another customer were approximately $13.0 million or 12.0% of total revenues and revenues
from a third customer were approximately $11.5 million or 10.6% of total revenues. In 2002, revenues from
one customer were approximately $7.8 million or 11.7% of total revenues and revenues from another customer
were $7.0 million or 10.5% of total revenues. In 2001, revenues from one customer were approximately
$57.3 million or 43.9% of total revenues.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
and accounts payable, approximated fair value as of December 31, 2002 and 2003 because of the relatively
short duration of these instruments. The carrying value of the note receivable from shareholder and the line of
credit approximated the fair value as the instrument included a market rate of interest.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less an allowance for depreciation. Replacements and major
improvements are capitalized; maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related
assets per the table below.

Computer equipment . .............. 3 years

Software ......................... 3 years

Furniture and office equipment ... ... 3 to 7 years

Leasehold improvements............ Shorter of the term of the lease or estimated useful life
Vehicles .............. ... ..... 5 years

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Our policy is to review our long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable in accordance with SFAS No. 144,
Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. We recognize an impairment loss when the sum
of the expected undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset. The measurement
of the impairment losses to be recognized is based upon the difference between the fair value and the carrying
amount of the assets.
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LCC INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of costs over fair value of assets of businesses acquired. We adopted the
provisions of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, as of January 1, 2002. Goodwill and
intangible assets acquired in a purchase business combination and determined to have an indefinite useful life
are not amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least annually in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS No. 142. SFAS No. 142 also requires that intangible assets with estimable useful lives be amortized
over their respective estimated useful lives to their estimated residual values, and reviewed for impairment in
accordance with SFAS No. 144. -

Investments in Affiliates

We use the equity method to account for those investments in which we have an ownership interest equal
to or greater than 20% or exercise significant influence. For equity method investments, we record our
proportionate share of the investee’s net income or loss. Generally, we use the cost method of accounting for
our investments in which we have an ownership interest of less than 20% or do not exercise significant
influence. Investments carried at cost are written down if circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
the investment may not be recoverable.

Revenue Recognition

Our principal sources of revenues are design services and system deployment services. We recognize
revenues from long-term fixed-price contracts using the percentage-of-completion method. With the percent-
age-of-completion method, we recognize revenue based on the ratio of individual contract costs incurred to
date on a project compared with total estimated contract costs. Anticipated contract losses are recognized as
soon as they become known and estimable. We also recognize revenues on time and materials contracts as the
services are performed. Revenues earned but not yet billed are reflected as unbilled receivables in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. We expect substantially all unbilled and billed receivables to be
collected within one year.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are determined in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Under
this statement, temporary differences arise as a result of the differences between the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and their tax basis. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the
opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the
date of enactment.

Certain of our international operations are subject to local income taxation. Currently, we are subject to
taxation on income from certain operations in Europe, Latin America, the Far East, the Middle East and the
non-U.S. portions of North America where we have subsidiaries, have established branch offices or have
performed significant services that constitute a “‘permanent establishment” for tax reporting purposes. The
foreign taxes paid or accrued by us may represent a potential credit for us against our U.S. federal income
taxes.

Foveign Currency Translation

Gains and losses on translation of the accounts of our foreign operations where the local currency is the
functional currency are accumulated and included in other comprehensive loss within the accompanying
consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recognized
currently in the consolidated statements of operations.
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LCC INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Estimates are used in accounting for, among other things, long-term contracts, allowance for doubtful
accounts, accrual of income taxes, recoverability of investments in affiliates and the accrual of restructuring
charges. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for equity-based compensation arrangements in accordance with the provisions of Account-
ing Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related
interpretations including FASB Interpretation No. 44, and comply with the disclosure provisions of SFAS
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” All equity-based awards to non-employees are
accounted for at their fair value in accordance with SFAS No. 123. Under APB No. 25, compensation
expense is based upon the difference, if any, on the date of grant, between the fair value of our stock and the
exercise price.

Had compensation cost for our stock-based compensation plans and employee stock purchase plan been
determined on the fair value at the grant dates for awards under those plans, consistent with SFAS No. 123,
our net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share would have been reduced (increased) to the pro forma
amounts indicated below:

2001 2002 2003
(In thousands, except per share data)
Net income (loss) asreported .................... $16,972  $(28,670) $(6,523)

Deduct total stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under fair value based method (2,656) (2,562)  (2,399)

Pro forma net income (loss) .................... $14,316  $(31,232) $(8,922)

Net income (loss) share
As reported:

Basic........ ... . e $ 083 $ (L.37) $ (0.31)

Diluted . ... ... $ 081 $ (1.37) $ (0.31)
Pro forma:

BasiC. ... ... $ 070 $ (1.49) $ (042)

Diluted . ...... ... .. $ 068 $ (149) §$ (042)

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as net income plus the changes in equity of a business enterprise
during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. Other
comprehensive income refers to revenues, expenses, gains and losses that under generally accepted accounting
principles are included in comprehensive income, but excluded from net income. Other comprehensive
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income (loss) consists solely of foreign currency translation adjustments in 2001, 2002 and 2003. Changes in
components of other comprehensive income (loss) are reported net of income tax, as follows (in thousands):

2001 2002 2003
Tax Tax Tax
Pretax Expense Net Pretax Expense Net Pretax Expense Net

Amount (Credit) Amount  Amount (Credit) Amount  Amount (Credit) Amount

Foreign currency translation
Adjustments ............. $(1,002)  $(395) $(607) $2,003 $455 $1,548  $3,649 $676 $2,973

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting No. 150, Accounting for Certain
Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity (* SFAS No. 150”). This statement
establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and measures certain financial instruments with both liability
and equity characteristics. It requires that an issuer classify a freestanding financial instrument that is within
its scope as a liability (or as an asset in some circumstances). Many of these freestanding financial
instruments were previously classified as equity. SFAS No. 150 became effective for financial instruments
entered into or modified after May 31, 2003. We have evaluated the impact of SFAS No. 150 on our
consolidated financial statements with respect to our right to buy out the minority interests in several of our
subsidiaries. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements.

(3) Tower Portfolio Sale and Administration

During 2000, Microcell Management, Inc. (“Microcell”’), our subsidiary, completed the closing of the
sale of its telecommunication tower portfolio to Pinnacle Towers Inc. (“Pinnacle”) pursuant to an Asset
Purchase Agreement between Pinnacle and Microcell. During 2000, Microcell conveyed 177 tower sites to
Pinnacle for net cash proceeds of $72.2 million. On February 15, 2000, Microcell and the Company entered
into a Settlement and Release Agreement with the minority shareholders of Microcell. Pursuant to the
Settlement and Release Agreement, concurrent with the Pinnacle tower sale, the aggregate 16.25% minority
shareholder interests were redeemed and other costs paid and/or reimbursed for $7.2 million. The payment
was capitalized as part of the cost of acquiring the Microcell assets and was expensed as sites were conveyed to
Pinnacle. As part of the agreement, all pending claims of the minority shareholders were settled and dismissed
with prejudice.

As part of the tower sale transaction, Microcell and Pinnacle entered into a Master Antenna Site Lease
pursuant to which Microcell agreed to lease, until December 31, 2002, the unoccupied space on each
telecommunication tower sold to Pinnacle. As of December 31, 2000, we had recognized a gain of
$26.4 million on the sale of the tower portfolio and deferred $5.2 million of the gain. During 2001, we
recognized $3.2 million of the deferred gain, which was offset by $0.2 million in related operating expenses.
Microcell and Pinnacle also entered into a Tower Services Agreement to provide Pinnacle with audit,
maintenance, and program management services. The Tower Services Agreement, which expired in August
2001, provided for minimum annual payments to Microcell of $10 million for the contemplated services.

On January 25, 2002, we entered into a settlement agreement with Pinnacle. Pursuant to the agreement,
we received $2.0 million in cash to satisfy Pinnacle’s obligations under the Tower Services Agreement. This
gain was recognized in the second quarter of 2002, when all uncertainties related to any potential claims
against the payment received were resolved. In addition, we paid Pinnacle $2.0 million to satisfy all remaining
obligations under the Master Antenna Site Lease.
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(4) Cash and Cash Equivalents
At December 31, 2002 and 2003, cash and cash equivalents consisted of the following (in thousands):

2002 2003
Cash In banks . . ..o oo, $10,023  $25,443
Treasury bills ............. . L e 27,484 3,500

$37,507  $28,943

(5) Related Party Transactions

RF Investors, a subsidiary of Telcom Ventures, indirectly owns the Class B Common Stock shares
outstanding, which have ten-to-one voting rights over the Class A Common Stock shares and therefore
represent approximately 70% voting control.

Prior to our initial public offering, both our employees and the employees of Telcom Ventures were
eligible to participate in our life, medical, dental and 401 (k) plans. In connection with the initial public
offering in 1996, we agreed pursuant to an Overhead and Administrative Services Agreement to allow the
employees of Telcom Ventures to continue to participate in our employee benefit plans in exchange for full
reimbursement of the cash costs and expenses. We billed Telcom Ventures $141,000 and $71,000 during 2002
and 2003, respectively, for payments made by us pursuant to this agreement. We received reimbursements
from Telcom Ventures of $324,000 during 2002 (which included payments for prior periods) and $65,000
during 2003. At December 31, 2002 and 2003, outstanding amounts associated with payments made by us
under this agreement were $9,000 and $6,000, respectively, and are included as due from related parties and
affiliates within the consolidated balance sheets in the accompanying financial statements.

We also had an understanding with Telcom Ventures pursuant to which from July 1, 2000 to
December 31, 2000 we retained five employees who had worked in the business development group of our
tower subsidiary, Microcell, before the assets of that subsidiary were sold in March 2000. During the six-
month period, these employees pursued international telecommunications tower business opportunities on
Telcom Ventures’ behalf. In return, we would be Telcom Ventures’ exclusive provider of project management,
radio frequency engineering and deployment services for any tower-related projects secured by these
employees during this six-month period. In addition, Telcom Ventures is required to reimburse us for all costs
incurred in employing these persons (including payroll and benefit costs). This arrangement has been
terminated. We received reimbursements from Telcom Ventures of $140,000 during 2002 for outstanding
amounts associated with this arrangement. At December 31, 2002, outstanding amounts associated with
payments made by us under this arrangement were $100,000 in expense reimbursements and other payments
for 2001 that were initially disputed by Telcom Ventures. This matter was fully resolved in April 2003 with
Telcom Ventures payment of the full $100,000 in dispute. At December 31, 2003, no amounts were
outstanding under this arrangement. The amounts outstanding as of December 31, 2002, less reserves, are
included as due from related parties and affiliates within the consolidated balance sheets in the accompanying
financial statements

In September 1996, we lent $3.5 million to Telcom Ventures to assist in the payment of taxes due in
connection with the assumption by us of $30.0 million of convertible subordinated debt from Telcom
Ventures. The original note was payable over five years with equal annual principal payments over the term.
Interest accrued at the rate of LIBOR, plus 1.75%. We received the final payment of principal and accrued
interest of approximately $700,000 during 2002 in satisfaction of the note.

During 2001 and 2002, we provided services to XM Satellite Radio. Telcom Ventures has a minority
investment in XM Satellite Radio, and Dr. Rajendra Singh, a director of Telcom Ventures, is a member of our
board of directors. Dr. Singh is also a former member of XM Satellite Radio’s board of directors. Revenues
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earned during 2001 and 2002 for services provided to XM Satellite Radio were $57.3 million, and $3.4 million,
respectively.

In December 1999, we issued approximately 108,000 shares of Class A Common Stock in exchange for a
$1.6 million note receivable from our President and Chief Executive Officer. The note is payable on the earlier
of December 2004 or the date he is no longer our President and Chief Executive Officer. Upon the event of a
change in control of ownership of the Company, the note will be forgiven. Interest accrues at the federal mid-
term rate on the date of the note and is payable quarterly. The note is reflected as a reduction of shareholders’
equity in the accompanying statement of shareholders’ equity.

In November 2001, we entered into a $0.6 million promissory note with Plan + Design Netcare AG.
Under the terms of the note, the entire principal amount, plus accrued interest was due to us on January 31,
2002. The interest rate was 5.0% calculated on a basis of a 365-day year. In the event of default, interest would
accrue on the unpaid balance of the note at the interest rate, plus 5.0%. The note was paid in full in February
2002.

In July 2002, we acquired 51% of the outstanding shares of Detron, a newly formed corporation in The
Netherlands. We acquired the shares from Westminster, which transferred the shares to Detron Corpora-
tion B.V. in January 2003, Detron has certain ongoing transactions with Westminster. Under a five-year lease
agreement for office space, Detron recorded approximately $27,000 of rent expense from the date of
acquisition to December 31, 2002 and $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. During 2002 and
2003, Detron seconded various idle employees to Detron Telematics, Westminster’s wholly-owned subsidiary
and recorded revenue of approximately $0.2 million for 2002 and $0.3 million for 2003.

(6) Property and Equipment
At December 31, 2002 and 2003, property and equipment consisted of the following:

2002 2003
(In thousands)
Computer eqQUIPMEIIT . . o oo\ttt e ettt $ 14,221 $ 15,195
SO tWaLE . .o 2,920 3,075
Furniture and office equipment ......... ... ... i, 9,416 10,075
Leasehold improvements . . ...t 1,547 1,632
VEhiClES . o e 216 198
. 28,320 30,175
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization...................... (23,310)  (26,357)

$§ 5010 § 3818

(7) Restructuring Charge

During the second quarter of 2002, we adopted a restructuring plan and recorded a restructuring charge of
$10.0 million. During the fourth quarter of 2002, we recorded an additional $3.5 million relating to the costs of
excess office space. The restructuring plan was in response to the low utilization of professional employees
caused by the completion of several large fixed-price contracts and the difficulty in obtaining new contracts as
a result of the slowdown in wireless telecommunications infrastructure spending. The cost of the severance and
associated expenses was approximately $1.0 million and resulted in a work force reduction of approximately
140 people. In addition, we had excess facility costs relative to the space occupied by the employees affected
by the reduction in force, space previously occupied by divested operations, and reduced business use of office
space resulting from a continued trend for clients to provide professional staff office space while performing
their services. The charge for the excess office space was approximately $12.5 million, which included
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$1.5 million in written-off leasehold improvements and other assets related to the excess space. The facility
charge equals the existing lease obligation, less the anticipated rental receipts to be received from existing and
potential subleases. This charge required significant judgments about the length of time that space will remain
vacant, anticipated cost escalators and operating costs associated with the leases, market rate of the subleased
space, and broker fees or other costs necessary to market the space. As of December 31, 2003, the
restructuring charge calculation assumes we will receive $10.7 million in sublease income, of which
$5.1 million is committed.

During the first quarter of 2003, we reversed excess severance payable of approximately $0.2 million.
During the third quarter of 2003, we reoccupied a portion of our office space in McLean, Virginia and reversed
$0.4 million of the payable and recorded an increase in the restructuring payable of $0.5 million related to an
estimated increase in the time period expected to sublease space in our London office.

A reconciliation of the restructuring activities is as follows:

Severance Facilities Total
(in thousands)
Restructuring charge ........... ... i $1,030  $12,492  $13,522
Reclassification of deferred rent . ......... .. ... ... ... ... ... — 639 639

1,030 13,131 14,161
Charges against the provision:

Payments for excess office space, net of sublease income . . ... — (2,152)  (2,152)
Severance and associated costs paid....................... (878) — (878)
Leasehold improvements and other assets written-off .. ... ... — (1,461)  (1,461)
Other ... — 53 53
Restructuring payable as of December 31,2002, .............. $ 152 $9571 §$9,723
Reversal of excess severance ........... .. ... ... ... . ... ... (152) — (152)
Reversal for reoccupied space .. ........ ... .. .o — (385) (385)
Additional charge for reduction of sublease income............ — 535 535
Restructuring charge .......... ... ... ... . ... (152) 150 (2)
Charges against the provision:
Payments for excess office space, net of sublease income ... .. — (2,971)  (2,971)
Leasehold improvements and other assets written-off .. ... ... — (564) (564)
Other ... o e — 149 149
Restructuring payable as of December 31,2003 ............... $§ — $6335 § 6,335

At December 31, 2002 and 2003, the restructuring payable was classified as follows:
December 31 December 31

2002 2003
Accrued restructuring current........... ... .., $3,937 $2,903
Accrued restructuring nONCUTTENt . . . ...\ vrvevennenn.. .. 5,186 3,432
Accrued restructuring total . ... ... .. $9,723 $6,335
(8) Recovery of Receivables <

On March 28, 2001, the United States Bankruptcy Court, District of Maryland, Northern Division,
entered an order confirming the Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization Under Chapter 11 (the “Plan”) for
DCR PCS, Inc. (“DCR”) and Pocket Communications, Inc. (“Pocket”). The Plan provided that our claim
against DCR would be allowed in the amount of $5.0 million. We received payment of $5.0 million on
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April 11, 2001 which has been recognized as a recovery of a bad debt during 2001 and was recorded as a
reduction in general and administrative expense. The Plan also provided that our general unsecured claim
against Pocket would be allowed. We received $1.6 million on May 23, 2002 as final settlement for the Pocket
claim and was recognized as a recovery of bad debt and as a reduction in general and administrative expense
during 2002. Both receivables had been written off in prior years.

During 1997, we recorded a charge for receivables due from a Malaysian corporation. On March 15,
2001, we received payment of $2.1 million, net of taxes withheld at the source of $0.4 million, as complete
settlement on these balances after the Malaysian Corporation successfully emerged from bankruptcy. This
amount has been recognized as a recovery of bad debt during 2001 and was recorded as a reduction in general
and administrative expense.

During 2003, we received $2.1 million from a customer in Algeria that had been previously reserved
during 2002. The amount was recorded as a recovery of bad debt and as a reduction in general and
administrative expense.

(9) Impairment of Investments and Business Disposals

In June 2000, we acquired 18.2% of Mobilocity, Inc¢. (“Mobilocity”), which was subsequently diluted to
less than 3% as Mobilocity continued to raise additional capital. During 2002, we evaluated our investment in
Mobilocity to determine if an impairment loss had occurred. Mobilocity had implemented a voluntary
liquidation plan, leading us to determine the investment was likely not recoverable and recorded a $0.5 million
impairment charge in other income and expense.

We invested a total of $4.6 million ($2.9 million in August 2000 and $1.7 million in February 2001) in
Plan + Design Netcare AG (“PDN”) for a 15.0% interest. PDN, and its operating subsidiary, filed for
insolvency protection in 2002. During 2002, we evaluated this investment and determined that the investment
was likely not recoverable and recorded a $4.6 million impairment charge in other income and expense.

On October 23, 2002 we entered into a sale agreement to convey 82.0% of our ownership interest in our
Egyptian subsidiary, LCC Egypt Ltd., with put options to convey the remaining 18.0% ownership interest
upon the resolution of certain items. This subsidiary was established to execute a contract for a customer,
which is substantially complete. The sale agreement anticipated that the néw owner would collect receivable
balances and resolve vendor, tax, and other obligations of the subsidiary, during the four-week period from the
agreement date. As part of the agreement we assumed specific payroll and other obligations and agreed to
make contributions to the subsidiary requiring payments of approximately $0.3 million during the fourth
quarter of 2002, and an additional $0.2 million in February 2003. In December 2002, we recorded a recovery
for provisions that were no longer needed for operations in Egypt of $1.1 million. This recovery was recorded in
other income and expense in the accompanying 2002 consolidated statement of operations.

(10) Investments

In September 1999, we acquired 19.9% of Tecnosistemi S.p.A. (formerly, Italtel Sistemi, S.p.A.) for
$1.1 million. Tecnosistemi is an Italian telecommunications services company. We applied the equity method
to account for our investment in Tecnosistemi until September 2000, when our ownership interest was diluted
to 9.4% as a result of a merger. Eyom the date of acquisition until September 30, 2000, Tecnosistemi incurred .
cumulative losses of $3.4 million. We recorded our $0.8 million pro-rata share of these losses in other income
(expense). Subsequent to September 2000, when our ownership interest was diluted, the investment was
accounted for using the cost method. In July 2001, we sold all of our shares in Tecnosistemi for $1.4 million,
resulting in a gain of approximately $1.0 million, which is recorded in other income in the accompanying 2001
consolidated statement of operations.
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We held 1,666,666 shares of Class B Common Stock of NextWave Telecom, Inc. (“NextWave
Telecom™) which is the parent corporation of NextWave Personal Communications Inc. . We acquired the
shares of NextWave Telecom in May 1996 for a purchase price of $5.0 million in connection with a series of
transactions entered into between NextWave Telecom and us under an agreement dated March 12, 1996 (the
“March Agreement”). We also acquired warrants to purchase an additional 123,356 shares of Class B
Common Stock at $3.00 per share. Under the March Agreement, NextWave Telecom agreed to use us to
provide not less than (a) $14.0 million of radio frequency engineering services and (b) $35.0 million of system
deployment services. These services were to be provided in increments of 20% each year during the five-year
period following the execution of the March Agreement. NextWave Telecom filed for bankruptcy protection
on December 23, 1998. The March Agreement has not been assumed or rejected by NextWave Telecom in
the bankruptcy proceeding. We did not carry any assets or liabilities on our books relating to our equity
investment in NextWave, any pre-petition debts due us, or the March Agreement; these balances were written
off in previous years.

The total amount of pre-petition debt owed to us by NextWave Telecom and certain of its subsidiaries
(collectively, “NextWave”) was approximately $14.3 million, plus post-petition interest thereon. This amount
included our interest, amounting to approximately $0.7 million plus post-petition interest thereon, in a general
unsecured claim against NextWave that was acquired by us in connection with our acquisition of Koll
Telecommunications LLC in 1997 (the “Koll Claim™).

In September 2001, we sold all of our 1,666,666 shares of Class B common stock and our pre-petition
debt claims (excluding a 92.5% interest in pre-petition interest that may be payable with respect to the claims,
the “Pre-Petition Interest Amount”) against NextWave Telecom resulting in a gain of $21.4 million, which
equaled the proceeds from the sale. The gain was recorded in other income in the accompanying consolidated
statement of operations. The September 2001 sale of current pre-petition debt excluded (a) the Koll Claim,
(b) any claims resulting from the assumption or rejection of the March Agreement, and (c) the Pre-Petition
Interest Amount. In February 2003, we sold our interest in the Pre-Petition Interest Amount for $1.0 million
in cash, which was paid in March 2003.

(11) Business Combinations

On December 5, 2001, we acquired Transmast Italia S.R.L. (which we renamed LCC Italia S.R.L.
(“LCC Italia”)) for approximately $0.8 million in cash. LCC Italia is a wireless infrastructure, deployment,
civil engineering and project management firm }ocated in Milan, Italy. The acquisition is accounted for under
the purchase method of accounting. The acquisition cost was allocated to net tangible assets and goodwill. The
net tangible assets acquired consisted primarily of fixed assets and current assets net of assumed liabilities.

On January 31, 2002, we acquired all of the assets of Smith Woolley Telecom (which we renamed LCC
Deployment Services UK, Limited (“LCC Deployment Services”)). LCC Deployment Services is a
telecommunications consultancy company that specializes in the provision of search, acquisition, design, build,
management and maintenance services to the wireless industry in the United Kingdom. LCC Deployment
Services is based in Cambridge, England, with several regional offices. The purchase price of the acquisition
was approximately $8.6 million consisting of $7.1 million in cash and approximately 215,000 shares of LCC
Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share. The value of the LCC Class A common stock was
approximately $1.5 million and was based on the closing price on January 31, 2002 of $7.08 per share. The
acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and, therefore, LCC Deployment
Services’ results have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition.

We finalized the allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed for this
acquisition with the assistance of an outside valuation firm. The net assets acquired and liabilities assumed
amounted to $0.7 million. Goodwill recognized in the acquisition amounted to $5.9 million. Other intangible
assets acquired amounted to $2.0 million. Other intangible assets, including contract backlog, customer
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relationships, and the Smith Woolley trade name, are amortized over two to five years depending on the
estimated remaining useful lives. In 2003, we wrote off the $0.5 million unamortized balance of intangible cost
for the Smith Woolley trade name acquired in the acquisition because we ceased to use the name.

On July 9, 2002, we acquired 51% of the outstanding shares of Detron, a newly formed corporation
organized under the laws of The Netherlands. Detron specializes in the provision of deployment, management
and maintenance services to the wireless industry in The Netherlands. We acquired the shares from
Westminster for an initial purchase price of $1.9 million. Also included in the acquisition cost were legal and
transaction costs of $0.4 million. The purchase agreement provided for the payment of an additional
$0.5 million should Detron achieve certain objectives by the end of the calendar year as confirmed by its
adopted annual accounts. Having determined that these objectives were achieved, we agreed upon the
payment of the second purchase price by way of (a) assignment of an intercompany note receivable from
Detron to the sellers in the amount of approximately $0.2 million and (b) the payment in cash of
approximately $0.3 million. The payment in cash to Westminster was made in May 2003 in accordance with
the deed of the assignment agreement.

The acquisition has been recorded under the purchase method of accounting, and therefore Detron’s
results have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition. Goodwill
recognized in the acquisition amounted to $2.5 million. Other intangible assets acquired amounted to
$0.5 million. Other intangible assets, including backlog, customer relationships, and the Detron trade name,
are amortized over two to five years depending on the estimated remaining useful lives.

Goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite useful lives were evaluated at December 31, 2002 and 2003
for possible impairment under the provisions of SFAS No. 142. We concluded that no adjustment was
necessary at year-end and will continue to evaluate for possible impairment annually.

We recognized $0.6 million and $1.2 million, respectively, in amortization expense for the intangible
assets with definite useful lives from the date of acquisition through 2002 and for the year ended December 31,
2003. We expect amortization expense on the acquired intangible assets to be as follows (in thousands):

Amortization Expense

2004 . _ $320
2005 .. 240
2006 ... 240
2007 43

$843

At December 31, 2002 and 2003, goodwill and other intangibles consisted of the following:

2002 2003
GoodWill . $9,340  $11,115
Other intangibles:
BaCKIOg . .ottt e e $ 837 § 940
Customer relationships .........c.. i i i 889 998
Trade Names .. ..ottt 850 190
Accumulated amortization . ........... i i (643)  (1,285)
Other intangibles .......... ... ... $1933 § 843

The following unaudited pro forma financial information for the year ended December 31, 2002 assumes
the business combination of LCC Deployment Services was effected on January 1, 2002 (in thousands, except
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per share data). Detron operations were not material to our consolidated operating results for the period prior
to acquisition.

2002
REVENUES ... i e $ 68,146
Loss from operations before income taxes . ........... i (36,845)
Nt 1088 « oo e e e e (28,393)
Net loss per share:
BaSIC . e e $ (1.36)
Diluted . ... $ (1.36)

On August 4, 2003, through our wholly owned subsidiary LCC China Services, L.L.C., we closed an
investment in a newly created entity based in China, Beijing LCC Bright Oceans Communication Consulting
Co. Ltd. (“LCC/BOCO"). We contributed approximately $1.1 million for a 49.0% share of LCC/BOCO’s
registered capital. Bright Oceans Inter-Telecom Corporation, a Chinese publicly traded network management
and systems integrator (“BOCO”), contributed approximately $1.1 million to hold the remaining 51.0% of
LCC/BOCO’s registered capital. Our capital contribution was to be paid in three equal installments of
approximately $357,000 each and the first installment was made on the date of closing. The second installment
was made in October 2003. The third instaliment was made in January 2004. LCC/BOCO offers design,
deployment and maintenance services to wireless carriers in China. We account for our investment in LCC/
BOCO using the equity method of accounting. We recorded an equity loss of $0.1 million to reflect its
proportionate share of LCC/BOCO’s losses through December 31, 2003.

(12) Line of Credit

In 2003, Detron established a line of credit with NMB-Heller N.V. (“NMB”). The line of credit
provides that NMB will provide credit to Detron in the form of advance payments collateralized by Detron’s
outstanding receivables. The agreement provides for NMB to advance up to 75% of the receivable balance.
There is no maximum on the amount of receivables Detron can assign to NMB. Detron must repay the
advances from NMB within 90 days or upon customer payment whichever occurs first. Interest on the advance
payments will be calculated at a rate equal to NMB’s overdraft base rate plus 2% subject to a minimum of
5.75% per year. The agreement has an initial term of two years and can be extended. As of December 31, 2003
Detron had $1.8 million at an interest rate of 5.75% outstanding under the credit facility.
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(13) Income Taxes

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following:

2001 2002 2003
(In thousands)
Current:
Federal ... ... . e $10,647 $(8,885) § 633
Stateand local.......... ... i 1,241 (560) —
Foreign . .. ..o e (3,002) 590 (499)
8,886 (8,855) 134
Deferred:
Federal ... ... .. . 1,900 433 (1,441)
Stateand local. ... i i e 255 (29) (176)
Foreign . ... .o e — — —
2,155 404  (1,617)
Total . .. e $11,041  $(8,451) $(1,483)

The 2001, 2002, and 2003 income tax provision (benefit) related to operations do not include tax benefits
of $0.1 million, $25,000, and $0.1 million, respectively, related to exercising stock options which was recorded
directly to paid-in capital.

Income (loss) before income taxes includes the following components:

2001 2002 2003
. (In thousands)
DOmMESHC &« ottt e e $33,550 $(30,613) $(5,509)
FOTOIGI . . oo oo e e et e (5,537)  (6,508)  (2,497)
Total . .. $28,013  $(37,121) $(8,006)

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate and the effective income tax rate for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 follows:

000 202 2003
Statutory federal income tax rate .............c.0eiieiiinann.. 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Effect of:
State and local income taxes, net of federal tax benefit.......... 35 1.3 1.4
Foreign and tax credits............ ... oo iii i (6.3) (11.8) %94
Non deductible expenses and permanent items................. 0.5 (1.0) (2.2)
O her . e e 32 — 1.2
Valuation allowance of deferred tax assets..................... 35 _(0.7) (26.3)

Effective inCome tax rate . ... ittt i e 39.4% 22.8% 18.5%
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the net deferred tax assets
at December 31, 2002 and 2003 are presented below:

2002 2003
(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Non-cash compensation .............. ... 0t $ 1,340 $ 1,340
ACCTUEd EXPENSES . . .\ vttt e 4229 3,936
Foreign tax credit carry-forward......... ... .. ... i 3,049 3,049
Foreign net operating loss carry-forwards ............................ 2,305 3,932
Research tax credit carryover .. ...t 340 340
Alternative minimum tax credit . ... — 519
Net operating loss carry forward .......... ... oo, — 1,459
Other . 379 176
Total gross deferred tax assets ............ ... i, 11,642 14,751
Less valuation allowance . .......... ... i i (6,213)  (8,321)
Deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance .......................... 5,429 6,430
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment ............ . ... .. . (281) (585)
Deferred revenue . ... ... . (140) (147)
Other . o (572) (744)
Total gross deferred liabilities. ........... ... ... ... ............. (993)  (1,476)
Net deferred tax asSels .. ...ttt e $ 4436 $ 4,954

The components giving rise to the net deferred tax assets described above have been included in the
accompanying balance sheet as of December 31, 2002 and 2003 as follows (in thousands):

2002 2003
CUITENT ASSEE .« . o vttt e e et e e e e $3,932  $3,547
NONCUITENT ASSEt . ..ottt e e e e e e e 504 1,407

$4,436  $4,954

At December 31, 2003, we had foreign tax credits for U.S. tax purposes of $3.0 million, which expire
between 2003 and 2003, a research and development credit of $0.3 million and an alternative minimum tax
credit of $0.5 million. We had U.S. operating loss carry-forwards of $3.9 million, which expire in 2024. We
also had $13.1 million of foreign operating loss carry-forwards from operations, which expire between 2006
and 2009.

Foreign income tax expense is generated from business conducted in countries where we have subsidiaries
or have established branch offices or have performed significant services that constitute a “permanent
establishment™ for tax reporting purposes.

In determining the tax valuation allowance, management considers if it is likely that some portion of the
deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the
generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become
deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable
income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. A valuation allowance has been provided for
deferred tax assets which management does not believe are more likely than not to be realized, primarily
consisting of foreign net operating losses carried forward, foreign tax credits (before they expire) and non-cash
compensation expense that may not become deductible for tax purposes.
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(14) Health and Retirement Plans

We have a defined contribution profit sharing plan under Section 401 (k) of the Internal Revenue Code
that provides for voluntary employee contributions of 1.0% to 60.0% of compensation for substantially all
employees. We make a matching contribution of 50.0% of an employee’s contribution up to 6.0% of each
employee’s compensation. Company contributions and other expenses associated with the plan were approxi-
mately $0.7 million, $0.5 million, and $0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003,
respectively.

Our subsidiary, LCC UK Ltd., has a defined contribution pension plan under Chapter 1 Part XIV of the
Income and Corporation Taxes Act, 1988. The plan provides for voluntary employee contributions of 1.0% to
5.0% of an employee’s base salary. It is available to all full-time employees who have completed their three-
month probation period. We contribute 5.0% of an employee’s base salary and match the employee’s
contribution up to 5.0%. LCC UK Ltd., contributions and other expenses related to the plan were
approximately $0.2 million, $0.2 million, and $0.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and
2003, respectively.

LCC Italia has two statutory defined contribution pension plans and one voluntary plan for directors of
LCC Italia. The contributions are in accordance with the National Contract Agreement. LCC Italia
contributions and related expenses to the plans were approximately $0.4 million and $0.9 million for the years
ended December 31, 2002 and 2003.

We are self-insured for group health benefits and claims up to $0.1 million in stop loss coverage.

(15) Incentive Plans

At December 31, 2001, 2002, and 2003, we had two stock-based incentive plans, an employee stock
purchase plan and an employee stock option plan, which are described below. No compensation cost has been
recognized for our fixed stock option plans and employee stock purchase plan.

Pro forma information regarding net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share for stock options
under the fair value method of SFAS 123 is described in Note 2. The per share weighted-average fair value of
stock options granted during 2001, 2002 and 2003 was $7.93, $1.91, and $1.53 respectively, on the date of
grant using the Black Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

2001 2002 2003
Expected dividend yield ............................. 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate . . ... ...... ... ..., 5.0% 4.0% 3.25-4.05%
Expected life .......... .. o i 3-8 years  2-7 years 3-7 years
Volatility. . ..o 75-125%  55-115% 40-85%

We established our Employee Stock Purchase Plan in 1997, which authorizes the issuance of up to
860,000 shares of class A common stock pursuant to the plan. The Employee Stock Purchase Plan permits
eligible employees to elect to have a portion of their pay deducted by our company in order to purchase shares
of class A common stock. Rights to purchase shares are deemed granted to participating employees as of the
beginning of each applicable period, as specified by the Compensation and Stock Option Committee of our
board of directors. The purchase price for each share is not less than 85% of the fair market value of the share
of class A common stock on the first or last trading day of such period, whichever is lower. Under the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, we issued 102,530 shares in 2001, 34,565 shares in 2002, and 31,779 shares in
2003 to employees upon the exercise of options held by such employees. Compensation cost of approximately
$127,000, $11,000, and $15,000, respectively, would have been recognized under SFAS No. 123 for the fair
value of the employees’ purchase rights and is included in the pro forma net income (loss) calculation
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described in Note 2. Compensation cost was estimated using the Black Scholes model with the following
assumptions:

2001 2002 2003
Expected dividend yield ............. ... ... . oL 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate . . .................. T 2.0% 1.1% 0.95-1.00%
Expected life ........ ... ... ... .. . . . 1 month 1 month 1 month
Volatility ... 75-125%  55-115% 40-80%

The weighted average fair value of the purchase rights granted in 2001, 2002, and 2003 was $1.23, $0.32,
and $0.50, respectively.

In connection with our initial public offering, we established the 1996 Employee Stock Option Plan,
which currently authorizes the issuance of up to 8,825,000 shares of class A common stock pursuant to options
granted under the plan.

Also in connection with our initial public offering, we established the 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan
(“Directors Plan™). The Directors Plan currently authorizes the issuance of up to 250,000 shares of class A
common stock. The Directors Plan provides that directors are entitled to receive options to purchase shares of
class A common stock in an amount determined at the discretion of the board of directors. The Directors Plan
also provides for annual grants of options to purchase up to 250,000 shares of class B common stock to
directors who are eligible to hold such shares. However, pursuant to the terms of the Directors Plan, the final
annual grant of such options occurred in 2000. Options granted to directors eligible to hold class B common
stock expire no later than the fifth anniversary of the date of grant and options granted to directors who are not
eligible to hold class B common stock expire no later than the tenth anniversary of the date of grant. Our
directors are also entitled to receive option grants under the 1996 Employee Stock Option Plan in an amount
determined at the discretion of the board of directors.

On October 17, 2001, we offered to exchange all eligible outstanding options under the Amended and
Restated LCC International, Inc. 1996 Employee Stock Option Plan (the “1996 Plan™) for new options we
granted under the 1996 Plan on May 21, 2002. Eligible outstanding options were all options with an exercise
price of $10.50 or more that were held by an employee other than our Chief Executive Officer. We granted an
option to purchase one share of our class A common stock for every option to purchase two shares tendered
and accepted for exchange. The terms of the new options other than the exercise price are substantially the
same as the terms of the options tendered for exchange. Our offer to exchange expired on November 20, 2001
and eligible employees had tendered 1,460,250 options on that date. In exchange for the options tendered, we
granted 592,619 new options on May 21, 2002 with an exercise price of $2.96, which is equal to the closing
price of our class A common stock on the business day immediately preceding the date we granted the new
options.
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Changes in stock options outstanding were as follows:

2001 2002 2003
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Number of Average Number of Average Number of Average
Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price
(in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands)

Balance at beginning

ofyear .......... 4,461 $12.11 3,596 $9.83 4,376 $7.18
Granted ........... 2,182 11.05 2,097 3.14 1,269 2.56
Exercised .......... (83) 5.21 (22) 4.84 (155) 3.14
Cancelled.......... (2,964) 14.28 (1,295) 8.05 (1,069) 7.03
Balance at end of

year............. 3,596 9.83 4,376 7.18 4421 6.03

The following table summarizes information about options at December 31, 2003:
Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Avg. Weighted Avg. Weighted Avg.

Range of Number at Remaining Exercise Number at Exercise

Exercise Prices December 31, 2003 Contractual Life Price December 31, 2003 Price
(in thousands) (In years) (in thousands)

$ 1.67- 212 ....... 651 8.53 $ 2.07 160 $ 2.09
$220- 29 ....... 1,245 8.46 2.57 301 2.95
$ 3.05- 500 ....... 909 5.55 4.65 684 4.82
$509- 825....... 535 6.76 6.00 371 5.94
$10.69-1225 ....... 396 6.80 12.20 275 12.20
$12.38-1356....... 504 597 13.55 504 13.55
$16.00-20.13 ....... 181 4.42 16.56 179 16.56

4,421 7.07 6.03 2,474 8.03

(16) Lease Commitments

We lease office facilities and certain equipment, principally in the United States, under operating leases
expiring on various dates over the next twelve years. The lease agreements include renewal options and
provisions for rental escalations based on the Consumer Price Index and require us to pay for executory costs
such as taxes and insurance. The lease agreements also allow us to elect an early out provision by giving notice
and paying certain lease termination penalties.

Benefits associated with a rent abatement period and certain lease incentives for office facilities are
reflected ratably over the period of the lease. For leases that have been terminated, the applicable portion of
the benefit has been offset against the lease termination penalty.
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Future minimum rental payments and receivables under non-cancelable operating leases, excluding
executory costs, are as follows:
Rental Receivables
Rental Payable Under Subleases
(In thousands)

2004 ... I I $ 5,035 $ 263

2005 e 4,765 1,070
2006 .. 4,720 1,233
2007 . AP 2,763 722
2008 696 241
Thereafter.......... S 3,417 1,526

$21,396 $5,055

Rent expense under operating leases was approximately, $8.6 million, $4.1 million, and $2.2 million for
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002, and 2003, respectively.

(17) Commitments and Contingencies'

We are party to various legal proceedings and claims incidental to our business. Management does not
believe that these matters will have a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations or
financial condition.

(18) Income (Loss) Per Share

Income (loss) per share is presented on both a basic and diluted basis in accordance with the provisions
of FASB Statement No. 128, “Farnings per Share” (“SFAS No. 128”). Basic earnings per share excludes
dilution and is computed by dividing income available to common stockholders by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution
that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into
common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that shared in our earnings. The reconciliations of
the basic and diluted earnings per share computations for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003
are as follows: '

2001 - 2002 2003

Net Per Share Per Share Net Per Share
Income  Shares  Amount Net Loss Shares  Amount Loss Shares  Amount

(in thousands, except per share data)

Basic EPS . .
Net income (loss) available to common ) i

shareholders............... ... .. ... $16,972 20,571  $0.83  $(28,670) 20,902 $(1.37) $(6,523) 21,292  $(0.31)
Effect of Dilutive Securities

Stock option plans .................. 345 — —

Dilutive EPS
Net income (loss) available to common
shareholders and assumed conversions $16,972 20,916  $0.81 $(28,670) 20,902 $(1.37) $(6,523) 21,292 $(0.31)

Under SFAS No. 128, options that have an anti-dilutive effect or that reduce the loss per share should be
excluded from the computation of diluted earnings. As a result, options to purchase 3.8 million, 4.4 million
and 4.4 million shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding during the years ended December 31, 2001,
2002 and 2003, respectively, were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the
effect would have had an anti-dilutive effect.
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(19) Segment Reporting

SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information established
standards for reporting information about the operating segments in interim and annual financial reports issued
to stockholders. It also established standards for related disclosures about products and services and
geographic areas. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate
financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision-
making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance. Our chief operating decision-
making group is the Executive Committee, which comprises the Chief Executive Officer and our senior vice
presidents.

Our operating segments are defined geographically by region, the Americas region and the EMEA region.
Both regions provide design and deployment services, operations and maintenance services and technical
consulting services.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies. We evaluate performance based on stand alone operating segment profit or loss
from operations before income taxes not including nonrecurring gains and losses, and generally accounts for
intersegment sales and transfers as if the sales or transfers were to third parties at current market prices.
Interdivisional transactions are eliminated in consolidation. Revenues are attributed to geographic areas based
on the location of the assignment.

60




LCC INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Operating Segments:
(In thousands)

Americas EMEA Total
2001
Net revenue from external CUStOMErS . . ..ottt e e $101,780  $23,385  $125,165
Intersegment revenues ......... . e — — —
Total TevenUES . . ..ot e e $101,780  $23,385  $125,165
Depreciation and amortization . ...t 1,088 721 1,809
Interest INCOME . ..ottt e it e e e 194 124 318
Interest expense.............. S 12 — 12
Income (loss) before taxes ........ ... ..., 10,462 (6,974) 3,488
SegMENt ASSEIS. . . . oottt e e 29,612 15,069 44,681
Expenditures for property . ... e 767 1,212 1,979
2002
Net revenue from external CustomeErs . . .....ovvit v $ 29,706  $34,755 $ 64,461
Intersegment TEVENUES . . ...\ttt ittt — — —
TOtal TEVENMUES . v it ettt ittt e $ 29,706 $34,755 $ 64,461
Depreciation and amortization. ......... ... .. i i 717 1,372 2,089
Interest IMCOME .« .ottt i e e e e 62 41 103
Interest eXpense. . . ... oo uv it e e 15 — 15
Income (loss) before taxes ....... ... i (7,707)  (5,038)  (12,745)
S gMENt ASSEES. . o . vt et 8,010 37,942 45,952
Expenditures for property . ........ ..o i i 50 2,242 2,292
2003 ]
Net revenue from external Customers . ........oovvvieinineennnn ... $ 53,086 $53,296 $106,382
INtersegment TEVENUES ...« ovvtvir s et e r et e et — — —
Total TEVEMUES . ..ottt ettt e ettt $ 53,086 $53,296 $106,382
Depreciation and amortization................ .. ... . ..., 401 2,873 3,274
Interest inCOME . ... i i e e 23 143 166
INterEst EXPENSE . . .\ vttt et e 6 116 122
Income (loss) before taxes ........ ... . i (1,930) 573 (1,357)
SegmENt @SSEIS. .« .\ vttt e e 33,043 51,368 84,411
Expenditures for property . ... i 707 1,040 1,747
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A reconciliation of the totals reported for the operating segments to the applicable line items in the

consolidated financial statements is as follows (in thousands):

2001 2002 2003
Revenues
Revenues for reportable segments . .......... . i $125,165 - $64,461  $106,382
Revenues for non-reportable segments .......... ... . ... ... ... 5,444 2,608 2,057
Eliminations .. ... — — —
Total consolidated TevenuUes . ... err i $130,609 $67,069 $108,439
Assets
Total assets for reportable segments .. ............ ... ... ... $ 44,681 $45,095 § 84,411
Assets not attributable to reportable segments:
Cash and cash equivalents ............. e e 49,124 34,405 25,225
Short-term INVEStMENtS. .o\ vt vt ettt e e 484 514 520
Deferred and prepaid tax assets. ...t 7,394 12,720 5,616
Property and equipment ......... ... i i 2,988 1,612 1,048
Receivables . ... .. e 445 624 333
Prepaids ...... ... . i 684 1,480 550
Investments ... ... e 5,139 — 764
Related parties. ... 984 10 45
Other . e 308 263 79
Total consolidated assets .. ... covt ittt e e $112,231  $96,723  $118,591
2001 2002 2003
Income (loss) before income taxes for reportable segments .............. $ 3,488  $(12,745) -$(1,357)
Gain on sale of tower portfolio and administration, net ................ 2,998 2,000 —
Sale of investments and assets........ JR T 22,395 — —
Restructuring charge . ... ottt — (13,522) 2
Impairment of investments. . ........ .ot — (5,139) —
Bankruptcy I€CoVeries . .. ..ot 7,492 1,589 —
General COrporate EXPenSes . ..o vvvrertre et e (8,360) (9,304) (6,651}
Income (loss) from operations before income taxes..................... $28,013  $(37,121) $(8,006)
Segment Unallocated Consolidated
Other Significant Items Total Expenditures  Eliminations Total
2001
Depreciation and amortization .................. $1,809 $1,203 $ — $3,012
Interestincome. ..........co i, 318 1,581 — 1,899
Interest expense ........ v, 12 1 — 13
Expenditures for property ...................... 1,979 1,398 — 3,377
2002 '
Depreciation and amortization .................. $2,089 $ 795 $ — $2,884
Interestincome........... ... ... iiiin.. 103 737 — 840
Interest expense ..........ccoiiin i, 15 7 — 22
Expenditures for property ...................... 2,292 562 — 2,854
2003
Depreciation and amortization .................. $3,274 $ 586 $ — $3,860
Interestincome. ........ccoviriiin e 166 281 — 447
Interest expense ...........ooviniiniinaennn. 122 — — 122
Expenditures for property ................c..... 1,747 66 — 1,813
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Information concerning services revenue is as follows (in thousands):

2001 2002 2003
DESIgN . . .ot e e $ 60,865 $27,202 $ 32,584
Deployment . .. ... i e 62,345 36,493 64,212
Operations and Maintenance .............oueevriiirnnnneeeenennnns 2,056 1,089 3,135
Consulting ... o e 5,343 2,285 8,508
TOtaAl TEVEIMUES .+ o v ot vttt ettt et e e e e e e e $130,609 $67,069 $108,439

Information concerning principal geographic areas was as follows (in thousands):

2001 2002 2003
Net Net Net
Revenues  Property  Revenues  Property  Revenues  Property
Americas:
United States of America........... $100,168 $3,609 $28,812 $1,978 $ 53,137 $1,400
Other ..... ... ... ... ... ... 3,172 340 1,807 95 1,017 81
Total Americas ............... 103,340 3,949 30,619 2,073 54,154 1,481
Europe, Middle East and Africa:
United Kingdom .................. 7,477 1,473 14,864 1,430 14,594 909
Netherlands . ..................... 9,516 — 10,425 230 12,977 317
Ttaly . ... 937 103 5,686 1,215 12,484 1,023
Algeria ... — — 2,582 18 12,467 87
Other ......... .o, 5,631 205 1,474 — 822 —
Total Europe, Middle East and
Africa .................. ... 23,561 1,781 35,031 2,893 53,344 2,336
Asia-Pacific and other ............... 3,708 — 1,419 44 941 1
Total revenues ...................... $130,609 $5,730 $67,069 $5,010  $108,439 $3,818

(20) Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

2002

1st 2nd 3rd 4th
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

REVENUES . . ..o e e $17,398 $ 12,219  $17,425  $20,027
Operatingloss ................... B (6,963) (11,326) (8,501) (7,382)
Loss before income taxes ......... e (6,659) (16,319)  (8,116)  (6,027)
Nt 0SS . oo v ettt e (5,061) (11,244) (7,016)  (5,349)
Net loss per share:
Basic .. $ (0.24) $ (054) $ (0.34) $ (0.26)
Diluted. . ... e $ (024) $ (054) $ (034) $ (0.26)
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2003

Ist 2nd 3rd 4th
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

REVEIUES . . et $17,140 $18,187  $29,350  $43,762
Operating income (108s) ...t (4,797)  (3,695) (1,314) 257
Income (loss) before income taxes . .............. ..c..c.counn. (3,460)  (3,515) (1,451) 420
Netincome (108S) ... vir i i e (2,162)  (3,975)  (1,025) 639
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic ... e $ (0.10) $ (0.19) §$ (0.05) §$ 0.03
Diluted. ... . e $ (0.10) $ (0.19) $ (0.05) $ 0.03

During the second quarter of 2002, we took an impairment charge for $5.1 million for our investments in
Mobilocity and PDN (see note 9). We took a restructuring charge in the same quarter for $10.0 million
related to the low utilization of professional employees as well as for excess facility costs (see note 7). There
were gains of $2.0 million related to the sale of the tower business (see note 3) and the recovery of
$1.6 million related to the settlement of a claim (see note 8).

During the third quarter of 2002, we took a bad debt charge of $3.1 million related to two large contracts.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, we increased our restructuring charge by $3.5 million to provide for
additional excess facility costs (see note 7). We recorded a gain on disposal of the operations in Egypt of
$1.1 million (see note 9).

During the first quarter of 2003, we sold our interest in NextWave pre-petition interest for $1.0 million
(see note 10). We received a recovery of $0.6 million related to a customer in Algeria (see note 8).

During the second quarter of 2003, we received a recovery of $0.4 million related to a customer in Algeria
(see note 8).

During the third quarter of 2003, we wrote off the $0.5 million unamortized balance of the Smith Woolley
trade name that was acquired in the acquisition due to us ceasing to use the name (see note 11). We received
a recovery of $0.8 million related to a customer in Algeria (see note 8).

During the fourth quarter of 2003, we received a recovery $0.3 million related to a customer in Algeria
(see note 8).
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934) as of December 31, 2003. Based on that evaluation, these officers have concluded that
as of December 31, 2003, our disclosure controls and procedures were adequate and designed to ensure that
material information relating to us and our consolidated subsidiaries would be made known to them by others
within those entities.

(b) Changes in internal controls

There were no significant changes in our internal controls or other factors that could significantly affect
our disclosure controls and procedures subsequent to December 31, 2003.

PART I

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Reference is made to the information set forth under the caption “Election of Directors” appearing in the
Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year, which information is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Reference is made to the information set forth under the caption “Election of Directors — Executive
Compensation” appearing in the Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year,
which information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Reference is made to the information set forth under the caption “Beneficial Ownership of Common
Stock™ appearing in the Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year, which
information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Reference is made to the information set forth under the captions “Election of Directors — Compensa-
tion Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and “Election of Directors — Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions” appearing in the Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days after the end of our fiscal
year, which information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Reference is made to the information set forth under the caption “Principal Accountant Fees and
Services” appearing in the Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year, which
information is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART 1V

Item 15. Exhibirs, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) (1) The following consolidated financial statements of LCC International, Inc. and its subsidiaries

and report of independent auditors are included in Item 8 hereof.

Report of Independent Auditors.
Consolidated Statements of Operations — Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2002, and 2003.
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2002 and 2003.

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ EQuity — Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2002, and
2003.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2002, and 2003.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(a)(2) Except as provided below, all schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting

regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission either have been included in the
Consolidated Financial Statements of LCC International, Inc. or are not required under the
related instructions or are inapplicable, and therefore have been omitted.

Schedule IT — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(a) (3) The following exhibits are either provided with this Form 10-K or are incorporated herein by

Exhibit
No.

31

32

4.1

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

reference:

Description

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the LCC International, Inc. (the “Company”)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration
No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

Form of Class A and Class B Common Stock certificates (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

1996 Directors Stock Option Plan of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to
Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration

No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

Amendment to 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan of the Company, dated April 22, 1997
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on March 30, 1999).

Amendment to 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan of the Company, dated April 16, 1998

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on March 30, 1999).

Amendment to 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan of the Company, dated February 1, 2000
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed
with the SEC on April 24, 2000).

Amendment to 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan of the Company, dated January 30, 2001
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on April 2, 2001).
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10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

Description

Amended and Restated 1996 Employee Stock Option Plan of the Company, dated February 1,
2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the SEC on April 2, 2001).

1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of the Company, as amended May 25, 1999 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC
on April 2, 2001).

Form of the Company’s Directors Stock Option Plan stock option agreement for directors who
will receive Class A Common Stock other than Mark D. Ein (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.44 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

Form of the Company’s Directors Stock Option Plan stock option agreement for Mark D. Ein
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

Form of the Company’s Directors Stock Option Plan stock option agreement for directors who
receive Class B Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to Amendment
No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed
with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

Form of the Company’s 1996 Employee Stock Option Plan incentive stock option agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

Form of the Company’s 1996 Employee Stock Option Plan non-incentive stock option agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

Form of the Company’s 1996 Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended, non-incentive stock
option agreement for eligible persons who have executed grant letters on or after January 30,
2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K filed with the SEC on April 2, 2001).

Form of Stock Option Agreement between the Company and the Carlyle Option Designees
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

Letter Agreement dated February 22, 1999, between the Company and Terri Feely (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC
on April 2, 2001).

Letter Agreement dated May 26, 1999, between the Company and David Walker (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
SEC on April 2, 2001).

Letter Agreement dated February 14, 2000 between the Company and Michael McNelly
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on April 2, 2001).

Employee Agreement on Ideas, Inventions and Confidential Information between Michael S.
McNelly and the Company dated July 20, 1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to
Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
December 20, 2001).

Acknowledgement Letter dated October 6, 2003 between the Company and Michael S. McNelly
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18.1 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-108575, filed with the SEC on
November 5, 2003).
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Exhibit
No.

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

Description

Letter Agreement, dated December 12, 2002, between the Company and Graham Perkins
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on March 28, 2003).

Letter Agreement, dated February 13, 2002, between the Company and Vincent Gwiazdowski
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on March 28, 2003).

Employment Agreement, dated May 24, 1999, between the Company and C. Thomas Faulders,
III (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on May 27, 1999).

Loan Agreement between C. Thomas Faulders, 111, and the Company dated December 22, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on December 20, 2001).

Contract of Employment dated April 30, 2001 between LCC UK Ltd. and Carlo Baravalle
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on March 28, 2002).

Letter dated June 16, 2003, from the Company to Julie A. Dobson (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.24 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
Registration No. 333-108575, filed with the SEC on November 5, 2003).

Letter dated January 11, 2001, from the Company to Susan Mayer (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on April 2,
2001).

Letter dated June 19, 2001, from the Company to Susan Ness (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 28,
2002).

Form of Indemnity Agreement between the Company and the current and former officers and
directors of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to Amendment No. 2 to
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the
SEC on September 20, 1996).

Intercompany Agreement dated as of September 20, 1996 among Telcom Ventures, RF
Investors, L.L.C., LCC, L.L.C., the Company, Cherrywood Holdings, Inc., Rajendra Singh,
Neera Singh, certain trusts for the benefit of members of the Singh family, Carlyle-LCC
Investors I, L.P., Carlyle-LCC Investors 11, L.P., Carlyle-LCC Investors II1, L.P., Carlyle-
LCC IV (E), L.P.,, MDLCC, L.L.C. and TC Group, L.L.C. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.30 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

Registration Rights Agreement dated July 25, 1996 among the Company, RF Investors, L.L.C.
and MCI Telecommunications Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to
Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration

No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on August 16, 1996).

Overhead and Administrative Services Agreement dated August 27, 1996 between the Company
and Telcom Ventures, L.L.C. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to Amendment No. 2

to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the
SEC on September 20, 1996).

Agreement of Merger dated September 15, 1996 between LCC, L.L.C. and the Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).
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No.

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

21
23
31.1

31.2

32.1

322

Description

Form of Promissory Note by Telcom Ventures, L.L.C. to the Company (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.39 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

First Amendment to Promissory Note by Telcom Ventures, L.L.C. to the Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K, filed
with the SEC on March 28, 2002).

Agreement dated May 17, 1996, between LCC, L.L.C. and West*Park Associates Limited
Partnership for office space at 7925 Jones Branch Drive, McLean, Virginia, 22102 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on August 16, 1996).

Agreement dated May 17, 1996, between LCC, L.L.C. and West*Park Associates Limited
Partnership for office space at 7927 Jones Branch Drive, McLean, Virginia, 22102 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on August 16, 1996).

Ericsson Radio Systems AB Asset Purchase Agreement dated August 25, 1999 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
November &, 1999).

Letter, dated October 22, 1999, among the Company, LCC Europe AS and Ericsson Radio
Systems AB (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 8, 1999).

Master Antenna Site Lease between Pinnacle Towers Inc. and Microcell Management, Inc.,
dated February 24, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 20, 2000).

Settlement and Repurchase Agreement between the Company and minority shareholders of
Microcell Management, Inc., dated February 15, 2000 (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.40 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with
the SEC on December 20, 2001).

List of Subsidiaries.

Consent of KPMG LLP.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a)/ 15d 14(a), as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

{b) Reports on Form 8§-K.

On October 24, 2003, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K, which reported that on October 23, 2003,
we issued a press release announcing our financial results for the third quarter of 2003.

(¢) Exhibits to this Form 10-K are attached or incorporated by reference as stated above.
(d) None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

LCC INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By: /s/ C. THoMAs FAULDERS, III

C. Thomas Faulders, 111
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 26, 2004

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 26, 2004.

Signatures Title
/s/ C. THoMAS FAULDERS, III Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive
C. Thomas Faulders, 111 Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
/s!/ GRAHAM B. PERKINS Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Graham B. Perkins (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)

/s/ JULIE A. DOBSON Director
Julie A. Dobson

/s/ MARk D. EIN Director
Mark D. Ein
/s/  STEVEN GILBERT Director

Steven Gilbert

/s/ SusaN NESsS Director
Susan Ness
/s/ NEERA SINGH Director

Neera Singh

/s/  RAJENDRA SINGH Director
Rajendra Singh
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VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(In thousands)

SCHEDULE NI

Column
Column A B Column C Column D Column E
' . Balance Additions
at Charged to Charges to Balance at
) Beginning costs and other end of
Description of period expenses accounts Deductions(1) period
Year ended December 31, 2001
Allowance for doubtful accounts........ R 1,829 2,123 316 2,220 2,048
Year ended December 31, 2002 o '
Allowance for doubtful accounts......... 2,048 4,317 724 3,967 3,122
Year ended December 31, 2003
Allowance for doubtful accounts......... 3,122 (2,419) 253 466

(1) Deduction for write-off of receivables to allowance account.
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Exhibit
No.

3.1

3.2

4.1

10.1

10.2

10.3

104

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration
No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration
No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

Form of Class A and Class B Common Stock certificates (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

1996 Directors Stock Option Plan of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13
to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration
No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

Amendment to 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan of the Company, dated April 22, 1997
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on March 30, 1999).

Amendment to 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan of the Company, dated April 16, 1998
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on March 30, 1999).

Amendment to 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan of the Company, dated February 1, 2000
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed
with the SEC on April 24, 2000).

Amendment to 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan of the Company, dated January 30, 2001
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on April 2, 2001).

Amended and Restated 1996 Employee Stock Option Plan of the Company, dated February 1,
2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the SEC on April 2, 2001).

1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of the Company, as amended May 25, 1999 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC
on April 2, 2001).

Form of the Company’s Directors Stock Option Plan stock option agreement for directors who
will receive Class A Common Stock other than Mark D. Ein (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.44 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

Form of the Company’s Directors Stock Option Plan stock option agreement for Mark D. Ein
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on
September 20, 1996).

Form of the Company’s Directors Stock Option Plan stock option agreement for directors who
receive Class B Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to Amendment
No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed
with the SEC on September 20, 1996).




Exhibit
No.

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

Description

Form of the Company’s 1996 Employee Stock Option Plan incentive stock option agreement

" (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s

Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on
September 20, 1996).

Form of the Company’s 1996 Employee Stock Option Plan non-incentive stock option
agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on
September 20, 1996).

Form of the Company’s 1996 Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended, non-incentive stock
option agreement for eligible persons who have executed grant letters on or after January 30,
2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K filed with the SEC on April 2, 2001).

Form of Stock Option Agreement between the Company and the Carlyle Option Designees
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on
September 20, 1996).

Letter Agreement dated February 22, 1999, between the Company and Terri Feely
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on April 2, 2001).

Letter Agreement dated May 26, 1999, between the Company and David Walker (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
SEC on April 2, 2001).

Letter Agreement dated February 14, 2000 between the Company and Michael McNelly
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the SEC on April 2, 2001).

Employee Agreement on Ideas, Inventions and Confidential Information between Michael S.
McNelly and the Company dated July 20, 1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to
Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
December 20, 2001).

Acknowledgement Letter dated October 6, 2003 between the Company and Michael S.
McNelly (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18.1 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-108573, filed with the SEC on
November 5, 2003).

Letter Agreement, dated December 12, 2002, between the Company and Graham Perkins
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the SEC on March 28, 2003).

Letter Agreement, dated February 13, 2002, between the Company and Vincent Gwiazdowski
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the SEC on March 28, 2003).

Employment Agreement, dated May 24, 1999, between the Company and C. Thomas Faulders,
IIT (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on May 27, 1999).

Loan Agreement between C. Thomas Faulders, I11, and the Company dated December 22,
1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on December 20, 2001).




Exhibit
No.

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

Description

Contract of Employment dated April 30, 2001 between LCC UK Ltd. and Carlo Baravalle
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the SEC on March 28, 2002).

Letter dated June 16, 2003, from the Company to Julie A. Dobson ‘(incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.24 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,"
Registration No. 333-108573, filed with the SEC on November 5, 2003). ‘

Letter dated January 11, 2001, from the Company to Susan Mayer (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
April 2, 2001).

Letter dated June 19, 2001, from the Company to Susan Ness (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.24 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10 K filed with the SEC on

March 28, 2002).

Form of Indemnity Agreement between the Company and the current and former officers and

directors of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to Amendment No. 2 to
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067,.filed with the

 SEC on September 20, 1996). -

Intercompany Agreement dated as of September 20, 1996 among Telcom Ventures, RF
Investors, L.L.C., LCC, L.L.C., the Company, Cherrywood Holdings, Inc., Rajendra Singh,
Neera Singh, certain trusts for the benefit of members of the Singh family, Carlyle-LCC
Investors 1, L.P., Carlyle-LCC Investors II, L.P., Carlyle-LCC Investors III, L.P., Carlyle-LCC
IV (E), LP.,, MDLCC, L.L.C. and TC Group, L.L.C. (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.30 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

Registration Rights Agreement dated July 25, 1996 among the Company, RF Investors, L.L.C.
and MCI Telecommunications Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to
Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No.

- 333-6067, filed with the SEC on August 16, 1996).

Overhead and Administrative Services Agreement dated August 27, 1996 between the Company
and Telcom Ventures, L.L.C. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to Amendment No. 2
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with
the SEC on September 20, 1996).

Agreement of Merger dated September 15, 1996 between LCC, L.L.C. and the Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on
September 20, 1996).

Form of Promissory Note by Telcom Ventures, L.L.C. to the Company (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.39 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on September 20, 1996).

First Amendment to Promissory Note by Telcom Ventures, L.L.C. to the Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K,
filed with the SEC on March 28, 2002).

Agreement dated May 17, 1996, between LCC, L.L.C. and West*Park Associates Limited
Partnership for office space at 7925 Jones Branch Drive, McLean, Virginia, 22102 (incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on August 16, 1996).




Exhibit

10.36
10.37
10.38

10.39

10.40

21
23
31.1

3t.2
32.1

322

Description

Agreement dated May 17, 1996, between LCC, L.L.C. and West*Park Associates Limited
Partnership for office space at 7927 Jones Branch Drive, McLean, Virginia, 22102 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-6067, filed with the SEC on August 16, 1996).

Ericsson Radio Systems AB Asset Purchase Agreement dated August 25, 1999 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on November 8, 1999).

Letter, dated October 22, 1999, among the Company, LCC Europe AS and Ericsson Radio
Systems AB (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 8, 1999).

Master Antenna Site Lease between Pinnacle Towers Inc. and Microcell Management, Inc.,
dated February 24, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 20, 2000).

Settlement and Repurchase Agreement between the Company and minority shareholders of
Microcell Management, Inc., dated February 15, 2000 (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.40 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with
the SEC on December 20, 2001).

List of Subsidiaries.

Consent of KPMG LLP.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a),
as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a),
as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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Shareholder Information

Corporate Headquarters:
LCC international, inc.

7925 Jones Branch Drive
MclLean, VA 22102
+1.703.873.2300

Investor Materials:

Investor information including additional
annual reports, 10-Ks, 10-Qs or any other
financial literature is available without
charge. Please contact our Investor Relations
Department located at the Company's
corporate headquarters.

Annual Meeting:

Shareholders as of March 31, 2004 are
eligible to participate in LCC's annual meet-
ing of shareholders. The meeting will be
held on Wednesday, May 26, 2004, at the
Company's Headquarters located at 7925
Jones Branch Drive, MclLean, Virginia. The

meeting will begin at 10:00 a.m. (local time).

Stock Exchange Listing:

The common shares of the LCC
International, Inc. trade on The Nasdaqg
Stock Market under the symbol LCCI.

LCC on the Internet:

LCC's home page on the World Wide Web
contains background on the Company
and its services, company news, financial
information and job listings as well as
other useful information. Our web page
is located at www.lcc.com.

Transfer Agent and Registrar:
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company,
59 Maiden Lane, New York, NY 10038.
Stockholders may call +1.800.937.54483
with any questions regarding transfer

of ownership of LCC stock.

Independent Auditors:
KPMG Peat Marwick LLP, Washington, D.C.

Corporate Counsel:
Hogan & Hartson, LLP, Washington, D.C.

Caution Concerning
Forward-Looking Statements:
Statements included in these documents
contained herein which are not historical

in nature are forward-looking statements
made pursuant to the safe harbor provi-
sions of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 including, without
limitation, statements regarding increased
demand for the Company's services,

the Company's ability to secure new
business, and those factors highlighted

in LCC International, Inc.’s Annual Reports
on Form 10-K and Quarterly Reports

on Form 10-Q, which could cause the
Company’s actual results to differ materially
from forward-looking statements made
by the Company.
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LCC

the knowledge that powers the network™

Corporate Headquarters
LCC international, Inc.
7925 Jones Branch Drive
MclLean, Virginia 22102
United States
+1.703.873.2000

Americas Headquarters

LCC International Inc—West
27401 Los Altos, Suite 220
Mission Viejo, California 92691
United States
+1.949.367.7877

Asia Pacific Headquarters

LCC Asia Pacific Pte Ltd.

Level 20, Tower 2 Darling Park
201 Sussex Street

Sydney 2000, Australia
+61.(0).29006.1622

Caribbean & Latin America Headquarters
LCC do Brasil

Al. Ministro Rocha Azevedo 346-30.A
01410-000

Sao Paulo SP, Brasil

+55,11.3088.151

Europe, Middle East, Africa Headquarters
LCC EMEA, Ltd.

91-93 Baker Street

London W1U 6QQ

United Kingdom

+44.(0).207.009.0600

www.lcc.com




